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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH
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No. 33, Guanyun East Road
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MAJOR HONORS AND AWARDS
FERBEERIR

ENTERPRISE BRAND i F)

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

FEXGEEZRFRLE
Number Honors and awards Awarding body
FF &R ¥ERERN ERER
1 2022 China Property Award of Supreme Excellence Organising Committee of China Property Award of

Supreme Excellence and China Property Management
Award of Supreme Excellence

2022BEHEIEEDE KK BEFEEHERRREEYXEBEAREZS
2 Best Infrastructure and Public Utilities Company Zhitongcaijing, RoyalFlush Caijing
BEEERAOHSZELT BB BT E B R

Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.

XEEHMELEERRELTF
Number Honors and awards Awarding body
;3 FERRHE EREE
1 Tianbao Lingyun City Residential District China Real Estate Association
won the 10th (2021-2022) Guangsha Award
AREEHREENEBEBEKE TEEMEXHS
%1+ E(2021-2022F E)EE %
2 Tianbao Green City Residential District won China Real Estate Association
the 10th (2021-2022) Guangsha Award
AREHEIE N EBBEEEE TEEMEXHS
%+ & (2021-2022 F ) B & #
3 2022 Recommended Brands for Real Estate Industry Housing and Real Estate Industry Association of Hebei
in Hebei Province Province
2022FE AL EEHETEEER R MEEAZTEEHEERS
4 Tianbao Green City Residential District won Hebei Engineering Survey and Design Consulting
the third-class achievement of Engineering Survey Association
and Design Projects of Hebei Province
AREHEEDNBEE MEETRERGFZABS
AR TIRMRRXFTEEZSERR
) The Landscape Project of Tianbao Green City Hebei Engineering Survey and Design Consulting
Residential District won the third-class achievement of Association

Engineering Survey and Design Projects of

Hebei Province

AREHEENBRBREERE MEETRERGTZABS
AR TIRMRRXFTEEZSERR
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MAJOR HONORS AND AWARDS
FERBEEIR

Tianbao Construction Group Company Limited
XREFKEARLT

Honors and awards
RERRIA

Awarding body
fE MR

2021 Typical Enterprise of Engineering and
Construction Integrity

221 FETITRERAGABLE

AAA grade integrity enterprise of Hebei Municipal
Industry Association

A ETRTERSAARBGE B

2021 Advanced Unit of Emergency Management
and Safety Production

21 FERESERER2EEREEN

6#, 7# and 8# residential buildings of

Tianbao Edelweiss City (Phase Il) Project won

the Hebei Province Structural Quality Project

AR e EHEH(ZH) T26# 74 BHEEBEE
At EEBEETR

A12, A22, mall (Zhongdu Ginza) Project of

Tianbao New City Residential District (Phase Ill) won
2021 Anji Cup Award (Provincial Quality Project) for
Construction Projects of Hebei Province
XRFPEEZEPB(ZH)A12 - A22 -

A5 (PR ) TR E

221 FENLEERIBRENAR(BEELR)
A12, A22, Shopping mall (Zhongdu Ginza) Project of
Tianbao New City Residential District (Phase Ill) won
2022 Decoration Award for Construction Projects of
Hebei Province

ARFBPEZEDPEB(ZH)A12 - A22 -

% (R AR ) TR R

2022F AL BRI REKME

Tianbao Edelweiss City (Phase Il) Project and
Tianyiyuan Phase | Project won 2022 Hebei Province
Customer Satisfaction Construction Project
AREATEH(CH IR RFE-—HPIREE
2022F Ik BERAFMERETR

The Agricultural Product Processing Park Project of
Yu County won 2022 “Shancheng Cup” Award of
Zhangjiakou City (Municipal Quality Project)
HBREEMMIERIESRE

2022F ERFROMMILEMAIR(HTEETE)

China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management

TERICEEEHS

Hebei Municipal Industry Association
MEETRTEGS

Emergency Management and Work Safety Association of
Hebei Province

Mt EESERRREEERS

Hebei Department of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development

W EEEMBMERE

Hebei Construction Industry Association

ML EEREXEHS

Hebei Building Decoration Industry Association

ML EEREEHEGS

Hebei Association for Quality

ML EEEHS

Zhangjiakou Construction Industry Association

REAMEBETEWS

2022558  HERXREEBRERAHE



MAJOR HONORS AND AWARDS
FERBEERIR

Tianbao Construction Group Company Limited

XAEBREERRLA
Number Honors and awards Awarding body
FF &R SERENR AR MR
9 5# and 7# residential buildings of Yu County Tianyiyuan Zhangjiakou Construction Industry Association

Phase | Project won 2022 “Shancheng Cup”Award of
Zhangjiakou City (Municipal Quality Project)

BEXSH— IR T#HEITRBIRLE RROMEETEGS
2022F ERFRAMILEAIR(TEEIR)
10 “Three-star enterprise” in construction industry Baoding Municipal Commission of Housing and
in 2022 Urban-Rural Development
022FEREEIZERDE] RETEEMHABERER
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY LtELERE
Number Honors and awards Awarding body
FF5R ¥ERRHE FEREE
1 Yuxian Tianbao Property Development Co., Ltd. General Office of Hebei Provincial People’s Government

won the title of Advanced Unit in Support of

the Construction of the Revolutionary Old Area

HRAREHLEMBEERLOBDRE TEEARBAHOE
TEEWEBRRLEEN
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited, |
hereby present to the shareholders the audited 2022 annual results
and business review for the year ended December 31, 2022 (the
“Year”) and future outlook of the Company and its subsidiaries.

MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2022, the property market in the PRC continued to be weakened,
with a relatively large decline in both the demand side and the
development side. According to data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, in 2022, the investments in property
development in the PRC reached RMB13,289.5 billion (RMB, the
same below), representing a decrease of 10.0% as compared with
the previous year; the floor space under construction of property
development enterprises was 9,049.99 million sq.m., representing a
decrease of 7.2% as compared with the previous year; the sales area
of commercial housing was 1,358.37 million sqg.m., representing a
decrease of 24.3% as compared with the previous year; and the sales
amount of commercial housing was RMB13,330.8 billion, representing
a decrease of 26.7%.

Facing the downturn of the property market and the lack of
confidence of home buyers, the central government reiterated that
“property is a pillar industry of the national economy”, and introduced
a series of policies and tools to expand domestic demand and
stabilize property to support the stable operation of the property
market. In December 2022, the Work Conference of Central Economic
Conference put the support for housing improvement as the top
priority in expanding domestic demand when deploying the economic
work for 2023, and explicitly supported the reasonable financing
needs of the industry. While providing financial assistance to rescue
enterprises, the space for housing loan interest rate gradually opened
up and the “One City, One Policy” continued to take effect, and the
stabilization efforts of the demand side continued to be strengthened.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

EHMNEMLRER:

FAERRPEARREBZRARAABMEMLRRE
REAQNAREMBARBE2022F 12831 H L F
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

In 2022, the PRC government required to carry out infrastructure
investment moderately ahead of schedule, and pointed out that the
government funds shall be used well to promote and expand effective
investment. The policy environment for infrastructure investment
continued to improve, the capital side and the project side were
improved significantly, the production and operation scale of Chinese
construction enterprises continued to expand, and the gross product
of the construction industry continued to grow. According to the
data released by the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, the
gross product of the construction industry in the PRC amounted to
RMB31,198.0 billion in 2022, representing a year-on-year increase of
6.5%.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, under the complex and severe situation at home and abroad,
Tianbao Group continued to optimise the management structure,
upgrade the management system, improve the management
efficiency, and promote the steady development of the two major
segments of property development and construction.

Property Business
1. Ensure delivery and promote construction

Tianbao Real Estate Group continued to deploy in areas such
as Huailai, Yu County, Zhangbei, Zhuozhou and Chengdu.
Tianbao Jingxifu completed planning approval and commenced
construction at an appropriate time; Tianbao Xinyue Bay Phase
Il Project successfully commenced construction after obtaining
various approvals; Phase | and Phase Ill of Tianbao Edelweiss
City Project and Phase | of Boyue Bay Project successfully
delivered more than 1,200 sets of commercial housing; the
apartments of Tianbao Jingbei Health City have met the
delivery conditions. Tianbao Smart City actively responded to
the prevention and control policies and overcame difficulties
to catch up with the construction period. Tianbao Real Estate
Group actively reserved high-quality land resources for the
Group’s development to maintain stable and sustainable
development of the enterprise.

1 O China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2022
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Industrial revitalization and strong alliance

Tianbao Real Estate Group and Yanda Group reached a
strategic cooperation to promote in-depth exchanges in
the medical and healthcare and elderly care industries; the
Group entered into strategic cooperation with the People’s
Government of Zhuozhou City on the operation of ancient
cities and deeply participated in urban construction; the
Group entered into strategic cooperation with the People’s
Government of Zhuozhou City on the tea tourism and ancient
town project to promote the development of the cultural
tourism industry in Zhuozhou City.

Construction Business

1.

Creating a New Landscape in Market Exploitation

Tianbao Construction Group started from optimising the
national regional layout, integrating internal talent resources,
and successively established Hebei Region and Southwest
Region. In order to implement the localised management of the
market, the Group established 9 new branches throughout the
year. The Group currently covers 26 provinces, municipalities
and autonomous regions in China.

More powerful project construction

Tianbao Construction Group emphasises on improving the
project management model and winning market and consumer
confidence with high-quality projects. The Group strictly
controls the quality of construction, reduces general quality
problems, strengthens the normalisation of project inspection,
and effectively control the quality of projects; through the
safety management of “Planning, Execution, Inspection
and Improvement”, there were no major safety accidents or
occupational diseases throughout the year; at the same time,
the Group emphasises the use of an efficient interpolation
system to reduce the disordered deployment of labour in some
processes, so as to shorten the construction period through
standardised management, thereby reducing costs and
expenses.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

3. Creating a New Landscape in Qualification Management 3. EHEETERFE

Tianbao Construction Group, based on brand creation, focuses AREZEEUREAZARE BEEHEE
on optimising and upgrading the qualification composition, and BRETELAR THEZSEBEEIB -
continuously improves various professional subcontracting. FEIEWEERB R WMEBEERE =
The Group adds qualifications such as “Second-Class B BHEIEBIESEE E—SPREEEEE
Professional Contractor for Fire Protection”, “Second-Class iR e P UMEBEERE — K KL K
Professional Contractor for Steel Structure” and “Labour SERTIERERLAFA - BUHNRMEBEL
Subcontracting” to further improve the Group’s qualification EEHFNEERRS-

chain. The Company divides the first-level professional
contracting of steel structure and establishes Hebei Baoxin
Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. to independently carry out
steel structure business and cultivate new economic growth
points.

FUTURE OUTLOOK kRRE

In 2023, Tianbao Group will take “stability” as the general tone, 2023 RIGEBEKUIBIABER E—Sgm
further enhance confidence, improve internal strength, find the right B BERAY REZBIHIH HRBSBR -
point, and seek steady development.

The Group firmly focuses on risk solution. The Group pays close BEFABNFRABLLE BB IBRREARNTD
attention to the latest developments and policies at the national RRAREX RNRAZRRRANEBE  MBEZRBENTR
level, and adjusts decision-making and thinking in a timely manner; HEEEMEBEBRHE BARERKICHEERNER -
strengthens communication with governments at all levels and related

property developers to minimise or resolve current risks.

The Group strives to stabilise market development. The Group EHAUBBETSHA - HEENREEEETEFNR
will continue to strengthen in-depth cooperation with high-quality EEE E—FTNMREEFE ERHTNEREEE -
customers, further accelerate transformation and adjustment, and

gather new development momentum.

1 2 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2022



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

The Group keeps pace with the times and promote innovation and HEFEERDAFTRNE - RE2BEEE BEEEER

reform. From the perspective of the whole situation, the Group will EPERKEE0 cEBHRETFE BEERE -EZIR
integrate its resources, grasp the time window, rationally deploy A FER FERSEBKESNERERFH L
the platform, and stabilise the base. The Group will accelerate the ERZFYAUEREE-

transformation and upgrading in the business areas such as general
contracting, new infrastructure and new energy, and realise the
parallel development of multiple platforms.

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited FEXREEZTRERLA

Li Baotian ZFFH

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer EERFEE - BITEFFTHAEH
Hong Kong 5B

March 23, 2023 202343 823 H

2022EEH THAREERREEAT 13



BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES

L E Lk

BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES AS OF DECEMBER

BE2022F12A3TEHMEHEMRAE

31, 2022
Held for
future
Gompleted Under development development
i
B#I 3 ] FERE
Completion
Rentable time/
GFA held Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA investment development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
T4e/ FHE  HEUR B H BIRN/
B4I TH# THE REVHE 3 ] BEH bEH il fEH#I figd
fRER  REER  REEW  REEE  REEE  MEEE  RRER  RRER RERR BAER AR KR fid
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
RE4RRLE (F5%)  (F5%) (F5K) (KK (FRK) (BRR) (FRR) (FRR) (Fh%)
.~ Residential and commercial properties
- EERARYR
Zhuozhou
&N
1. Tianmadingyuen 5968 204034 196761 209 - - - - - - Residentil  July 2015 100%
No.5-1 Huayangzhong Road k% 155TR
ER0AsE
2. Tianhe Penghua 36,901 71,8637 6,861.2 39410 = 5 5 5 o - Residential ~ November 100%
No. 128 Huayang Road fiz 017
i WTENA
ERR18E
3. Tianbao Green Ciy Bedt 1051783 783200 95406 = S S 5 © - Residential ~ November 100%
The northern side of Guanyun Road and the fiz 2019
Westem side of Xuyi Vilage 19%118
RREH
RERLARA-HEH
4, Tianbao Lingyun Chy 266067 891208 603026 73548 - - - - - - Residentil  Aprl 2019 100%
The northern side of Songgao Road, frz 219548
Songlindian Town
RREES
RREERRALY
5. Tianbao Xinyue Bay 175933 486655 461474 5,166.0 - 730 - - Main structure - Residential ~ March 2024 100%
(elso known as Project MingYang Phass |) Under frz AUE3R
Xiquo Village, Matou Town construction
RRERENEHE-8) TRER
ERERIN ERd
6. Tianbao Smart Bulding Technology Park Project 586109 = = = - 134682 1004178 280461 Manstucte 1794345 Commercial  September 100%
North fo YongjiEast Road and east to Pengcheng under [EH 203
Stregt inthe High-Tech Development Zone construction 2A23£94
FRESEFNARLA TBER
BHEABRALHRERAHRA Edn

1 4 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2022



BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES

¥135EA

Held for
future
Completed Under development development
i
B4I 3 ] FERE
Completion
Rentable time/
GFA held Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA  investment  development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
The/ FHE  HEUR B H BIRN/
B4I TH# THE HRETHE 3] bEH bEH i fiH#I figd
fRER  REER  REEW  REEW 0 REEE  MBEE  HRER  BRER RERR BEER RE KR &
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
REARRLE (F5%)  (F5%) (F5%) (FRK (FRK) (BRR) (FRR) (FRR) (Fr%)
Thangjiakou
]
1. Tianbao New Ciy Phase 86,3518 1327780 1210800 71465 - - - - - - Commercial,  December 100%
The eastern side of Zhongdu Street and the Residential 2014
southern side of Xinghe Road, Zhangbei County B2 iz NUENRR
KR4
BHERSGRARARYEY
8. Tianbao New City Phase Il 663400 132037 1183682 50024 - - - - - - Commercia, January 2018 100%
The easter side of Zhongdu Street and the Residential ~ 2018%17
southern side of Xinghe Road, Zhangbei County B% £
RRiA-E
EREAERGRUR AR B
9. Tienbao New Gty Phese Il 01895 241358 21027 162635 - - - - - - Commerciel,  Decemoer 100%
The eastem side of Zhongdu Street and the Residential 2019
souther sids of Xinghe Road, Znangbei County BE iz N0ENA
RRiAZE
RHERERGRUR AR B
10. Zhangbe Zhongdu Ginza 81067 52362 437 306388 - - - - - - Commercel—June 2021 100%
(high-rse apartments and office buidings) LES 221£68
The eastern side of Znongdu Street and the
southern side of Xinghe Road, Zhangbei County
RYPARE(EEARRELR)
REABRERURAAARN
1. Zhangbei Fuxinyuan Shanty-town Improvement Mer0  WigT2 187,015 19,2968 - - - - - - Commercial, June 2020 100%
Project Residential ~ 2020%67
The eastem side of Jingdu Road, Zhangbei County B% (2
RIHRRARFEAERR
RERERRN
12. Tianbao Edelweiss Cty (Residental) 1001920 1908872 1285067 426830 - B84 74912 157709 Mainstucture - Residentil  Dcemper 100%
The eastern side of Qe Village, Yu County Under £z 2023
RREGRH(fER) construction ABE12A
HELETHERN IREE
B

2022 FFF IR
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BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES
L E Lk

Held for
future
Completed Under development development
fif
B4I &R E3q 1]
Completion
Rentable time/
GFA held Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA  investment  development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
T8e/ FHE  HEUR G H BIRN/
E#I T THE RETHE i3 DL DL b | fiitiI CLE
E¥ER REER  BEEN  REER  REER  HREE  REER  REER RERR REEH AR KR &
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
RE&RRGE (%) (5% (FEK) (F%K) (F5R) (FK) (F5R) (PR (Fr%)
13, Tienbao Edshveiss City Commercia) 54,7000 - - - - 104 10155 10070 Mainstuctre ~ 155,8647  Commercial  December 100%
The eastern side of Qiihe Village, Yu County under L 2025
RREGEH(ER) construction ABENRA
FELEANRN TRER
Bin
14, Tanto Bojus Bay B0 W40 838 21607 - 1081 A8 6339 Manshclue - Residentil  May 2024 100%
Lipuzi Vilage, Yuzhou Town, Yu County Under & 458
RRuKA construction
RERNE2ETH 1R
B
15 Tienbao Hushan Yard 145,3695 - - - - N0 1723898 50865  Manstuctwe 1673884 Resdentil  Deoember 100%
Tumu Vilage, Tumu Town, Huailai County under fiz o0
RRAWRR conshucton MMUERR
BRELAELAH TBER
Edn
16, Tianbao Jingbei Health City (Commercial Section) 54,1689 = = = - 1408687 59,758.7 6,667.2  Main structure - Commercal —July 2023 100%
Tumu Village, Tumu Town, Huailai County under fiz NBET A
RRRIEEA(HERD) constricton
BRELAELARH TREE
B
17, Thangbel Zhongdlu Garden 995130 - - - - - - - - 1194156 Commercel  December 100%
The wester side of Zhanghua Highway and the LES 2025
northen side of Zhangshang Higfway, Zhangbel 2005%12R
County
RihELE
REERLRRRMRRHEELY
18, Zhangbei Haiziwa Land Lot 48,7420 = = = = = = = = 48,7420 Other December 100%
The western side of Haiziwa Scenic Area, commercial 2025
Thanghei County senices 2055128
FlETEuE U
ELEETEEREN itk
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BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES

¥135EA

Held for
future
Completed Under development development
i
B4I &R E3q 1]
Completion
Rentable time/
GFA held Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA  investment  development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
T8e/ FHE  HEUR B H BIRN/
E#I T THE RETHE i3 DL DL b | fiitiI CLE
E¥ER REER  BEEN  REER  REER  HREE  REER  REER RERR REEH AR KR &
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
REARRLE (F5%)  (F5%) (F5%) (FRK (FRK) (BRR) (FRR) (FRR) (Fr%)
19, Tianbao Jingxifu 432420 S S S S e e = 86,4840  Commercial,  December 100%
Nanfanzhuang Village, Yuzhou Town, Yu Gounty Residential 2024
RRRER BE iz AUENA
HERNERRER
Il Investment properties
o REnk
Zhuozhou
N
2. Baoxin Intemational Bulding (Note 1) 7794 500007 443%1 - 3 - - - - - Commercial  May 2016 100%
No. 33 Guanyun East Road LES 2016%54
REARAEMEY
RERBNE
Ihangjiahou
1
21, Zhangbel Zhongdlu Ginza-Tianbao Plaza (Note 2) 81067 343 33 - %643 - - - - - Commercial Jung 2021 100%
The easter side of Zhongdu Street and the G 21£68
southern side of Xinghe Road, Znangbei County
EXDBRE-RRES (KD
ERERERGRUR AR B
Il Other property
S RNE
Thangjiakou
1
2. NesutuHotel (formerly known as Haiziwa Hote) 522870 344894 - - - - - - - Other December 100%
The southe side of Haiziwa County, commercial 2022
Zhangbei County Services A0E12R
PEETERE: B72ER) 4]}
RYABTEREY B
Notes: 1 The land use rights of Baoxin International Building have been M 5 - REBBRAEER T HERENDERR
granted for a term expiring on December 2, 2053. 2053 12 A2 A @A °
2. The land use rights of Zhangbei Zhongdu Ginza-Tianbao Plaza 2. RLAHRE-RAREESER L HEREN

have been granted for a term expiring on May 14, 2050.

HPR A 2050F5 B 14 B & ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEHWRS

The Group is a property developer and construction company based
in Zhuozhou, a city in Hebei Province, the PRC. The Group engages
in a wide range of property development activities, such as planning
and design, construction, property sales, investment and operations.

The Group principally engages in the following businesses:

° Property development business. As a property developer,
the Group focuses primarily on the development and sales
of residential properties, and leasing and operation of an
investment property.

° Construction contracting business. As a construction
company, the Group provides construction contracting
services mainly as a general contractor for building
construction projects, infrastructure construction projects, and
industrial and commercial construction projects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB1,924 million, representing a decrease of 33.7%
comparing to RMB2,900 million in 2021.

The underlying loss of the Group was approximately RMB159 million
(2021: the underlying profit of RMB79 million).

The reported loss of the Group amounted to approximately RMB347
million, and the the reported profit amounted to approximately
RMB42 million in 2021, mainly attributable to a decrease of gross
profit in property development business, fair value loss on investment
properties, realised loss of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and impairment losses on financial and contract assets
recorded in the year.

1 8 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Reconciliation of underlying (loss)/profit and reported (loss)/profit are
as follows:

THBE WS

EXRER) SR AMER), ENEEROT

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31HLEE

2022 2021

2022 5 20215

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBTT

Reported (loss)/profit D (E18), & 7 (347,346) 41,808

Fair value loss on investment properties REVENLAFEBE 72,379 -
Realised loss of financial assets at fair value BRATFEFABEZENEREEN

through profit or loss EEBREE 108,154 -

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value RAFEFABENEREE
through profit or loss AFEEE 7,378 36,824
Underlying (loss)/profit ER(ER) &R (159,435) 78,632

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022
decreased by 33.7% to approximately RMB1,924 million (2021:
RMB2,900 million).

The decrease in revenue of the property development business was
mainly due to the fact that smaller amount of sales were recognised
after the completion of the property sales. The decrease in revenue
from the construction contracting business was mainly due to the
lower revenue from building construction as the Group reduced the
number of contracts for general construction contracting involving the
business of property developers, to ensure the collection of payment
from the construction contracting business; as well as the decrease
in business volume, resulting from the subsequent delay in progress
of construction and normal bidding because of the impact of the
epidemic.

KBEOE

NEB®E2022F12A3MB L FE 2 R & B 2
BBINENANRKE1,924F B (20215 : AR #¥2,900
BB -

FHERBXBEETRE FTERHRYEHEES
HERRAEERTMAL BERBEBRATE
TERARAEREERACEBNEORE  £5E
BETEHRELEBZNRIZAENEIGRZ
EREREBFEENWRETE RZHAREHE Ik
IREFNBRBRENEELER  EREBETRE -

2022 FFF IR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEHWRS

The Group’s underlying loss was approximately RMB159 million
(2021: underlying profit of approximately RMB79 million), which
was primarily attributable to the fact that (i) in order to ensure the
collection of payment from the construction contracting business,
the Group reduced the number of contracts for general construction
contracting involving the business of property developers, resulting
in lower revenue and profit from building construction; (ii) due to the
impact of the epidemic, the construction volume of the construction
contracting business decreased and the sales of property projects in
2022 were less than the sales in 2021; (iii) the Group delivered a mass
of properties with lower selling prices; (iv) an increase in provision for
impairment of financial and contract assets on a prudent basis; and (v)
fair value loss on investment properties.

As at December 31, 2022, the net assets of the Group were
approximately RMB1,000 million (2021: RMB1,346 million), bank
deposits of approximately RMB626 million (2021: RMB472 million)
and total bank and other loans of approximately RMB904 million (2021:
RMB796 million). As at December 31, 2022, the net debt (being total
borrowings minus bank deposits) of the Group was approximately
RMB278 million (2021: RMB324 million).

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue
by business segment for the years indicated:

2022
20225
Percentage of

FEBNEABENARBIOEE T(20215F &
REMNHOAREIIOBEERL) TEHARO)ABREE
ABEBNORE AEERETHRELERDN
RIZARBNEISEE EREREFEENK
ZRAETE (NZAREHE BEABEBEL
ETHER20222FFEHEE B S8 T 2021 F /8
R (T EEAEBEXNEEHENFHERE ; (v)
ENEEZRE ENMERReREERNENEE X
WRENEQAFEBE-

M20225F12H318  AEBHWFEEEN ARYE1,000
BETR21F: ARB1346BE L) HHERITE
MO AR®626E B T(2021F : AR¥4T2HEE T)
URBRTREMERNYARBEIVIE & (2021 F :
ARB796B B ) c M2022F12A31H AEE W
EREFRABLEENRBTERINARE278EE
7T(2021F : AR#324B &) °

TREIRFMAFELAEEREB > BE N KR E
BH 4H :

For the year ended December 31

BE12ATBLEE

2021
20215
Percentage of

Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
& ke
k& B I & B
RMB’000 A RMB’000 (%)
Segment & AR®BTR AR®TR
Property development and EEREREMER
other business 468,458 24.3 690,819 23.8
Construction contracting BEARBER
business 1,455,411 75.7 2,208,722 76.2
Total ot 1,923,869 100.0 2,899,541 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Below is a review of each business segment of the Group.

(i)

Property development and other business

The Group’s property development business consists of (i)
the development and sales of residential properties; and
(ii) leasing and operation of investment properties. The
revenue of the Group is derived from sales of residential
properties and rental income from investment properties.
As of December 31, 2022, the Group had a diverse portfolio
of 22 property projects consisting of 19 residential and
commercial properties, 2 investment properties and 1 hotel,
which are all owned and developed by the Group. Among the
22 property projects, 7 projects are located in Zhuozhou and
the remaining 15 projects are located in Zhangjiakou. Among
these 22 projects, 14 projects were completed, 5 projects
were under construction and 3 projects were held for future
development. As of December 31, 2022, the Group had land
reserves with a total GFA of approximately 1,739,812 sq.m.,
including (i) completed properties with a total unsold saleable
GFA of approximately 212,944 sq.m. and a rentable GFA
held for property investment of approximately 78,700 sq.m.,
accounting for approximately 16.8% of the Group’s total
land reserves; (ii) properties under development with a total
planned GFA of approximately 694,838 sqg.m., accounting
for approximately 39.9% of the Group’s total land reserves;
and (iii) properties held for future development with a total
planned GFA of approximately 753,330 sg.m., accounting for
approximately 43.3% of the Group’s total land reserves.

THBE WS

TXHEINAEMEEK D EEHE-

(i)

EEMRRAMEE

AEBVNEHERRERCRENETEUEN
HERHEE URMBEVEHAERLE - K
EENBEREHETENERREYEN
HEW A B E2022F128318 A&EHT
FEEREREARMEEENZ TILASE H
FEFIOBETEREEYE 2ERENER
TRAEE H2HEAEEEERBEE 22
EHEEEER7TEER R EM  Her15@
BEEUNRERO - REZZE2FEBH F14
BAE®RIER SEAKEEERRIEAE
fEARKBEE - & E20225612831H0 K
EEEEN I HhREBEEAREEEYN A1,739,812
FHRR BEOAEETHELELEDBELS
212044F HARRBEMERENTHAREE
HAENATSTOOFARNERIME  hEXE

B69483BT FHKMAERME EAEEM+
B N39.9% ; R((NAREZEMBEN S
753,330 F K W BERRBEBOWE 55
£ W48 + 5% 15 40 43.3% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

The table below sets forth a breakdown of the revenue from TREBEIIAFTTSIEFEREESERKAKLES
property development business by business line and nature of PTHREFHERBEBLOKZHA:
income for the years indicated:

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31HLEFEE

2022 2021
20225 20215
Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
LR & &
I & =B 84 I & Bt
Business line Nature of income RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)
XBE®W WAKE AR®TR AR®TR
Property development Sales of residential 456,589 97.5 679,768 98.4
and sales properties
EhERBHEE EEWEHEE
Commercial property Rental income 11,869 2.5 11,051 1.6
investment and
operations

BENEREREE BETWA

Total 468,458 100.0 690,819 100.0
@t

The Group’s land reserves are mainly located in Zhuozhou AEEBNITHEREEIZEURBEEB IR
and Zhangjiakou which have high development potential. The FMEERO-UTEAEEBTBEMNBN

following is a brief introduction of such projects of the Group:

Projects in Zhuozhou EMERH

Tianbao Green City KR 4%

Located on the north side of Guanyun Road and the west side BERAUNRBEMNETERLLA - R—NEAM £
of Xuyi Village in Zhuozhou, the project covers a total site area E#h M B33, 7641 F A K- BHERBEF » &
of 33,764.1 sq.m. The project has convenient transportation B8Rk BRs R - BHEEEFHEEY
facilities connecting Beijing-Shijiazhuang High-speed Railway 105000 5K EBEEEBEE BEDNER
and Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Expressway. The GFA of the FEH B E2022F12A8318 1L X R &R
project is approximately 105,000 sqg.m., including high-rise E#H874E - £H808E °

residential buildings, commercial properties and parking lots.
As of December 31, 2022, 874 units have been launched and
808 units have been sold for Tianbao Green City.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Tianbao Xinyue Bay (also known as Project Ming Yang Phase |)

The project is located in Beixiguo Village, Matou Town,
Zhuozhou, with convenient surrounding transportation
facilities. The project can be reached through the Beijing-Hong
Kong-Macao Expressway and the Beijing-Shijiazhuang
High-speed Railway. The project covers a site area of
approximately 17,593.3 sq.m.. 1# and 3# buildings have a GFA
of approximately 48,000 sq.m., including high-rise residential
buildings. There are 480 units in these 2 buildings. As of
December 31, 2022, 438 units have been sold for 1# and 3#
buildings. The project has been delivered to purchasers in
batches since 2020. 2# building has a GFA of 7,243.0 sq.m.,
including a high-rise residential building, with 56 units. 2#
building is currently in the construction stage and is scheduled
to be delivered in 2025.

Tianbao Smart Building Technology Park

The project is located at the intersection of Yongji East Road
and Pengcheng Street in Zhuozhou. It covers a site area of
58,610.9 sq.m. and a GFA of approximately 310,000 sqg.m.
The project is about 6 kilometers from Zhuozhou High-speed
Railway Station, about 17 kilometers from Beijing Daxing
International Airport and about 1 kilometer from Zhuozhou City
Terminal of Beijing Daxing International Airport. This project
is a high-end complex integrating business office, corporate
headquarters office, commerce, micro-movie bar, catering
and conferences. There are approximately 4,100 units in this
project, and currently its main parts are under construction
stage. As of December 31, 2022, 934 units have been
launched and 395 units have been sold for this project.

Baoxin International Building

The project is located at No. 33 Guanyun East Road, Zhuozhou
Development Zone. It covers a total site area of 17,792.4
sqg.m., with a total GFA of approximately 50,039.7 sqg.m.
Baoxin International Building is a comprehensive commercial
building integrating office and business functions. After the
completion of the project, it has won many awards, including
the “Luban Prize” of the construction industry in 2018 and
the “Guang Xia Award” of the property development industry
in 2019. Baoxin International Building has contributed stable
rental income to the Group.

THBE WS

AREHEREZHE —H)
BEUREMNBEELARZN BEXBEE
M TEBREBERSE RAOSHIZEERE
B - HEBMMEEN17,5933FH K Hh
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

Projects in Zhangjiakou
Tianbao New City

The project is located in the core area of Zhangbei County,
at the intersection of Zhongdu Street and Xinghe Road in
Zhangbei County. It covers a site area of approximately
230,000 sg.m., with a total GFA of approximately 600,000
sq.m. The project is developed and constructed in three
phases, mainly high-rise and middle-high-rise buildings,
consisting of 46 residential buildings, community clubs,
kindergartens and a large-scale commercial complex Zhongdu
Ginza. As of December 31, 2022, the residential units of
Tianbao New City were basically sold out, and few remaining
street shops are on sale.

Tianbao New City — Zhangbei Zhongdu Ginza

The project is located in the northwest of the residential
area of Tianbao New City, mainly consisting of two high-rise
apartments, office buildings and commercial podiums, being
a landmark building in Zhangbei County. The project is a
comprehensive high-end commercial building integrating
shopping malls, cinemas, catering, conferences, offices,
hotels, leisure, business and other functions, with a total
GFA of approximately 86,690.5 sq.m. The mall portion of
the project, named Tianbao Plaza, is a 5-storey diversified
shopping hotspot with supermarkets, lifestyle stores,
restaurants and cinemas, and officially opened in 2022.
High-rise apartments started pre-sale in September 2020, with
the portions sold to be delivered to purchasers since 2021.

Zhangbei Fuxinyuan Shanty-town Improvement Project
Fuxinyuan residential community is project constructed in
response to Zhangbei County Government’s shanty-town
reconstruction project, located on the north side of Zhangbei
County Family Planning Bureau and east of Jingdu Street. The
construction of the project started in September 2017 with a
total of 1,272 units, including 1,252 residential units and 20
commercial units available for sale. As of December 31, 2022,
1,183 residential units were sold.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Tianbao Edelweiss City

The project is a residential and commercial project located
on the north side of Yu County Economic Development
Zone, with urban planning roads in the south, Edelweiss
Avenue in the north, Industrial Street in the east and
urban planning roads in the west. It consists of residential
communities and commercial facilities. The project covers a
site area of approximately 155,000 sq.m., with a total GFA of
approximately 430,000 sq.m. Star-rated hotels, AAAAA-level
office buildings and high-end communities will be built to
create a multi-functional and high-efficiency urban complex
integrating commercial offices, landmark buildings, residence,
catering and entertainment. Tianbao Edelweiss City has 1,942
residential units available for sale, of which pre-sale of Phase
| and Phase Il residential units launched in 2019 and 2021,
respectively, and pre-sale of Phase Ill, comprising a total of 85
commercial units, launched in 2021. As of December 31, 2022,
a total of 1,083 units have been sold, and were delivered to
purchasers in the 4th quarter of 2021.

Tianbao Boyue Bay

The project is located in the southwest of the urban area of Yu
County, with West Outer Ring Road in the east, Qianjin West
Road in the west, Heping West Road in the south and Lipuzi
Village in the north. The project includes middle-high-rise
residential units, high-rise residential units and commercial
properties, covering a site area of approximately 81,815 sqg.m.
and a total planned GFA of approximately 193,000 sqg.m.
The construction work of the project started in 2019, and the
pre-sale began in 2020. Tianbao Boyue Bay has a total of
1,476 residential units available for sale, and as of December
31, 2022, 782 units have been sold, and were delivered to
purchasers in the first half of 2022.

THBE WS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

Tianbao Jingbei Health City

The project is located in Tumu Village, Tumu Town, Yanshan
Cultural New City, Huailai County, adjacent to Guanting Lake
to enjoy unique and spectacular scenery and within easy reach
of Beijing-Tibet Expressway, Beijing-Xinjiang Expressway,
Beijing-Chongli Expressway, 110 National Highway and
Beijing-Zhangjiakou High-speed Railway to enjoy the capital’s
half-an-hour life circle. The project includes the residential
part, named Tianbao Hushan Yard, and the commercial part
including apartments and a hospital, named Jingbei Health
City. The project covers a total site area of approximately
200,000 sg.m., with a planned GFA of approximately 532,000
sq.m. Tianbao Hushan Yard plans to build 31 residential
buildings, and the construction has started in mid-2020 while
pre-sales started at the end of 2020. Jingbei Health City is a
medical and healthcare project consisting of apartments and
a hospital, providing supporting facilities for the elderly and
medical care. For the apartments, there are five smart health
apartments with a saleable GFA of about 60,000 sq.m. The
hospital has a 13-storey inpatient department, and a 4-storey
outpatient department, each with two underground floors,
with a GFA of approximately 60,000 sq.m. Pre-sale of the
apartments began in mid-2020. During the Reporting Period,
the project was constructed according to the predetermined
work schedule. The interior and exterior finishes of the
apartments were completed and greening work was underway.

Tianbao Jingxifu

The project is located in Nanfanzhuang Village, Yuzhou Town,
Yu County, Zhangjiakou. The Group acquired the land for this
project through public bidding in September 2021. The project
has a site area of approximately 43,242 sq.m. and a planned
GFA of approximately 86,000 sq.m.

Nasutu Hotel (formerly known as Haiziwa Hotel)

The project is a wholly self-owned project located in Zhangbei
County, Zhangjiakou. As of December 31, 2022, the project
has obtained all certificates. Conveniently located near
Nasutu resort in Zhangjiakou, Hebei Province, Nasutu Hotel
occupies a total site area of approximately 52,237 sq.m. and
an aggregate GFA of approximately 33,967.5 sg.m. with a total
of 180 guest rooms.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBE WS

Land Reserves

The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the Group’s

land reserves by geographical location as of December 31,

3.5 4

TRHIAEEHE2022F12 431 H IR
NEIITNIHREBELRERZAMA:

2022:
Under Future Total land
Completed development  development reserves
B®I (3] ARAB RS Percentage
Rentable of total land
Unsold GFA held Planned reserves by
saleable  for property GFA under Planned Total geographical
GFA investment  development GFA GFA location
fif BHENE
*HE ESS WENAE
THE A ERAD % || HER HLthekin
BRER BRER BREE® BEER [ BRlL
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
Region HE (EHX) (FHX) (EHX) (EHX) (EHX)
Zhuozhou AN 26,213 44,336 141,901 175,435 387,885 22.3
Zhangjiakou kXA 186,731 34,364 552,937 577,895 1,351,927 7.1
Total Foh 212,944 78,700 694,838 753,330 1,739,812 100.0
Commercial Property Investment and Operations HEYPEREREE

The Group owns and operates Baoxin International Building

and Tianbao Plaza, which the Group developed for long-term

investment purposes. The Group holds these properties for

capital appreciation and rental income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

(ii) Construction Contracting Business

The Group has been engaged in the construction contracting
business since 1998, as a general contractor for building,
industrial, commercial and infrastructure construction projects.
The Group generates the majority of its revenue from this
business. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group
generated the majority of its construction contracting revenue
from construction projects located in Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
region, mainly in Hebei Province and in Beijing. The Group’s
construction projects in other geographical locations were
mainly located in Inner Mongolia, Anhui, Hubei and Shandong
Provinces. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Group entered into new contracts with the aggregate value of
approximately RMB2,959.9 million. As at December 31, 2022,
the Group’s aggregate backlog of construction projects was
approximately RMB7,934.2 million.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue from
the Group’s construction contracting business by geographical
locations for the years indicated:

(ii)

BEAERYK

REBBR198FE-—BERBEEABER
EREF I X BERERRKEEEEE
MBERER RBIWRELEAZEB -BE
2022F12A31ALEE AEEXTEHREZ
HEWEB(ETEURTLEREFINEEER
EEARBIBERBURE AEERNHE it
BEUENEEEBEZEZMRAESLH 28
ERIWREBE2022F12A31A L FE
REBHFETERBLENARE2959988
e R2022F12A31H  BEEBEEBE N AT K
ERBAEHEANMARKTIBI2EE T -

TREINAEBERFTEELRBLES DK
REABEBRZAMA:

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31ALEE

2022 2021
20225 20215

Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
16 #8 1 = - &
I & B I & BSOS
RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)

Region = AR®TR AR®TR
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei mEE 861,210 59.2 1,678,344 76.0
Other Hfth 594,201 40.8 530,378 24.0
1,455,411 100.0 2,208,722 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Reporting Period, the Group undertook most
of such construction projects as a general contractor.
As a general contractor, the Group performs all major
aspects of the construction project, including building
construction, foundation works, curtain wall construction,
building decoration and fireproofing projects. The Group
is also responsible for engaging subcontractors to provide
construction services and the labor force for the construction
projects, coordinating the work of all parties, providing the
major equipment and machinery, procuring raw materials and
ensuring the timely completion of construction projects. The
Group believes undertaking construction projects as a general
contractor reflects its overall capabilities and is significant
to the Group’s continued success. Having obtained the
Premium Class Certificate in 2017, the Group is, and expects
to continue to be able to, undertake larger-scale building
construction projects with increased complexity and higher
returns nationwide, as well as charge a premium rate for the
Group’s services.

In addition to construction contracting as a general contractor,
the Group also undertakes specialised construction projects
directly subcontracted by other general contractors or project
owners, such as renovation and decoration, steel structure
construction and curtain wall construction projects.

THBE WS
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Project Types HEHEE
The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue TRHIAFTTIEFERAEBRESERLE S
generated from the Group’s construction contracting business MWEERRBEEMSRREM:

by project type for the years indicated:

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31HLEFEE

2022
2022
Percentage of

Revenue total revenue

2021
20215
Percentage of
Revenue total revenue

ek weka
I & =84 I & BSk
RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)
Project type FHEHEY AE® T AR®TR
Building construction BFEE 392,265 27.0 1,170,426 53.0
Industrial, commercial T BERER
and infrastructure 5% e iR R
construction 1,063,146 73.0 1,038,296 47.0
Total Fal 1,455,411 100.0 2,208,722 100.0

In order to secure the collection of payment from the
construction contracting business, the Group reduced the
number of contracts for general construction contracting
involving the building construction of property developers,
resulting in a decrease in revenue from building construction
by approximately RMB778 million and an increase in revenue
from industrial, commercial and infrastructure construction by
approximately RMB25 million.

The Group provides construction contracting services for
municipal and public infrastructure projects. The Group’s
infrastructure construction projects primarily consist of urban
roads, bridges, facilities for water supply and treatment,
urban pipelines, city squares and street lighting. The Group’s
infrastructure construction customers are primarily local
government entities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is also undertaking industrial and commercial
construction contracting projects. These projects mainly
include steel structures, horticulture, buildings, industrial
buildings, new pseudo-classic buildings and preservation of
antiquities and historical buildings. The Group’s industrial and
commercial construction customers are enterprises in diverse
industries.

The Group also provides construction work of buildings and
corresponding building services for building construction
projects. Building construction customers are primarily
property developers and local government entities.

The following is a brief introduction to the Group’s large-scale
construction contracting projects this year:

Auxiliary Facilities Construction Project of Bayinwula General
Airport in West Ujimqgin Banner, Xilin Gol League, Inner
Mongolia

The project is located in the north of Bayinwula General
Airport in West Ujimqgin Banner, Inner Mongolia Autonomous
Region, with a contract value of approximately RMB52
million. The project covers the construction of comprehensive
business buildings and dormitories, airport hangars, vehicle
leasing center, oil garages, flight comment room, emergency
command center, etc.

New Construction Project of Development Zone Branch of
Dongtai Experimental Primary School, Dongtai Economic
Development Zone, Jiangsu Province

The project is located in the east area of Dongtai Economic
Development Zone, Jiangsu Province, with a contract value
of approximately RMB97 million. The content of the project is
the construction of the new development zone branch of the
Experimental Primary School in such zone, with a total GFA of
approximately 18,000 sq.m.. The expected completion date of
the project is April 2023.

THBE WS
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The Reconstruction of the Scriptures Museum in Ximalin Town,
Wanquan District, Zhangjiakou City, Hebei Province

The project is located in Ximalin Village, Ximalin Town,
Wanquan District, Zhangjiakou City, Hebei Province, with a
contract value of approximately RMB6.3 million. It is one of
the ancient architectural projects. The total GFA of the project
is approximately 760 sg.m., including the construction and
reconstruction projects of the scripture hall, the east-west side
halls, the east-west side rooms, the east-west corridor, the
foundation of the south house and the large wooden structure
and others.

Construction Project for the Comprehensive Building of
Yingshang County Maternal and Child Health Hospital, Anhui
Province

The project is located in Yingshang County, Fuyang City, Anhui
Province, with a contract value of approximately RMB188
million. The content of the project includes the construction
of 3 floors of outpatient and emergency rooms, 18 floors of
inpatient buildings, and 3 floors of oxygen production stations
and others, with a total GFA of approximately 50,000 sqg.m..
The project can further improve the county’s maternal and
child health care facility system, achieve optimal allocation of
resources, and improve the overall standard of maternal and
child health care in Yingshang County.

Development Project for Tibetan Ecotourism of Jiangre
Township, Linzhou County

The project is located in Linzhou County, Lhasa City, Tibet
Autonomous Region, with a contract value of approximately
RMB14 million. The content of the project is the construction
of featured resort camps, RV camps, tarpaulin camps, tree
hotels, etc. in the tourist resort area.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Project for Government-subsidized Rental Housing of
Shangqing Jiayuan Community

The project is located in Baoding City, Hebei Province, with
a contract value of approximately RMB549 million. The total
GFA of the project is approximately 143,000 sqg.m., with 11
residential buildings and other ancillary facilities. The expected
completion date of the project is the end of 2025.

New Construction Project of Boye County Hospital Branch

The project is located in Boye County, Baoding City, Hebei
Province, with a contract value of approximately RMB155
million. The content of the project includes the construction of
new internal and external wards buildings and other facilities,
with a total GFA of approximately 41,000 sq.m.. The expected
completion date of the project is 2024.

Backlog and New Contract Value
Backlog value

Backlog refers to an estimate of the contract value of work that
remains to be completed as of a certain date. The contract
value represents the amount that the Group expects to receive
under the terms of the contract, assuming the contract is
performed in accordance with its terms.
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The following table sets forth the contract value of outstanding TRHIBEREHARARBEBELES IO R
projects in the backlog by geographical locations as of the end EREEBFHNATHEESREE:
of the Reporting Period:

As of December 31

giEZ12A31H
2022 2021
2022 5 2021 %
Percentage Percentage
of total of total
Contract contract Contract contract
value value value value
HeR®E HEeREE
eREE B aRAEE BSOS
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)
Region tE AR%BHET AR®EHETT
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei TEE 2,953.8 37.2 2,466.1 35.7
Other H 4,980.4 62.8 4,449.5 64.3
7,934.2 100.0 6,915.6 100.0
The following table sets forth the contract value of outstanding THRHIBERERRZRBEEEREAINR
projects in the backlog by project types as of the end of the ERERFAPNRERNEECREE:

Reporting Period:

As of December 31

BEX12A31H
2022 2021
20225 20215
Percentage Percentage
of total of total
Contract contract Contract contract
value value value value
HERME EEaR#E
eREE Bl eREE Btk
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)
Project type HEHER AR%BEET AR%EET
Building construction BFEE 2,690.1 33.9 2,277.1 32.9
Industrial, commercial T BxRE#R
and infrastructure 5% o 12 5
construction 5,244 .1 66.1 4,638.5 67.1
7,934.2 100.0 6,915.6 100.0
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New Contract Value Fa&EEEE

New contract value represents the aggregate value of A ECRBEEFAEERBEHRNTLINEG
contracts entered into by the Group during the Reporting BB - SR EERMAEERRBEEKER
Period. The contract value is the amount that the Group BiTEaR BAAEERBRESEKRARME
expects to receive under the terms of the contract if the K& %8 o

contract is performed by the Group in accordance with its

terms.

The following table sets forth the aggregate value of new TREIINFAAFEASEERHEBNES S
contracts entered into by the Group by geographical locations W EREZE:

for the years indicated:

For the year ended December 31
BE12A31BLFEE

2022 2021
2022 5 20215

Percentage Percentage
of total of total
Contract contract Contract contract
value value value value
HEeERAAE EER#EE
eRRE B eRKEE B
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)

Region = AR®BEHET AE¥EER
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei TEE 1,676.4 56.6 1,646.8 30.9
Other H b 1,283.5 43.4 3,683.3 69.1
2,959.9 100.0 5,330.1 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEHWRS

The following table sets forth the aggregate value of new

contracts entered into by the Group by project types for the

years indicated:

THRHEINFAREELAEHEZERREE S
HWHEREAE:

For the year ended December 31

BE12A31HIEFEE

2022 2021
2022 5 2021
Percentage Percentage
of total of total
Contract contract Contract contract
value value value value
HERAE EER#EE
eRRE Bl aREE Btk
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)
Project type HEHER AR%BHET AR%EETT
Building construction BFEE 1,099.0 37.1 1,006.1 18.9
Industrial, commercial I% BHERER
and infrastructure BiR
construction 1,860.9 62.9 4,324.0 81.1
2,959.9 100.0 5,330.1 100.0

After obtaining the Premium Class Certificate in 2017,
the Group has been involving in larger-scale building

construction projects with increased complexity and higher

returns nationwide. The value of the new contracts entered
into by the Group amounted to RMB2,959.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022. The Group expanded the
construction contracting business to regions other than

Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region during the year, including Anhui

Province, Inner Mongolia, Shandong Province and Jiangsu

Province.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

1.

Revenue

The revenue of the Group was primarily derived from two
business segments: (i) property development business; and (ii)
construction contracting business. Total revenue of the Group
decreased by 33.7% from approximately RMB2,900 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021 to approximately
RMB1,924 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

1.1 Property development business

The Group’s revenue from property development
business comprises sales of properties and rental
income. Revenue from sales of properties is recognised
only after properties have been sold to purchasers
and after satisfying the requirements for delivery as
stipulated in the purchase agreements. Consistent
with industry practice, the Group usually enters
into purchase agreements with purchasers while
the properties are under development and fulfil the
conditions for presales in accordance with PRC laws
and regulations.

The aggregate GFA delivered decreased from
approximately 135,000 sg.m. for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to approximately 92,000 sq.m. for
the year ended December 31, 2022 and the recognised
revenue decreased from approximately RMB680 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021 to approximately
RMB457 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The above changes were primarily attributable to no
other major projects delivered to purchasers except for
the large-scale delivery of Tianbao Boyue Bay, resulting
in less area delivered during the year than that in 2021.

The rental income of the Group was primarily derived
from lease of commercial investment properties. The
Group holds these commercial investment properties
for capital appreciation and leases them to generate
rental income. As of December 31, 2022, the Group
held one commercial investment property, Baoxin
International Building and one shopping mall, Tianbao
Plaza, with a total rentable GFA of 78,700.4 sq.m.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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1.2 Construction contracting business

The revenue of the Group’s construction contracting
business was primarily derived from the construction
contracting services provided by the general
contractors of building construction projects,
infrastructure construction projects and industrial and
commercial construction projects.

The overall decrease in the revenue from the Group’s
construction contracting business was primarily
attributable to decrease in the number and scale of
the building construction and industrial, commercial
and infrastructure construction projects, as a result,
revenue from this segment decreased by 34.1% from
approximately RMB2,209 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to approximately RMB1,455 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Cost of sales

The Group’s costs of sales primarily represent the costs
incurred in the property development and sales as well as
construction contracting service rendered by the Group. The
cost for property development business primarily includes
land costs, construction costs and rent costs. The cost for
construction contracting services primarily includes labor
costs, raw material costs, machinery costs, subcontracting
costs and other costs.

The Group’s cost of sales decreased from approximately
RMB2,656 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
approximately RMB1,809 million for the year ended December
31, 2022, representing a decrease of 31.9%, which was in
line with the changes of property development business and
construction contracting business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets forth a breakdown of gross profit
and gross profit margin by business segment for the years

3.

indicated:
2022
2022
Percentage
of gross
Gross profit profit
HEH
LX) B
RMB’000 (%)
AE®TR
Segment ol |
Property development EiEREER
business 38,061 33.2
Construction contracting BEROEY
business 76,651 66.8
Total @it 114,712 100.0

The Group’s gross profit decreased from approximately
RMB244 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
approximately RMB115 million for the year ended December
31, 2022, representing a decrease of 52.9%, which was
primarily attributable to the decrease in gross profit of the
Group’s property development business from approximately
RMB126 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
approximately RMB38 million for the year ended December 31,
2022. The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from 8.4%
for the year ended December 31, 2021 to 6.0% for the year
ended December 31, 2022. Among the projects that have been
delivered to the purchasers during the Year, Tianbao Boyue
Bay has delivered an area of approximately 57,000 sq.m.
with low average selling prices and low gross profit margin,
resulting in the decrease in gross profit margin of the Group’s
property development business from 18.2% for the year ended
December 31, 2021 to 8.1% for the year ended December 31,
2022. The gross profit margin of the construction contracting
business remained relatively stable at 5.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2022 (2021: 5.3%).
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ENRENE
TREIRFFFEREZ MBI D NWEF
REMNEHHM:

For the year ended December 31

BE12RNALEE
2021
2021%
Percentage  Gross profit
Gross profit of margin
[UEICTII Gross profit  gross profit
LEE
EFl®E £ Bl Ef®
(%) RMB’000 (%) (%)
ARBTT
8.1 125,580 il 18.2
5.3 118,054 48.5 5.3
6.0 243,634 100.0 8.4

REBMWERNHABE021F12831BLEE
N ARMB244EHE T T H52.9% F 8 £2022
FI2A3IALEENARKII5EERT &
HRAEENEHERBEXENENBESR
2021 F12A31BELEENMN ARKI268 &
ATHAEHE2022F12831HLEEFENYIA
RE¥3SEET - ANEEHNEF EHE Z2021
F12A31B L FEEMN8A% THER E20224F
12A31HLLEEMNG6.0%: AEEXNERMN
BEH  RRMAKEBE RN EBEL57,000F 5
K FPHEERENEZEER BEREAEENE
thEREEBEMNEFREHEZ2021512 A 31
BIEEEN18.2% T M Z & £20224512 A 31
BLELEEMNBI% BEARBEBENEFNRRF
HEEBE RBZE2022F12H8318 L F &
£5.3% (20214 : 5.3%) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains included the recognition
of government funding of approximately RMB2.2 million
(2021: RMB1.5 million), the dividend income received from
equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income of approximately RMB Nil (2021:
RMB10.7 million) and realised loss of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately RMB108 million
(2021: Nil).

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily
consist of (i) advertising, marketing and business development
expenses; and (ii) staff costs in relation to our salespersons.

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased by
approximately RMB2.3 million from approximately RMB3.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to approximately
RMB1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Most
of the selling and distribution expenses were capitalised to
property development projects during the Year.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consist of staff
costs in relation to the Group’s administrative personnel, office
expenses, depreciation and amortisation, traveling and other
expenses.

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by 4.8% from
approximately RMB62.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2021 to approximately RMB65.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. Staff costs (including Directors’
remuneration) amounted to approximately RMB30.3 million
(2021: RMB31.4 million), which was mainly due to a decrease
in the number of staff, thus a lower of staff costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract
assets, net

The Group performs an impairment analysis as of December
31, 2022 using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses (“ECLs”). The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure ECLs.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s
net impairment losses on financial assets amounted to
approximately RMB162.7 million (2021: RMB46.3 million),
primarily due to the Group considered the impairment of
financial and contract assets on a prudent basis.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs primarily represent interest
expenses on bank and other loans less the capitalised cost of
interest on relevant loans incurred for property development.

The Group’s finance costs increased by 22.2% from
approximately RMB58.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2021 to approximately RMB70.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, as the loans obtained by the Group
from banks and other institutions increased by approximately
RMB109 million compared to 2021, resulting in an increase in
interest expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEHWRS

9. Income tax expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses include payments
and provisions made for corporate income tax and land
appreciation tax (“LAT”) by the PRC subsidiaries of the Group.

The Group’s income tax expenses decreased by 368% from
approximately RMB7.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2021 to the reversal of approximately RMB18.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022, which was mainly due to
the decrease in provision for the Group’s taxable profit derived
from the property development business and construction
contracting business and the reversal of LAT previously
provided for the property development business due to the
completion of settlement of LAT of some of the property
projects.

10. Underlying (loss)/profit for the year

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s underlying
loss amounted to approximately RMB159 million, as compared
to the underlying profit of approximately RMB79 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCE AND CAPITAL

The Group has historically met its liquidity requirements through cash
flows from operations and bank and other borrowings. The Group’s
primary liquidity requirements are to finance working capital, fund
capital expenditures and provide capital for the growth and expansion
of operations. The Group expects these sources to continue to be its
principal sources of liquidity.

Cash position

As at December 31, 2022, the Group’s total deposits, cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately RMB626 million (2021:
RMB472 million), which are denominated in RMB and Hong Kong
dollars, respectively, including pledged deposits of approximately
RMB403 million as at December 31, 2022 (2021: RMB223 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Future plans for material investments and acquisition of
capital assets

There was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
assets by the Group during the Reporting Period.

As at the date of this report, the Group did not have any major
future investment plans. The relevant major investment plan will be
announced in a timely manner if the Group thinks fit.

Significant investments held

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group did not hold any
significant investments.

Loan and pledge of assets

THBE WS

EXRBERBMABRFTEENREMR

RBEESHE AEESEEARBERHENB QA

REABEEH AEEALBEAARARERRETE
HAKERARBE SERKAMERERRETE -

FBAEXHRR

HZE2022F12A31ALFEE AEEHMESTELEM
BEARE-

EREREEEN

As of December 31

#XE12A31H
2021
2021
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Maturity RMB’000 rate Maturity RMB’000
EBRf% 3l AE®TR ERA = 5E AE®TR
(%) (%)
Current EP #8
Secured other borrowings BB EAMER 11.00-12.00 2023 270,464 11.00 2022 253,974
Unsecured other borrowings & # & {5 & 11.00-12.00 2023 34,675 11.00 2022 31,733
Current portion of secured EERARBBITERN
long-term bank borrowings IR ) 5.50-8.70 2023 339,099 4.75-9.75 2022 166,000
644,238 451,707
Non-current 9k BN 2
Secured bank borrowings EEMEBITER 5.50-6.65 2024-2025 260,000 5.50-8.70 2023 344,000
904,238 795,707
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

The table below sets out the maturity of the interest-bearing bank and TRHIBEFAABRAEENHERTRAEMLE

other borrowings of the Group as of the dates indicated: M E E SR
As of December 31
H#E12A31H
2022 2021
2022 % 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®BTR
Bank and other borrowings repayable: WOREMERBERUATHRERE:
Within one year or on demand BAR—EFERFEER 644,238 451,707
In the second year ARE_-F 110,000 344,000
In the third to fifth years, both inclusive BERE=ZFEZFEREF
(BEERMEF) 150,000 -
Total # 5t 904,238 795,707
The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are all AEEMNHERTREAMEBEREIUAARBRETTIIME -

denominated in RMB and US dollars.

The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are secured AEBNAERTRAGCEINBABTEEFER K

by various assets with aggregate carrying amounts as follows: HELBENT :
As of December 31
#iF¥12A31H
2022 2021
2022 % 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AR®BTR
Investment properties REYE 239,800 140,400
Properties under development EEWE 283,600 500,197
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BRERSZE 199,175 58,784
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 8,120 8,349
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key financial ratios

The table below sets forth a summary of the Group’s key financial

ratios as of the dates or for the periods indicated:

THBE WS

FEMHLE
TRHIBEZSEHAMTHELAEENETEY
W RPE

As of December 31 or for the year
ended December 31

B E12A318®
HE12A31HLEE
Notes 2022 2021
[V < 2022 20215

Current ratio (times) B b R (£F) 1 1.11 1.17

Gearing ratio (%) EXRE B E(%) 2 90.4 59.1

Net gearing ratio (%) FERAMEL R (%) 3 27.9 241

Return on equity (%) B 7N [ R 2 (%) 4 (29.6) 3.1

Return on total assets (%) B EE R E(%) 5 (5.3) 0.6

Gross profit margin (%) £ F = (%) 6 6.0 8.4

Net profit margin (%) AR 2 (%) 7 (18.1) 1.4

Notes: B 5 -

1. Current ratios were calculated based on the total current assets as 1. RBLENEZBERANNARDEELERUBE
of the respective dates divided by the total current liabilities as of the ZERENTHEBELABEGTHE-
respective dates.

2. Gearing ratios were calculated by total interest-bearing bank and other 2. EXEBLEEDRBEZESAPNHERTREME
borrowings as of the respective dates divided by total equity as of the MBERUBZEE BN EERBRIA100%TE -
respective dates and multiplied by 100%.

3. Net gearing ratios were calculated as total interest-bearing bank 3. FEEEBLRERNDEBEE AN RERITREM
and other borrowings as of the respective dates less cash and bank ERAERBESHINNBREeRBRITEHRURE R
balances and pledged deposits as of the respective dates, divided by RER RUBZESAHMNEES  BRU100% T
total equity as of the respective dates and multiplied by 100%. o

4, Return on equity was calculated based on the reported (loss) profit for 4. BRABREDESHENLAOA(BE)EANBRUBZE
the respective periods divided by the average total equity as of the ZHENEOEER (KB WARES Y ES R
respective periods (sum of opening and closing balances of the total BE2RBBRUZ)BRU100%E °
equity of the respective periods and then divided by two) and multiplied
by 100%.

5% Return on total assets was calculated based on the reported (loss) B BEERREDRZHEANAMAUSB)BEFBRAEZ
profit for the respective periods divided by the average total assets of HENTEFYRAEE(SHBANAEEDR DR RERE
the respective periods (sum of opening and closing balances of the ZHBBRUZ)BRIA100% T & ©
total assets of the respective periods and then divided by two) and
multiplied by 100%.

6. Gross profit margin was calculated on gross profit divided by revenue 6. EFNEDRENGRUAZTHBEHORETE -
for the respective periods.

7. Net profit margin was calculated on reported (loss) profit for the year 7. MAEDRFEANABER)EFRAS BN K

divided by revenue for the respective periods.

Hi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

Commitments

Operating Lease Commitments

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements with lease terms negotiated ranging from one to
ten years. At the end of the Reporting Period, the undiscounted

lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

i

EEHRRIE

AEBEEDLHEA
FAEERBELHERHBAEHREN X KB
BOHMBRAF-—ZE2+F -RBEHR REBEBRKE
HERBEABPI YN TIRELEHRETHR
MREREENSRET :

2022 2021
2022 % 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®BTR
Within one year —FR 6,971 9,179
In the second to fifth years, both inclusive RE_EFEZELF(EEEEWMF) 10,801 18,670
After five years BFEUE 2,063 2,400
19,835 30,249
Capital Commitments FEY 3 ]
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the AEBRBEHAE LT EARNKIE
Reporting Period:
2022 2021
2022 % 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR
Contracted, but no provision has been made: SRR SRERCE 3 I
Construction contracting BEEG 241,695 176,148
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent Liabilities
Mortgage guarantee

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
for certain purchasers of the Group’s properties amounting to
approximately RMB1,729.9 million (2021: RMB1,380.3 million) as
of December 31, 2022. The Group’s guarantee period starts from
the dates of the grant of relevant mortgage loans and ends upon
the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers,
which will generally be available within one to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The Directors consider that the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant, and in case of default on payments, the net realisable
value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties. Therefore, no provision for the guarantees has been
made during the Reporting Period.

OTHERS
1. Events after the Reporting Period

Subsequent to December 31, 2022, USD44,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB305,139,000) of the interest bearing bank and other
borrowings was due on February 6, 2023 and unpaid as at
the date of this report. The relevant agreement clauses for
extension of 12 months is in process.

2. Foreign Currency Risk

The Group primarily operates in the PRC. The majority of
the Group’s transactions were denominated and settled in
RMB. Currently, the Group had not entered into any hedging
activities aimed at or intended to manage our exposure to
foreign exchange risk and did not use any financial instruments
for hedging purposes. The Group will continue to monitor
foreign exchange activities and safeguard the cash value of
the Group with its best effort.

3. Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing
bank and other deposits and bank and other borrowings. Bank
deposits and bank and other borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
and other borrowings bearing an interest at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBEHWRS

Corporate Governance

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the corporate value as well as the
responsibility commitments. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code as its own code of corporate
governance.

The Company has been in compliance with all applicable code
provisions under the Corporate Governance Code. To the
best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report, except for the deviation from provision
C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Directors will
endeavor to procure the Company to continue to comply with
the Corporate Governance Code.

A review of the corporate governance of the Group is set out
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year ended December 31, 2022, save as disclosed
in “Future plans for material investments and acquisition
of capital assets” in this section, there was no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and assets by the
Group.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code for the
Directors to deal in securities of the Company.

After making specific enquiries to all Directors, each of the
Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year
ended December 31, 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company, have also been subject
to the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the Company’s
employees was noted by the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2022.

7. Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company and
any of its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any
securities of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange.

FUTURE PROSPECT
Construction Contracting Business

As a pillar industry of the national economy, the construction industry
is one of the key focuses of the domestic circular economy in the
PRC. The Group continued to optimize its presence across the
country, covering 26 provinces, municipalities and autonomous
regions across the country. The Company attaches great importance
to quality and continuously improves various subcontracting projects.

Property Business

After a recession in 2022, the property business returned to positive
growth in 2023. With the recovery of the national economy, the
accumulated purchasing power began to be released, which is
conducive to the gradual stabilization and recovery of the property
market.

Healthcare Project

In July 2022, the Group entered into a cooperation framework
agreement with Yanda International Health City Investment
Management Company Limited to jointly develop the healthcare
project in Jingbei Health City. In March 20283, the Group established
the Jingbei Health City Healthcare Project Preparatory Committee and
appointed the chairperson of the Committee. The Group will further
push forward the healthcare business, and build a top-end elderly
care comprehensive community by cooperating with a Grade IlIA
hospital, a longevity elderly care apartment and a health and elderly
care residence.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2022 (for the year ended December 31,
2021: Nil).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Li Baotian (FE#® H % %), aged 67, is the Chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Li was appointed as a Director on November 16, 2018 and was
redesignated as an executive Director on April 17, 2019. Mr. Li has
over 37 years of experience in property development and construction
contracting industry. Mr. Li is the Controlling Shareholder as well
as the father of Mr. Li Yaruixin (Z &£ & £ % %) and uncle-in-law of
Ms. Wang Xinling (£ #1 % & *).

Mr. Li is a representative of the 15th People’s Congress, Baoding
City(REWE+HEEARNKRKRAENRK), amember of the presidium
of the People’s Congress, Zhuozhou City (KM T A AR K £ &
B &) and has been a vice president of Federation of Industry and
Commerce of Zhuozhou City (M ™ I & ¥ 8 & &) since 1998. On
June 13, 2019, Mr. Li was appointed as the president of Zhuozhou
Entrepreneurs Association. Since September 2019, Mr. Li has
served as an expert of construction material procurement of the
property industry in Hebei Province for a term of two years. In April
2020, Mr. Li was elected as the vice president of the Emergency
Management and Work Safety Association of Hebei Province (i it &
EE2EEHEZE2EERHE). On June 1, 2020, Mr. Li was appointed as
the Honorary President of Zhuozhou City Supporting Army Volunteers
Association (FAMTHEELEEEH ).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li has received various awards in recognition of his achievements.
In November 2009, he was awarded the 4th Outstanding Builder of
Socialism with Chinese Characteristics of Hebei Province (28 M f& 5]
TtEEFFEBEHEEETZTZTEEREMBI). In 2010, he was named
as the Advanced Worker of the Quality Management of Construction
(ZEIREEREE=EEEE I EE) by China Construction Industry
Association (Bl & £ %2 1% ). In 2011, he was honored as the Senior
Occupational Manager in China’s construction industry of 2011 (2011
FETHEEEESFTSRBE E£KE A) In December 2014, he was
conferred as the Outstanding Entrepreneur in Hebei province (3] 3t
# BB EX). In 2016, he was awarded the 2015 Excellent Enterprise
Manager in Construction Industry in Hebei province (2015 £ i 4t
BEREEEFLEEEE) and the 2016 Outstanding Entrepreneur
in Hebei province (20164 E ;i it & & F ©© % X). In 2018, he was
awarded the 2017 National Outstanding Entrepreneur in Construction
Industry 2017F E 2 Bl 8 5 it T © % X). In April 2019 and July
2020, he was awarded the 2018 Excellent Enterprise Manager in
Construction Industry in Hebei province (20184 E 5a 4t & # 5 ¥
B F & ¥ T ¥ %) and the 2019 Excellent Enterprise Manager in
Construction Industry in Hebei province 2019F E At B2 £ % &
F ¥ EHEE), respectively. In November 2019, he was named as
the Advanced Worker of Enterprise Culture Construction at the 70th
Anniversary of the Founding of the PRC (¥ F Bl 70F & ¥ X L & 5%
5t T {E#&). In December 2019, he was awarded the Individual Prize
of Quality Award of the Zhuozhou Government (& /N i B & £ 22
{& A 28). In November 2020, he was named as the Advanced Worker
of Enterprise Culture Construction in the 13th Five-year Plan Period
“T=R"PELEERELEETIESE). In December 2020, he won
the title of Hebei Province Outstanding Private Entrepreneur of 2020
(2020 F E Mt A B F R & % R) conferred by the Hebei Provincial
People’s Government. In 2021, he was awarded the Entrepreneur for
40 Years of Meritorious Service in Quality Management of Hebei
Enterprises. In January 2021, he was awarded the Individual Prize of
Quality Award of the Baoding Government (R E T X fF & £ 2 @ A
#). In April 2021, he was named as the 2020 Advanced Individual in
Emergency Management and Safety Production in Hebei Province
C20FEMtEAESEEEZ 24 E %K EME AN). In December
2021, he was awarded the 2021 Outstanding Entrepreneur in the
Construction Decoration Industry in Hebei Province (2021 & il 4t & 2
FEMITEBF LEXMBI) and the 2021 Outstanding Entrepreneur
in the Municipal Industry in Hebei Province (2021 £ E A4t & ™ B 1T
EXBEFLERBR).
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Mr. Li obtained an adult higher education certificate (X A S EH B E
% ®£) in urban construction issued by Hebei Agricultural University
(T4t 2 % K 2) in June 2002. Mr. Li obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration (EMBA) degree from Community Business
College (3 B fn N 7 2 X 2) in September 2021.

Ms. Shen Lifeng (BB R & *), aged 57, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Ms. Shen was appointed as an
executive Director on April 17, 2019. Ms. Shen has more than 36
years of experience in law, investment and financing management
and corporate management.

Ms. Shen has been a founding arbitrator of the Arbitration Committee
of Langfang City (8 %5 ™ f# & Z & &) since June 2017. She was
an executive committee member of the Federation of Industry and
Commerce of Hebei Province (S &t ¥ T ®& ¥ B & &) and a vice
president of the General Chamber of Commerce of Hebei Province
(5T 4t & # 7 €) until August 2017. From February 2019 to April 2019,
she served as the chief executive officer of Porda Havas International
Finance Communications (Group) Holdings Company Limited (18 3% &
EFRSEREE)ZERERLD ).

Ms. Shen’s previous work experience includes serving as a teaching
assistant in the department of law of Hebei University (Jadt X
2) from September 1987 to October 1989; the director of the
legal department, an assistant to the general manager and a vice
general manager of Hebei Textiles Import and Export (Group)
Company Gt & # @ m#E L D (K8 )2 F) from October 1989 to
May 2006; a standing vice general manager and a member of the
discipline-inspection committee of Shenglun International Industrial
Group Co., Ltd. (E®m BB EX K E K 1 B R 2 7l), responsible for
the reorganisation and restructuring of the state-owned enterprise
from May 2006 to December 2007; an executive director and the
general manager of Shaanxi Kunzheng Mining Co., Ltd. (P& 7 38 IE
BERMDABRADF) from September 2008 to August 2014; and the
chief director in charge of PRC businesses of Chong & Partners
LLP from September 2016 to February 2019. Ms. Shen has been an
independent non-executive Director of Hebei Construction Group
Corporation Limited (51t 2% & B IR 13 B IR A =) (stock code: 1727.
HK), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
since December 15, 2017. Ms. Shen has been appointed by
Shenzhen SASAC as an external director of Shenzhen Special District
Construction Development Group Co., Ltd. since November 2021.
She has been an independent non-executive director of China South
City Holdings Limited (stock code: 1668.HK), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since June 16, 2022 and has been
re-designated as a non-executive director since January 6, 2023.
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Ms. Shen obtained a bachelor of degree in law from Hebei University
in July 1987 and obtained a master degree of economics in world
economy from Hebei University in June 1999. She also obtained
a Ph.D. Degree of Laws in civil and commercial law from Peking
University Law School in June 2005 and a master’s degree in
Buddhist Studies from University of Hong Kong in November 2015.
Ms. Shen obtained the qualifications of lawyer from the Lawyer’s
Qualification Review Committee of the Ministry of Justice (&) 5% 35 2 &f
ERBEEZBERE) in June 1998 and senior economist from the Office
of the Leading Group for Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province
CUtEBBREEENAP L ZE)in November 1998, respectively.
Ms. Shen was accredited the 2004 “Top Ten Excellent Youth of Hebei
(G4t + K £t 5 & 5)” and the first-class merit for individuals ({8 A
— % 1) by the China Communist Youth League Committee of Hebei
Province (# & 7 it & Z & &) and Hebei Provincial Department of
Human Resources and Social Security (7 it & A 1 &R A & & {R [F )
and the “Top Ten Excellent Youth of Enterprises contributed by Hebei
SASAC (Mt EEEZMEERLET KB HE S F)” by Hebei SASAC
in 2005, respectively. Ms. Shen was also elected and served as the
representative of the 6th and 7th sessions of the Party Congress of
Hebei Province. Ms. Shen was elected as the 13th committee member
of Hebei Provincial of the CPPCC in January 2023 (special inviter).

Ms. Wang Xinling (E ¥ & L), aged 40, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Ms. Wang was appointed as an
executive Director on April 17, 2019. Ms. Wang is the niece-in-law of
Mr. Li Baotian. She is a director and the general manager of Tianbao
Construction Group. Ms. Wang joined Tianbao Construction Group
as a safety officer of project department in June 2001 and was the
manager of safety and environmental protection department from
January 2002 to February 2005 and held the positions of vice general
manager and the standing vice manager from February 2007 to
January 2018. She has over 21 years of experience in construction
industry.
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Ms. Wang is currently a standing committee member of the Zhuozhou
City 9th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (B 1 %
MMENEZEEEZE) and a representative of the 15th People’s
Congress, Zhangjiakou City ((f X 0 % + & & A X &). Ms. Wang
has been the deputy president of Construction Association in Hebei
Province (i 4t & 2 £ % #% &) since 2016 and a deputy president
of the Construction Association in Baoding City (ff & ™ £ £ % %
&) since December 30, 2016. On September 8, 2020, Ms. Wang
was appointed as a corporate culture expert of China Association
of Construction Enterprise Management (F Bl it T i ¥ E 2 % &)
for a five-year term. On December 24, 2020, Ms. Wang was elected
as the vice president of the third session of council of Baoding
Building Decoration Association (R i 1 i 5 £ 85 1% &). In July 2021,
Ms. Wang was engaged as a construction industry expert (enterprise
management) of Hebei Province (It H# 2 L X E X (L X EH)) by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (Ji] 4t 2 £ % 1% &).
In August 2022, Ms. Wang was appointed as a culture construction
expert of engineering construction enterprises of China Association of
Construction Enterprise Management for a three-year term.

In 2011, Ms. Wang was awarded the March 8th Flag Bearer of 2010
(20104 E = \ 4L IE F) by Women’s Federation of Zhuozhou (3%
MR Z B A g). In 2013, she was honored as the outstanding leader
of the quality management group of the national construction of
2013 Q0B FEL2HIBREREEEE A THEMELSE) by
the Evaluation Committee on the China Construction Quality Award
BEBXIREREELEETZEE). In 2017, she was honored with
the Outstanding Contribution Award of National High Quality Project
Award of 2016-2017 (2016 Z2017F EBREE IR R R L ER &)
by the China Construction Enterprise Management Association (9
Bl ThEEEHE) In 2018, she was awarded as the outstanding
leader of the Quality Management Group of Construction (L 72 £ 5%
BEEEE/MHES = M%BEEE) by the China Construction Enterprise
Management Association (¥ B it T & % & 2 % &). In 2018, 2019
and 2020, she was conferred as the excellent enterprise manager in
construction industry in Hebei Province of 2017, 2018, 2019 (2017
FE -2018FER019FE AL EEEXB S X EEE) by the
Construction Association in Hebei Province (5i] 4t & £ £ ¥ % &),
respectively. In March 2020, she was awarded the title of the Most
Beautiful Families of 2019 in Zhuozhou (2019 £ E & M m & % R E)
by Women’s Federation of Zhuozhou (& /M ™ #& Z B & &). In 2021,
she was awarded the 2021 Individual Prize of Quality Award of the
Zhuozhou Government (2021 £ E & M i BT & 8 58 (@ A 82)).
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Ms. Wang completed the Executive Business Administration Studies
Course (& & T # & ¥ R 2 #t 18 ¥) organised by the School of
Continuing Education, Tsinghua University (B E#E K 2 E B H B £
) in November 2011. She also obtained the graduation certificate
in urban economics and management via the Self-taught Higher
Education and Examination (§Z# B B2 Z ) from Hebei
Agricultural University (3i it 2 26 X 2) in December 2004. Ms. Wang
obtained a Qualification Certificate of Intermediate Professional
Technical Position (41 4% & 2 £ i B 7% 1 B & 4% % &) as an engineer
of construction from the Office of the Leading Group for Professional
Title Reforms in Hebei Province (Al 4t & B #8 2 £ %8 B /) A it
%) in December 2016. Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor degree in
civil engineering from Higher Adult Education of Hebei University of
Science and Technology (5T 4t & & K 2 A & % % &) via online
learning in June 2019. Ms. Wang obtained a master’s degree in
management programme from Australian National University in
December 2020, which is a part-time programme taught in Tsinghua
University, Beijing in Mandarin. In December 2021, Ms. Wang passed
the qualification evaluation of senior professional technical position
as an engineer of construction (R E IR SR EER MR K TR E
¥ 7 #) organized by the Office of the Leading Group for Professional
Title Reforms in Hebei Province (Tt E BB R EFEE DA MR LD =E).

Mr. Li Yaruixin (FEZEE &% %), aged 38, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Mr. Li Yaruixin was appointed as
an executive Director on April 17, 2019. Mr. Li Yaruixin is the son of
Mr. Li Baotian. He is the director and the general manager of Tianbao
Real Estate Group. Mr. Li Yaruixin joined Tianbao Construction Group
as an officer of planning department in June 2007. From July 2009 to
June 2010, he served as vice manager of Tianbao Real Estate Group.
He has been the director and general manager of Zhangbei Tianbao
Henggi Property since October 2013, the director of Zhuozhou City
Mingyang Property since June 2016 and the director and manager
of Chengdu Tianbao Property Development since April 2018. Mr. Li
Yaruixin has over 15 years of experience in construction industry. He
has been a director of Hebei Zhuozhou Agricultural Commercial Bank
Co., Ltd (G b & M B & 7 2 R 1T IR 40 B PR 2 §]) since June 19, 2017.

Mr. Li Yaruixin was a member and standing committee member
of the Zhuozhou City 8th Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference (BB FE M T ENEZEEZ8 K ¥ %), currently serves
as the 13th committee member of Hebei Provincial of the CPPCC and
a representative of the 16th People's Congress, Baoding City (1R &
mETAEARARRKXENRR). In December 2021, he was engaged
as a financial expert by Hebei Province Housing and Property
Development Industry Association (5] it & 1 & £ & #h &= 1 ).
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In 2005, Mr. Li Yaruixin was awarded as the New Long March Pioneer
of Zhuozhou City (3% M ™ ¥ & it 28 & F) by the Zhuozhou Committee
of Youth League of China (W EIHEXTEZFFEFEMT ZEE T).
In 2012, he was awarded as the Excellent Committee Member of
Zhuozhou City (3% /N T {8 55 & ¥ Z &) by Zhuozhou Youth Federation
(FEMH S FEBA). In 2013, he was conferred as the Outstanding
Communist Youth League member of Hebei Province (i it & 18 5 &
& E#® IB) by the Hebei Committee of Youth League of China (7 B &
EXZ5FEMtEZEE). In 2014, he was named as the Model
Worker of 2011-2012 (2011 Z 20124 [E % &) #& #i) by the People’s
Government of Zhuozhou City (& M ™ A K B ). In April 2019, he
was awarded as the excellent enterprise manager in Construction
Industry in Hebei Province of 2018 Q018 E EN Lt ZE B E£BE X%
& 1% %) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (] 4t & 2
F X E). In December 2019, he was awarded as an individual with
outstanding contribution to the property industry ini Hebei Province
of 2019 019F E AL EFE M E T %X 5 E B A). In December
2020, he was awarded as the Individual for Special Contribution to
the Fight against New Coronary Pneumonia in Baoding (R & T #1 £
35S B & & 1% 45 % & Bt 8 A) by the Baoding Municipal Committee
of Jiusan Society (h = 2 R & T & & §). On January 30, 2021,
he was awarded as the outstanding member of the Zhuozhou City
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of 2020 (2020
FEFMTE S B ZEE) by the Zhuozhou City Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (B % % M ™ & & ).

Mr. Li Yaruixin obtained the graduation certificate from Hebei
Agricultural University (O] 3t £ 2 X 2) majoring in urban planning (3
##7 £l) in June 2007, and he was admitted to the degree of Master
of Business Administration by Business School of Netherlands,
which is a part-time programme taught in China, in September 2015.
Mr. Li Yaruixin was qualified as a structural engineer (& # L2
Ef) in December 2014 and as a municipal engineer (7 B T 2 £f) in
December 2016 by the Office of the Leading Group for Professional
Title Reforms in Hebei Province (5] &t Z B B ok £ B & ) H I 2
%), and passed the qualification evaluation of senior professional
technical position as an engineer of construction (B £ T 2 fl 5 &
=¥ T B 5 {E B & 4% 57 28 ) organized by the Office of the Leading
Group for Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (51 4t & B %8
MEEENHEP D E) in December 2021,
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Ms. Wang Huijie (E& &R & *), aged 54, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Ms. Wang was appointed as an
executive Director on April 17, 2019. She is the secretary of the Party
Committee and union president of Tianbao Construction Group.
Ms. Wang joined Tianbao Construction Group as the union president
and deputy secretary of the Party Branch in January 2001. She was a
deputy secretary of the Party Branch of Tianbao Construction Group
from January 2001 to October 2006, a deputy secretary of General
Party Branch of Tianbao Construction Group from October 2006 to
April 2009, and a deputy secretary of the Party Committee of Tianbao
Construction Group from April 2009 to January 2018.

Ms. Wang is a representative of the 12th Party Congress, Baoding
Cty R E ™ % + = X 2 R & X &), a representative of the 8th
Party Congress, Zhuozhou City (&% M @ 88 N X E £ & R XK), a
member of Zhuozhou City 8th Chinese People Political Consultative
Conference (3% /N ™ B 1% 25 /\ J|& & &), an executive member of the
Women’s Federation of Zhuozhou (& /N T # B # Z). In July 2021,
she was engaged by China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management (fF B it T 7 ¥ & 2 1% &) as an evaluation expert for
the Party building of engineering construction enterprises (L 2 &
RO EERIEFEHR), and was engaged by the Construction
Association in Hebei Province (51 b & 2 5 ¥ 1 &) as a construction
industry expert (Party building) of Hebei Province (it ¥ 2 £ %=
R (E K ER)). In August 2022, Ms. Wang was appointed by China
Association of Construction Enterprise Management as a culture
construction expert of engineering construction enterprises for a
three-year term.
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In 2006, Ms. Wang was accredited as a Construction and Installation
Flag Bearer of 2004-2005 (2004 Z2005F E 4 EE R ALIE F) by the
Baoding City General Workers’ Union ({f € T # T &). From 2006 to
2016, she was awarded as the Excellent Worker of Workers’ Union
(EF T € I1%) by the Zhuozhou City General Workers’ Union (3%
JN T # T &) for 11 consecutive years. In 2007, she was awarded as
the Advanced Female Worker in Hebei Province (CAldt & £ ¥ 28 T
T #£4) by the General Workers’ Union in Hebei Province (i 4t & #2
I &).In 2011, she was awarded as the Model Worker of Baoding
(IR E T & B # #i) by the People’s Government of Baoding (#& &
A K B ). In 2013, she was awarded as the National Outstanding
Worker of the Labor Union (2 B8 % I & I /£ %) by the All-China
Federation of Trade Unions ( # % B # T &). In 2014, she was
awarded as the Model Worker of Hebei Province (3 dt & % &) 4 &)
by the People’s Government of Hebei Province (5] &t & A R B ).
In 2016, she was awarded as the National May 1st Labor Medal (&
Bl & — % B 4€ &) by All-China Federation of Trade Unions (4 # &
Bl #4 T ). In December 2018, she was awarded as the Excellent
Worker of Workers’ Union ({5 T & I /£ &) by the General Workers’
Union of Hebei Province (A1 dt & # T &). In March 2019, she was
awarded as the March 8th Flag Bearer of Baoding City (R & ™ = /\
4 & F) by the Women’s Federation of Baoding City (1% & ™ /& #).
In June 2019, she was awarded as one of the “Top 1,000 Secretaries
of Party Branch” of Hebei Province (i 4t &“F & #F & £”) by the
Organisation Department of the Hebei Provincial Party Committee of
the Communist Party of China (7 #5174t & % 48 4 2B). In March 2022,
she was awarded the title of Female Entrepreneur in the Property
Service Industry of Hebei Province in 2022 by the Hebei Property
Management Industry Association.

Ms. Wang graduated from Huabei Petroleum College of Finance and
Economics (Z 4t A i 8 £ 2 1) with a diploma majoring in marketing
through distance learning in July 1998 and she was qualified as an
Intermediate Policy Analyst (7 &% Bt T &) in April 2016.
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Mr. Zang Lin (# & 5% %), aged 43, is an executive Director and vice
president of the Group. Mr. Zang was appointed as an executive
Director on April 17, 2019. Mr. Zang joined Tianbao Construction
Group in October 1999 and served various positions in Tianbao
Construction Group, including manager of technical and quality
department from October 1999 to June 2005 and standing vice
manager from June 2005 to March 2010. He has been the vice
general manager of Tianbao Construction Group since March 2010,
director of Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. since March 2019
and manager and executive director of Zhangjiakou Tianbao Plaza
Commercial Management Co., Ltd. GRER O A RESHEXEEEFTR
‘~x |]) since November 2019. He has over 23 years of experience in
construction industry.

Mr. Zang is a member of the Zhangbei County 15th and 16th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (F B A R BUAH B 2 &
Rk %+ SEZ B E) and a representative of the 18th People’s
Congress, Zhangbei County (Rt SZE+ NNEARKREXRA®).

In 2008, Mr. Zang was awarded as the Constructor of Chinese
Characteristic Socialism (FE &8t 8T &X E X E R &) by the
United Front Work Department of Zhuozhou City of China (/ S
M ™ Z # & ) and the Federation of Industry and Commerce of
Zhuozhou City (F M T T & £ # 4 €). In 2009, he was awarded as
the Excellent Worker for Management of Construction Engineering,
Economy and Technology in Baoding City (RE T EFEZIREL
& 1T & T 4E &) by Construction Association in Baoding City (1%
EMEEEWE). In 2015, he was the project manager of Zhuozhou
107 National Road and Connection Line Transformation Project (3%
MTIO7TE B EEEFE KR E
the outstanding construction of Hebei Province with Anji Cup for
Construction Engineering of Hebei Province in 2015 (2015 & E i it &
# % I 2 E M) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province
Cude BB L ZHE). In 2017, he was awarded as the Outstanding
Project Manager of the Construction Enterprises of China (% B £ 5&
# % EFEE L E) by China Construction Industry Association (1
ElZ £ £1%E). In 2018 and 2020, he was awarded as the outstanding
project manager in construction industry in Hebei Province of 2017
and 2019 (2017 F E R2019F EA L ¥ 2 R X EFHE LE) by the
Construction Association in Hebei Province (Gl dt # 2 £ 21 ). In
December 2021, he was awarded as an individual with outstanding
contribution to the property industry of 2021 2021 £ EE i E 1T £ %
i & &k 18 A) by Hebei Province Housing and Property Development
Industry Association (i 4t & X £ B = th & £ H =).

18 H) and such project was awarded
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREERE

Mr. Zang passed the Self-taught Higher Education and Examination
(BE%#% B 8 22£:&) of Engineering of Industrial and Civil Buildings
(T HERHMAEZEIR)and was approved for graduation by Hebei
Agricultural University (O 3t 2 2 X 2£) in June 1999. He obtained the
graduation certificate on Adult Higher Education program (X A & &
# &) majoring in Civil Engineering (£ /x T #2) from Hebei University
(57 4& K £) via distance learning in January 2017. He was qualified
as an engineer in architectural engineering (£ % T & I #& £0) in
November 2013 by the Office of the Leading Group for Professional
Title Reforms in Hebei Province Tt E BB X EEE N NAEAR QX E).
He was qualified as a senior engineer in civil engineering technology
(EARBEIRBEM B MR IREN in December 2019 by the Office of
the Leading Group for Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (A
LTEBBREERENEBRQE).

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Xu (FEM % %), aged 48, is an independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as our independent non-executive
Director on June 25, 2019. Mr. Li Xu is primarily responsible for
providing independent advice on the operations and management of
the Group.

Mr. Li Xu was a financial analyst of Lucent Technologies Inc., a
company which was formerly listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
in 1999. Prior to joining the University of Hong Kong, he served as an
assistant professor of Lehigh University in the U.S. from August 2010
to August 2012 and was the assistant professor of the University of
Texas at Dallas in the U.S. from August 2004 to August 2010. He
has been the associate professor of the Faculty of Business and
Economics at the University of Hong Kong since July 2012, where
he was mainly involved in imparting practical knowledge in the
commercial world during the teaching of accounting and financial
management courses. He is currently the program director of
executive master of business administration offered by the University
of Hong Kong where he is responsible for project management and
promoting accounting, business and finance education towards the
development of the business and finance profession and human
capital.

Mr. Li Xu has been an independent non-executive Director of
China Kangda Food Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 834) and on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (stock code: P74), since August 24, 2020.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Xu has become a member of the American Accounting
Association since September 2002. Mr. Li Xu has obtained the
Certified Financial Analyst (CFA) qualification from the Association for
Investment Management and Research, now known as CFA Institute,
since October 2003.

Mr. Li Xu received a bachelor’s degree in Economics (International
Business Management profession) from the University of International
Business and Economics in Beijing (dt R § N & E & 5 K &) in
July 1997, a master degree in Finance from the Boston College in
December 1998 and a degree of doctor of philosophy in accounting
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s Sloan School of
Management in June 2004.

Mr. Li Qingxu (ZEF B % %), aged 67, is an independent
non-executive Director. Mr. Li Qingxu was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on June 25, 2019. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of the Group.

Mr. Li Qingxu served in the People’s Liberation Army from December
1973 to March 1997. He worked as the director of the general
office (3 2 Z % 1£) of China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management ( B & T & ¥ & 2 # &) from August 1997 to April
2009. He worked as the deputy secretary of China Association of
Construction Enterprise Management (ff Bl f T & ¥ & 2 # 8)
from April 2009 to April 2015. He has been the vice president, the
head of commission of science and technology and the head of
informatisation committee of China Association of Construction
Enterprise Management (4 Bl i T 1 % & # 1 &) since April 2015.

Mr. Li Qingxu graduated from the People’s Liberation Army Armored
Force Engineering Institute (FE AR K FEM M EHL R ZH T2 0k)
with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in May 1982.

Mr. Hou Liang (& 5 5 %), aged 66, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hou Liang was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on October 21, 2022. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations
and management of the Group. He has approximately 35 years of
management experience in government departments.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREERE

Mr. Hou Liang served as: the secretary of the Committee of Youth
League of Daoyindi Town of Kangbao County (R R ZEFit A HEE
£ &2) since July 1982; the deputy director of Zhangjiakou Coal Bureau
GExOmE xR FERFR) since October 1993; the deputy mayor and
a member of the Party group of Zhangjiakou Municipal Government (&
ROmHBAREHEREHMKE) since June 2001; the deputy secretary
of Zhangjiakou Municipal Committee (3R % O ™ Z 8| £ i2), the dean
of Zhangjiakou Municipal School of Administration (71 1T B 2 Bz bz &)
and a member of Council of Party School of Zhangjiakou Municipal
Committee (1 Z £ & & #% Z 8) since October 2010; the deputy
secretary of Zhangjiakou Municipal Committee, the mayor and the
secretary of the Party group of Zhangjiakou Municipal Government
CREEXOTZRIER BATRKREAZERD) since February 2012; and
the secretary of Zhangjiakou Municipal Committee ({RKX O T & £ i2)
since August 2015. Mr. Hou did not hold any position in the Party and
government after his retirement from the secretary of Zhangjiakou
Municipal Committee since February 2017.

Mr. Hou Liang graduated from on-the-job postgraduate class of
Economics and Management in the Party School of Hebei Provincial
Committee, with a postgraduate degree and a master’s degree in law.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management and operation of our business.

Our executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Baotian, Ms. Shen Lifeng,
Ms. Wang Xinling, Mr. Li Yaruixin, Ms. Wang Huijie and Mr. Zang Lin,
concurrently hold senior management positions in the Group. For
each of their biographies, please refer to the section above.

Mr. Li Guodong (Z= Bl # % %), aged 38, is the vice president of the
Group and deputy general manager of Tianbao Construction Group.
Mr. Li Guodong joined Tianbao Construction Group in February 2004
and served various positions in Tianbao Construction Group, including
as the officer of safety and environmental protection department
from February 2004 to February 2005 and as the manager of safety
and environmental protection department from February 2005 to
February 2011. He has been the deputy general manager of Tianbao
Construction Group since February 2011. Mr. Li Guodong has over 18
years of experience in safety and environmental protection field.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

In July 2021, Mr. Li Guodong was engaged by the Construction
Association in Hebei Province (5[ dt & 2 £ # 1% &) as a construction
industry expert of Hebei Province (Sl it & & £ £ H x).

In 2011, Mr. Li Guodong was awarded as the excellent worker for
management of construction engineering projects of Baoding City
(REMEFTERIREEE EE I{EE) by Construction Association
in Baoding City (/R & ™ & £ # 1% &). In 2011, he was awarded as
the excellent manager (promoter) of group activity for engineering
construction quality management in Hebei Province of 2010 (20104
ETLEIREREEZEEE NATHEFTEEE (HEE)) by the
Construction Association in Hebei Province (5] 1t & 2 £ % it =).
In 2013, he was awarded as the advanced worker for engineering
construction quality management in Hebei Province of 2012 (2012
FENLEBEIREREEEHE %L E I E) Dby the Construction
Association in Hebei Province (JA1 4t & # % % 1 &). In 2014, he
was awarded as the Excellent Enterprise Manager in Construction
Industry in Hebei Province of 2013 Q013 EE Nt BB L X BEF ¥
& I %) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (5] 4t &
EEEWE) In 2015 and 2016, he was awarded as the outstanding
project manager in construction industry in Hebei Province of 2014
and 2015 2014 F ER2015F E Nt B R ELFEFEE L&) by the
Construction Association in Hebei Province (Gl dt Z# B £ £ 1# ). In
2017, he was awarded as the outstanding project manager of the
construction enterprises of China (2 EIZ2E £ (B FHEB KL HE) by
China Construction Industry Association (F Bl & £ 2 1% ). In 2019,
he was awarded as the outstanding project manager in construction
industry in Hebei Province of 2018 (2018 £ E Nt E 2 L X EF B
B & 1) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (i it &
#ZEFE ). In May 2019, he was awarded as the Hebei Province
Excellent Communist Youth League Cadre of 2018 (20184 [E o it
BEFHEEHIEIE) by the Hebei Committee of Youth League
(#£ & B A 4t & Z). In May 2020, he was awarded as the National
Excellent Communist Youth League Cadre (2 Bl & & & & B & )
by the Central Committee of the Communist Youth League (% &
A 52). In January 2021, he was named as the Advanced Individual in
Emergency Management and Safety Production in Hebei Province (3]
tEESEEEZT L EKE@EA) by the Emergency Management
and Work Safety Association of Hebei Province (Tt ¥ B2 E B H %
THEEBSE).
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Mr. Li Guodong has completed the Executive Business Administration
Studies Course (& & I & & = 3% 12 #f 1§ ¥f) held by the School of
Continuing Education, Tsinghua University (B £ K 2 # B H 5 &2
Bz) in November 2011 and completed the Adult Higher Education
program (B A & % % &) majoring in engineering management of
Hebei Construction Engineering College (3] 4t # £ T 72 £ Bx) via
distance learning in January 2013.

Mr. Li Guodong obtained the registration Certificate of Second Grade
Constructor (= # 3 % AF & ffit &% &) issued by the Department of
Development of Hebei Province (5] dt & # 5% E&) in March 2008. He
was qualified as a senior engineer of architectural engineering from
the Office of the Leading Group for Professional Title Reforms in
Hebei Province Gt B Wi fE S £ B E /N H 3 2 =) in December 2016.

Mr. Yang Yanqing (¥ 8 % % &), aged 41, is the vice president of
the Group and deputy general manager of Tianbao Construction
Group. He joined Tianbao Construction Group in June 2006 and
served various positions in Tianbao Construction Group, including
as assistant to chairman from September 2006 to June 2014 and
the project manager from June 2014 to February 2017. He has
been a deputy general manager of Tianbao Construction Group
since February 2017. Mr. Yang has over 16 years of experience in
construction industry.

Mr. Yang Yanqging was engaged as an expert of Hebei Province BIM
Technical Expert Committee i1 dt #BIM H i ERZ & &) in 2020.
In April 2021, he was engaged by China Association of Construction
Enterprise Management (4 Bl it T > % ¥ #} &) as a scientific and
technological expert of China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management. He has been the vice president of the Supply Chain
Branch of the Construction Association in Hebei Province (3 it & &
FEHEHEES F) since May 2021. In June 2021, he was engaged
by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (i 4t & i ££ ¥ # &)

as a construction industry expert of Hebei Province.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

In 2017 and 2018, Mr. Yang was awarded as the outstanding project
manager in construction industry in Hebei Province of years 2016
and 2017 2016 F E R2017F EN Lt B Z L X B F 1B B £ H) by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (5] 4t & 2 £ % 1%
&). In 2017, he was awarded as the outstanding leader of the quality
management group of construction of 2017 Q017 E I 2 &R &
2 EHE /DMK E =M% EE) by China Association of Construction
Enterprise Management (1 Bl jE T 4 % & ¥ % =). In April 2019, he
was awarded as the outstanding leader of the quality management
group of construction in Hebei Province of 2018 (20185 E i it
EIRERE=ERE /AT = %8 E #E) by the Building and
Construction Professional Committee under the Quality Association
of Hebei Province (Tt E B EHEELHEE I HEXZER), and as
the outstanding project manager in construction industry in Hebei
Province of year 2018 2018 F E At B E £ X B F1H B £ ) by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (5] 4t & 2 £ % 1%
&). In June 2019, he was awarded as the outstanding leader of
the quality management group in Hebei Province of 2019 (2019
MtEEEEE/)HEESH E M EEE) by Hebei Administration for
Market Regulation ;i dt & T 15 B & & # /) and other entities. In
April 2020, he won the Excellence Award in the Building Decoration
BIM Competition (3 £ # #iBIM X & {8 5 #) organised by China
Building Decoration Association (7 Bl £ 5 £ &7 i ). In July 2020,
he was awarded as the 2019 Hebei Province Construction Industry
Excellent Chief Engineer 019F EN t H R L EEF L TRHM) by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (G it & B £ {7 =).
In September 2020, he was awarded as the outstanding leader of the
quality management group in Hebei Province of 2020 (2020 £ ;i 4t &
EEEE/NATHEMELEE).

Mr. Yang graduated from Hebei University (A 3t X ) with a bachelor
degree in engineering mechanics in June 2006 and was awarded
as Received the Master of Business Administration degree from
China University of Geosciences in September 2022. He obtained
the Certificate of Registration of Constructor issued by the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China (4 B 1 & #1 #
4B 32 3% =B) in September 2013. He was qualified as an engineer of
architectural engineering from the Office of the Leading Group for
Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (GAl 4t & B # 2 £ @ E /)
# 3t X ) in December 2014. He has been a part-time postgraduate
of the business administration profession in China University of
Geosciences (¥ i B K E) from September 2019 and expects
to graduate in June 2022. He was qualified as a senior engineer in
civil engineering technology by the Office of the Leading Group for
Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (GAl 4t & B # 2 £ @ E /)
# ¥ 2 Z) on December 20, 2019.
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Ms. Liu Dandan (2818 & %), aged 34, was appointed as the chief
financial officer on April 17, 2019. Ms. Liu is primarily responsible for
overall financial and fund management of the Group.

Ms. Liu joined the Group in November 2012 and served various
positions, including as officer of finance department of Zhangbei
branch of Tianbao Construction Group from November 2012 to
June 2013, as finance manager of Zhangbei branch of Tianbao
Construction Group from June 2013 to November 2014 and as
finance manager of Zhangbei branch of Tianbao Real Estate Group
from December 2014 to October 2018. She has been the manager of
finance and monitoring department of Tianbao Construction Group
since November 2018.

In March 2020, Ms. Liu was awarded the March 8th Flag Bearer of
Zhuozhou City of 2019 (20195 E & M m = N\ AL i€ F) by Women’s
Federation of Zhuozhou (F M ™ & Z B & 2).

Ms. Liu obtained a junior college graduation certificate in accountancy
from Hebei Finance University (A &t € & £ F%) in June 2011. She
graduated with a bachelor’s degree in construction management in
Hebei University of Architecture (3 3t # 58 T 2 2 fz) through distance
learning in June 2019. She obtained a bachelor degree in financial
management from Hebei University of Science and Technology (5] it
£ K 2) through distance learning in June 2020.

Ms. Liu has passed all subjects under the futures qualification
examination of the China Futures Association (Bl # & # 1% &) and
securities qualification examination of the Securities Association of
China (R El & % %1% =€) in May 2011 and March 2014, respectively.
Ms. Liu was accredited as a certified public accountant by The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (¥ Bl 5% f} & 5t &7 17 )
in April 2016. She obtained her intermediate accountant qualification
from the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC
(R B ADERMMEERE ) in September 2016 and tax advisor
qualification issued by The China Certified Tax Agents Association (4
B 5% i B 7% B0 175 €) in November 2017. She was qualified as a First
Grade Constructor (— #& # # Ef) by the Ministry of Human Resources
and Social Security of the PRC in September 2021. In 2021, she
passed the National Technical Advanced Qualification Examination
for Accounting Major (2Bl & it E £ K i & R & & = H). In 2022,
she passed the Senior Management Accountant Examination of the
National Association of Chief Financial Officers.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Liu Tsz Kit (B F# % %), aged 43, was appointed as the
company secretary of our Company on October 21, 2022.

Mr. Liu joined the Company in February 2020 as the chief investment
officer. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since 2010 and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2006. Before joining
the Company, he worked in an international audit firm for eight years
and a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange for
ten years, where his last position was financial controller. He has over
20 years’ working experience in finance management in Hong Kong
and China.

Mr. Liu holds a bachelor’s degree with honours in Accounting from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

The Board hereby presents the Shareholders with the Group’s annual
report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

The Company is an exempted company incorporated under the laws
of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 16, 2018.
The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on November 11, 2019.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group is a property developer and construction company in
Zhuozhou, a city in Hebei Province, China. The Group operates
through property development and construction contracting
businesses. For property development business, the Group engages
in development and sales of residential properties, and leasing and
operation of an investment property. For construction contracting
business, the Group provides construction contracting services
mainly as a general contractor for building construction projects,
infrastructure construction projects, and industrial and commercial
construction projects.

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended December 31, 2022 and
financial position as at December 31, 2022 are set out on pages 153
to 156 in the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND PAYMENT

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2022 (for the year ended December 31,
2021: nil).

There was no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company will hold the Annual General Meeting of the Company
at 9:00 a.m. on May 25, 2023.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from May 22, 2023 to May 25, 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. All
transfer documents of the Company accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of
the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on May 19, 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, there have not been any movements in the share
capital of the Company.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 158 in this Annual Report.
As at December 31, 2022, the distributable reserves of the
Company available for distribution amounted to approximately
RMB255,196,000.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group made
charitable and other donations of approximately RMB520,000.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group’s financial summary for the last five financial years is set
out on pages 292 to 293 of this Annual Report.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware that the Shareholders are entitled to any
tax relief by holding the Company’s securities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this Annual
Report, during the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date
of this Annual Report, the Group did not have any material acquisition
and disposal of subsidiaries and associates.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCE COSTS

Details of the Group’s capitalised interest and other borrowing cost
during the Year are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year ended December
31, 2022 are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as of December 31, 2022 are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company’s Shares in public
hands are no less than 25% of the entire share capital in issue from
January 1, 2022 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

(a)

(b)

Business Review for the Year

A review of the business of the Group during the Year, a
discussion on the Group’s future business development
and an analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year
using financial key performance indicators are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Report
— Subsequent Events” in this Annual Report, the Group has
no significant events after the end of the financial year ended
December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The laws and regulations governing the environmental
requirements for the construction industry property
development in China include the Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC ({ #f # A R # M B & & R #& £ )), the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution Law of the
PRC (FRZEARHLFE KRS B E)), the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution Law of the PRC (K # AR £ M E
7K 55 $2Bh 34 3%)), the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste Law of the PRC ({ # # A R & #I
[E B2 B ¥ 55 2 1R 5 By JA 3£ )), the Construction Law of the
PRC ({(f ZE AR £ M B & %&£ 7£)), the Prevention and Control
of Noise Pollution Law of the PRC (K E# A R £ M E & 5
12 B 55 3 Bh 34 3% )), the Environmental Impact Assessment
Law of the PRC (R E AR X M E R ZE L EFE L)), the
Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection for
Development Projects (& EH B R E R & E & & #)) and
the Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection
for Acceptance Examination Upon Completion of Buildings
(EREERAIRERERWEEWE)). Pursuant to these
laws and regulations, depending on the impact of the project
on the environment, an environmental impact study report,
an environmental impact analysis table or an environmental
impact registration form shall be submitted by a developer
before the relevant authorities will grant approval for the
commencement of construction of the property development
projects. In addition, upon completion of the property
development, the relevant environmental authorities will also
inspect the property to ensure compliance with the applicable
environmental standards and regulations before the property
can be delivered to the purchasers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

(c)

The Group has established and implemented an environmental
compliance system to specify various environmental
protection procedures and measures and ensure the Group’s
compliance with international standards and the relevant PRC
laws and regulations. The Group has adopted corresponding
environmental protection measures to ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including noise control and
air pollution control, as well as solid waste and waste water
treatment.

The Group maintains 1SO14001:2015 (environmental
management standards published by the International
Organisation for Standardisation) Certifications for the
construction contracting business to ensure that the Group
adopts appropriate environmental management measures.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group did
not violate any national or local environmental laws and
regulations that would materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business operations. The Group was not subject
to any material environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or
disciplinary actions during the same period.

Social Responsibility

The Group has entered into employment contracts with
its employees and maintains social insurance for them in
accordance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations. The
Group maintains insurance (including group personal accident
insurance and personal injury insurance) for the on-site staff of
its construction projects in accordance with the relevant PRC
laws and regulations.

All employees of the Group are entitled to benefits of the
Group including paid leaves, marriage leaves and maternity
leaves.
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(d)

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has in place stringent internal safety policies to
ensure our safe operations and ensure our compliance with
relevant PRC laws and regulations. The Group’s production
safety department is responsible for overseeing the Company’s
compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations, conducting
regular reviews and inspections of our safety performance,
reviewing the circumstances of any material accidents, and
ensuring that the Group maintains the necessary licenses,
approvals and permits to operate. The Group maintains GB/
T28001-2011 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System Certificates (a recommended standard in China for
an occupational health and safety management system) for
our construction contracting business, and conducts regular
assessment and safety inspection to continuously improve the
working environment and safeguard the health of employees.

The Group first obtained the certificate for our construction
contracting business on December 15, 2011 and renewed such
certificate on December 14, 2018. The Group also organizes
accident prevention and management training sessions for
employees on a regular basis and for new employees on an as
needed basis. The Group implements an occupational health
and safety management system. The Group’s production
safety department is responsible for formulating health and
safety standards. The Group’s project management teams
ensure that our subcontracted workers are adequately trained
and have received the requisite licenses and certificates to
perform special operations. The Group’s project management
teams also address safety issues before commencing each
work day, and conduct weekly safety inspections of the
Group’s operations and those of the Group’s subcontractors.

(d)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

(e)

The Group’s occupational health and safety management
system includes a reporting and record system for unsafe
conditions at our construction sites. All accidents occurred
within the Group must be immediately reported to the
responsible project management team, who reports the
accident to our branch office and production safety
department. Personnel from the responsible project
management team are required to arrive on site immediately
to oversee the handling of the accident. Any accident that
resulted in any fatalities or major injuries will be promptly
reported to the production safety department. The Group will
report the accident to the relevant government authority as
required by PRC laws and regulations and cooperate with
local government authorities to investigate such accident.

The Board confirms that, during the year ended December 31,
2022, neither did the Group nor its subcontractors have any
material workplace accidents and fatalities with respect to our
construction contracting projects and property development
projects, and the Group had not been subject to any fines,
public criticism or warnings in relation to any incidents relating
the safety of workers.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations which have a significant
impact to the Group. As at the date of this Annual Report,
except as disclosed in the Annual Report, the Group complied
with, in all material respects, all the relevant and applicable
PRC laws and regulations governing the business of property
development and management and the Group has obtained all
licenses, permits and certificates for the purpose of operating
its business.
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(f) Relationship with Stakeholders

(1)

2

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes that its long-term growth depends
on the expertise and experience of its employees.
The Group mainly recruits through the labor market,
recruitment fairs and on-campus recruitment. The
Group has established a comprehensive training system
for our employees based on their responsibilities,
covering professional knowledge, technical, operational
and managerial skills, corporate culture, internal control
and other areas. Such programs are designed to foster
career development for employees and thus to invest in
the future of the Group’s human resources.

The Group offers its employees salaries and make
contributions to social insurance fund, including
pension, medical, unemployment, maternity and
occupational injury insurance, and housing provident
fund for employees.

The Group contracts with labor unions that protect
employees’ rights, help fulfill economic objectives
of the Group, encourage employee participation
in management decisions and assist the Group in
mediating disputes with union members. The labor
unions have established branches at the Group’s
operating units. The Group did not experience any
material labor dispute as of December 31, 2022.

Relationship with Subcontractors or Suppliers

The Group also strives to develop strategic business
relationship and long-term business partnership with its
subcontractors or suppliers to ensure resource quality
and stable development of the Group’s business.
The Group reinforces business partnerships with its
subcontractors through active communication such as
regular meetings with its suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

(3) Relationship with Customers

The Group recognizes the importance of maintaining
good relationship with its customers and provides
products to meet the needs and requirements of the
customers. The Group communicates with its customers
to understand the changes of product preference in the
market, which enables the Group to actively meet the
market demand, thereby improving the relationship with
its customers. The Group strives to enhance customer
satisfaction with our property development projects
through fine construction workmanship and strict
quality control measures.

(9) Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s business is subject to extensive governmental
regulation and, in particular, the Group is sensitive to policy
changes related to the PRC property development industry
and construction industry, including those that affect the
supply of land for property development, project financing and
taxation, as well as local government budgets and the policies
regarding regulation and control of the property market.
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Principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include

but are not limited to:

(i)

The Group’s business operation is subject to PRC
laws and regulations and, in particular, the Group is
sensitive to policy changes related to the PRC property
development industry and construction industry,
including those that affect the supply of land for
property development, project financing and taxation,
as well as local government budgets and the policies
regarding regulation and control of the property
market. The Group cannot guarantee that the PRC
government will relax existing restrictive measures,
impose and enhance restrictive measures, or impose
other restrictive policies, regulations or measures in
the future. The existing and other future restrictive
measures may limit our access to capital, reduce
market demand for the Group’s products and increase
the Group’s finance costs, and any easing measures
introduced may also not be sufficient. If the Group fails
to adapt its operations to new policies, regulations and
measures that may come into effect from time to time,
or such policy changes negatively impact the Group’s
business, the Group’s financial condition, results
of operations and prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

The Group cannot guarantee that its internal control
measures will always be sufficient and effective. Certain
legal uncertainties in, and inconsistent interpretations
and enforcement of, current PRC laws and regulations
expose the Group to the risk of non-compliance. If
deemed non-compliant, the Group could be subject
to administrative or regulatory fines and penalties,
including the suspension or revocation of the
Group’s licenses, and the Group’s operations may be
hindered or halted, which could have a material and
adverse effect on the Group’s business and results of
operations. As the PRC legal system and the property
development and construction industries continue to
evolve, changes in the relevant laws and regulations
or in their interpretation or enforcement may also
make the Group exposed to the risk of the difficulty in
complying with the laws and regulations.
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(ii)

The Group will closely monitor relevant regulations
issued by the PRC government, and will try its best to
response by adopting appropriate strategies.

The Group’s business and prospects depend on
economic conditions and performance of property
market in the PRC. In particular, the Group has many
property projects at various stages of development
in Zhuozhou and Zhangjiakou, and the Company
plans to expand to cities in Beijing-Tianjin-Hebe
Region. As such, the Group’s business continues to
be heavily dependent on the property markets in such
areas. Such property markets may be affected by
local, regional, national and global factors, including
economic and financial development, speculative
activities in local markets, demand for and supply of
properties, availability of alternative investment choices
for property buyers, inflation, government policies,
interest rates and availability of capital. Any adverse
development in the overall property market of the PRC
or in the property markets of the cities in which the
Group has or expects to have business operations
may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. The
Group will closely monitor the sales position and adopt
strategies with flexibilities to cope with the risks.
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(iii)

The growth and success of the Group’s business
depend on its ability to continue acquiring land
reserves located in desirable locations at commercially
reasonable prices. The Group’s ability to acquire land
depends on a variety of factors that the Group cannot
control, such as general economic conditions, the
Group’s effectiveness in identifying and acquiring land
parcels suitable for development and the competition
for such land parcels. Rapid property development in
Zhuozhou and Zhangjiakou and other parts of Hebei
Province in recent years has resulted in a shortage in
the supply of undeveloped land in desirable locations
and increased land acquisition costs, which is one
of the largest components of the Group’s cost of
sales. Any increase in the Group’s land costs resulting
from shortages of supply or our inability to procure
land could have a material and adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. The Group will acquire
sufficient land reserves through various methods,
including merger and acquisition, public tender, auction
or listing-for-sale process, to control the availability of
land acquisition.

Fluctuations in the Group’s operating results may
be caused by other factors, including fluctuations in
expenses, such as land grant premium, development
costs, administrative expenses, and selling and
marketing expenses, and changes in market demand
for our properties. In addition, the cyclical PRC
property market affects the optimal timing for the
acquisition of land, the planning of development and
the sales of properties. This cyclicality, combined with
the lead time required for the completion of projects
and the sales of properties, means that the Group’s
results of operations relating to property development
activities may be susceptible to significant fluctuations
from period to period. Furthermore, the Group’s
property development projects may be delayed or
adversely affected by a combination of factors beyond
its control, which may in turn adversely affect revenue
recognition and consequently the cash flow and results
of operations, particularly for the property development
business.

(iii)
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(iv)

PRC law allows property developers to pre-sell
properties prior to their completion upon satisfaction of
certain requirements. The Group depends on cash flows
from the pre-sale of properties as an important source
of funding for its property projects. Under current
PRC laws and regulations, property developers must
fulfill certain conditions before they can commence
pre-sale of properties and the use of pre-sale proceeds
may be subject to certain limitations. The pre-sale
proceeds of properties may only be used to fund the
property development costs of the relevant projects.
There is no guarantee that the PRC government will
not adopt any restrictions to or will not abolish current
pre-sale practices. The future implementation of
any restrictions on the Group’s ability to pre-sell its
properties, including any requirements to increase the
amount of up-front expenditures the Group must incur
prior to obtaining a pre-sale permit, would extend the
time required for recovery of the Group’s capital outlay
and would force the Group to seek alternative means
to finance the various stages of the Group’s property
developments, including increasing borrowings, which
would in turn increase the Group’s interest payments.
This could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, cash flow, financial condition and
results of operations.

In addition, the Group may experience delays in the
completion of pre-sold property developments, in
which case the Group may be liable to purchasers for
their losses. Furthermore, pursuant to the pre-sale
agreements the Group enters into with our customers,
if a pre-sold property development is not delivered
on time, the purchaser may be entitled to damages. If
the delay extends beyond the contractually specified
period, the purchaser may terminate the pre-sale
agreement, reclaim the payment and claim damages in
accordance with the contract.
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Most purchasers of the Group’s properties apply
for bank borrowings and mortgages to fund their
purchases. In accordance with industry practice, banks
require the Group to guarantee mortgage loans taken
out by purchasers of the properties that the Group
develops. Typically, the Group guarantees the full value
of mortgage loans taken out by purchasers, as well as
accrued interest and penalties for defaults in mortgage
payments, up until the issuance of the relevant
property ownership certificates and the registration of
the mortgage in favor of the mortgagee bank. These
are contingent liabilities not reflected on the Group’s
balance sheets. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage
loan, the Group may be required to repurchase the
underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the
Group fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction
the underlying property and recover any additional
amount outstanding from the Group as the guarantor of
the mortgage loans. In line with industry practice, the
Group does not conduct any independent credit checks
on its customers and relies on the credit evaluations
conducted by the mortgage banks for such customers.

The Group normally receives progress payments
from its customers based on the site works done, or
milestone payments from its customers based upon
our achievement of key milestones of the project as
stipulated in the project contract. Furthermore, the
Group’s customers generally retain up to 5% of the
total contract sum as retention fees. The retention
fees are generally returned to the Group in full upon
expiry of the defects liability period if there are no
material quality issues with the Group’s works during
such period. In most of the Group’s construction
contracts, the defects liability period ranges from six
months to two years following the completion of the
construction contracting project, depending on the
type of construction work the Group undertakes. As
such, if the Group fails to achieve any key milestone
as stipulated in the project contract on time, the
Group will not receive any milestone payments until
it achieves such milestone, which may materially and
adversely affect the Group’s cash flows and financial
position. Should the customers fail in or delay in
making progress payments or milestone payments,
or in releasing retention fees, the Group may need to
recognize such default payment as bad debts and the
Group’s cash flow position and working capital may be
materially and adversely affected.

(v)

(vi)
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(vii)

The Group subcontracts certain of its construction
services from time to time. The Group conducts
regular quality inspections of its subcontractors’
work; however, the Group cannot guarantee the
performance and work quality of its construction
subcontractors as the Group may not be able to
monitor the operations of its subcontractors as directly
and efficiently as the Group does its own operations. If
a construction subcontractor fails to meet the Group’s
quality standards or breaches our subcontracting
agreement, and if the Group is unable to hire alternative
construction subcontractors in a timely manner or
on favorable terms, or at all, the Group’s operations
may be delayed, which could harm its reputation
and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, the
Group may be subject to additional costs if it is
required to hire alternative construction subcontractors,
which would lower the efficiency and profitability of the
Group’s operations.

In addition, the Group may be required to bear the
liability arising from any defects in its construction
subcontractors’ work and thus may be subject to
claims arising from any such defective work. The
Group may attempt to seek indemnity from the relevant
construction subcontractors in the event a liability
claim is brought against the Group with respect to
their performance, but the Group may be required to
compensate its customers before it is able to recover
such amounts. If the Group is unable to seek indemnity
from its construction subcontractors or the Group
remains uncompensated for a protracted period of
time, the Group may be required to bear significant
financial burdens, in which case the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected.
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(viii)

The Group operates heavily regulated businesses
that require the Group to obtain, maintain and renew
a number of licenses, qualifications, approvals and
permits including, but not limited to, qualification
certificates for property development enterprise and
construction contracting enterprise, land use rights
certificates, construction work planning permits,
construction works commencement permits, pre-sale
permits and completion certificates. The Group must
meet specific conditions in order for the government
authorities to issue or renew any certificates, licenses
or permits. Further, the Group is subject to regular
inspections, examinations, inquiries and audits, as
well as periodic and spot inspections by the relevant
governmental authorities, to maintain or renew such
licenses, qualifications and permits. The Group cannot
guarantee that it will be able to obtain, maintain or
renew the requisite licenses, qualifications and permits,
or comply with any new licensing requirements, if new
laws or regulations are promulgated or existing laws or
regulations are amended, which may subject the Group
to resulting penalties, limitations or costs and, in turn,
may have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Further, extensive government regulation and related
delays in seeking the requisite licenses, qualifications
and permits can significantly delay the introduction of
additional services or products, which could materially
and adversely affect the Group’s competitiveness.
Even if the Group does obtain the requisite licenses
qualifications and permits from the relevant authorities,
they may be granted on a limited basis or be subject to
modification of the Group’s services or products, which
could increase the Group’s operational costs.

(viii)
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OUTLOOK

Details of the future development of the Company’s business are set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report, respectively.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual Report,
the Board consists of nine Directors with details as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Baotian (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Shen Lifeng

Ms. Wang Xinling

Mr. Li Yaruixin

Ms. Wang Huijie

Mr. Zang Lin

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xu

Mr. Li Qingxu

Mr. Hou Liang (appointed on October 21, 2022)
Mr. Liu Kaixiang (resigned on October 21, 2022)

According to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which
a Director retires may fill the vacated office.

According to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Li
Baotian, Ms. Shen Lifeng and Mr. Li Qingxu will retire from the
directorships at the Annual General Meeting, and are eligible and will
offer themselves for re-election.
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According to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and shall be eligible for re-election.

According to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Hou
Liang, a Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy, will
hold office until the Annual General Meeting of the Company and be
eligible for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the Annual General Meeting
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the People’s
Government of Shenzhen Municipal as an external director of
Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co., Ltd. since
November 2021 and was appointed as an independent non-executive
director and has been re-designated as a non-executive director of
China South City Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1668) between June 16, 2022 and January 6,
20283 and since January 6, 2023, respectively. She has been elected
as the 13th committee member of Hebei Provincial of the CPPCC in
January 2023 (special inviter).

Mr. Li Yaruixin has been appointed by the Standing Committee of
Baoding Municipal People’s Congress as a representative supervisor
of Baoding Municipal People’s Congress on optimising the business
environment since May 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

On October 21, 2019, each of Mr. Li Baotian, Ms. Shen Lifeng,
Ms. Wang Xinling, Mr. Li Yaruixin, Ms. Wang Huijie and Mr. Zang Lin,
being our executive Directors, has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
date of signing contract and subject to renewal in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations. After communication between the management
of the Group and each of the executive Directors, pursuant to the
contents of the Executive Director’ Service Contracts, both parties
agreed to implement the renewal arrangement in accordance with the
original contract for a service period of three years.

Each of Mr. Li Xu, Mr. Liu Kaixiang and Mr. Li Qingxu, being our
independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on October 21, 2019. Each letter
of appointment is for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date. After communication between the management of the
Group with Mr. Li Xu and Mr. Li Qingxu respectively, pursuant to the
letter of appointment, both parties agreed to implement the renewal
arrangement in accordance with the original letter of appointment
for a service period of three years. Mr. Liu Kaixiang resigned as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from October 21,
2022. Mr. Hou Liang was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years on October 21, 2022. The letters
of appointment may be renewed in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be entered in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were
otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code under the Listing Rules, are
set out below:

Member/Associated
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Name of Director Group of Interest Shares! in the Company
*REBRBELF HELTFRE
EEns HBEEER i EaMHE X8 8= @#inaast
Mr. Li Baotian®@ the Company Interest in controlled 594,000,000 73.38%

corporation

FTREXE NN REZLEER
Notes:

(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) Mr. Li Baotian holds the entire interests in Jixiang International

Industrial Company Limited. Under the SFO, Mr. Li Baotian is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Jixiang International Industrial
Company Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be entered in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or which were otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Company, as of December 31, 2022, as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons, other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company, had an interest of 5% or more in
the Shares or underlying Shares:

FERERR X 2T R G K HER KGR
FHiEERRE

MADB A BE2022F12A31H L HAOKRRQ
ARBERFRYPERMNEIBHAETEFENTTH
Frigsk BREZERAQXAEKSITHRAEIN TIHAL
REOSEEROPHEES%R A L&

Number of
Ordinary Shares or Approximate
Securities Percentage of

of the Company Held Shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity (shares)" in the Company
FRiEHEF LT
BiEKROH HELFRE
BEREE & 7 EEHEB)O givask
Jixiang International Industrial Beneficial owner 594,000,000 73.38%
Company Limited®
ERBEREXERLF EREAA
Ms. Zhou Chunlan® Interest of spouse 594,000,000 73.38%

BE#EZLO BB ERE

Notes:
(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) Jixiang International Industrial Company Limited is wholly owned by
Mr. Li Baotian.

(3) Ms. Zhou Chunlan is the spouse of Mr. Li Baotian. Therefore, under the
SFO, Ms. Zhou Chunlan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in
which Mr. Li Baotian is interested.

Save as disclosed herein, as of December 31, 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any persons (other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or would be required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register required referred to therein.

88 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2022

Q) R 2RESIRER -

) EREREXERATHAFTRALLEZERESR -

(©)) BEMZTIRAZTRAEENEB-Eit REFSFR
HEGRY BEMZItHERRETRALEERE
SRR ERDTERES -

BRAEIEEEN BE2022F12A31B L ES
TAABEMAL(ESIARABZSTHRAERN)
REBEOIRAXABERDTPEERBESZRHER
PIDEEXVER 552 K% 320 BB 15k A [ A 1 B K B AR (=R
ZRBEFRPIEBHRAF ARBZFKEAFENE
R ERFKE -



ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES BY
DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no any
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were there
any such rights exercised by them. Also, there was no arrangement
to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries is a party that would enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of December 31, 2022, none of the Controlling Shareholders of the
Group or the Directors was engaged or had interest in any business,
apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business, which
would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Compliance with Non-Competition Undertakings
Deed of Non-Competition

To ensure that competition does not develop between the Company
and other business activities and/or interests of the Controlling
Shareholders (being Mr. Li Baotian and Jixiang International Industrial
Company Limited, which is wholly owned by Mr. Li Baotian), each
of our Controlling Shareholders (collectively, the “Covenantors” and
each, a “Covenantor”) has entered into a Deed of Non-competition
in favor of the Group on October 21, 2019, pursuant to which,
each of the Covenantors has, among other things, irrevocably and
unconditionally undertaken, jointly and severally, with the Company
that at any time during the Non-Competition Relevant Period (as
defined below), the Covenantor shall not, and shall procure that its/
his/her close associates (other than members of the Group) shall
not, directly or indirectly, carry on, engage in, invest in, participate
in, attempt to participate in, render any services to, provide any
financial support to or otherwise be involved in or interested in,
whether alone or jointly with another person and whether directly or
indirectly or on behalf of or to assist or act in concert with any other
person, any business or investment activities, whether in or outside
the PRC, which are the same as, similar to or in competition or likely
to be in competition with the business carried on or contemplated
to be carried on by any member of the Group from time to time (the
“Restricted Business”).
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Each of the Covenantors has also undertaken to refer, or to procure
the referral of, any investment or commercial opportunities relating to
any Restricted Business (“New Business Opportunities” and each, a
“New Business Opportunity”) to us (for ourselves and as trustee for
the benefit of each of our subsidiaries from time to time).

The relevant Covenantor shall be entitled to but shall not be obliged
to carry on, engage, invest, participate or be interested (economically
or otherwise) in the New Business Opportunity (whether individually
or jointly with another person and whether directly or indirectly or on
behalf of or to assist any other person) on the same, or less favorable,
terms and conditions in all material respects as set out in the Offer
Notice (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated October
30, 2019) if:

(i) it/he/she has received a written notice from us declining the
New Business Opportunity; or

(ii) it/he/she has not received any written notice from the
Company of its decision to pursue or decline the New
Business Opportunity within 30 business days from the
Company’s receipt of the Offer Notice, or if it/he/she has
extended the Offer Notice Period (as defined in the prospectus
of the Company dated October 30, 2019), within such other
period as agreed by it, in which case the Company shall be
deemed to have declined the New Business Opportunity.

If there is a change in the nature or proposal of the New Business
Opportunity pursued by the relevant Covenantor, it/he/she shall
refer the New Business Opportunity as revised and shall provide to
the Company details of all available information for the Company to
consider whether to pursue the New Business Opportunity as revised.

When considering whether or not to pursue any New Business
Opportunities, the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company will form their views based on a range of factors, including
but not limited to, the estimated profitability, investment value and
permits and approval requirements. The Covenantors, for themselves
and on behalf of their respective close associates (except any
members of the Group), have also acknowledged that the Company
may be required by the relevant laws, regulations and rules and
regulatory bodies to disclose, from time to time, information on the
New Business Opportunities, including but not limited to disclosure in
public announcements or annual reports of the Company its decisions
to pursue or decline the New Business Opportunities, and have
agreed to disclose to the extent necessary to comply with any such
requirements.
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For the purposes of the above, the “Non-Competition Relevant
Period” means the period commencing from the Listing Date of the
Company and shall expire on the earlier of (i) the date when the
Covenantors and any of their respective close associates, cease
to hold, or otherwise be interested in, beneficially in aggregate
whether directly or indirectly, 30% or more (or such other percentage
of shareholding as stipulated in the Listing Rules to constitute a
Controlling Shareholder) of the issued share capital of the Company
or (ii) the date on which our Shares cease to be listed on the Stock
Exchange (except for temporary suspension of trading of our Shares).

Annual Review

The Covenantors have confirmed that they did not refer, or to procure
the referral of, any investment or commercial opportunities relating
to the Restricted Business to the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2022.

The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the
Covenantors in respect of the compliance by them and their close
associates with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. Upon
receipt of confirmation letters from the Controlling Shareholders,
the independent non-executive Directors have conducted review
as part of the annual review procedures. The independent
non-executive Directors have assessed whether the Covenantors
and their close associates have complied with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition, and were satisfied that each of the
Covenantors has complied with its/his undertakings under the Deed
of Non-Competition during the year ended December 31, 2022.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of the
Company’s continuing connected transactions are as follows:

Zhuozhou Tianbao Construction is a company established in
China with limited liability and principally engaged in provision of
construction materials. Zhuozhou Tianbao Construction was owned
as to 70% by Mr. Li Baotian and 30% by Baoxin Industrial Co.,
Ltd. Baoxin Industrial Co., Ltd. was owned as to 80% by Ms. Zhou
Chunlan, the spouse of Mr. Li Baotian and 20% by Mr. Li Yaruixin, the
son of Mr. Li Baotian and an executive Director. Therefore, Zhuozhou
Tianbao Construction is an associate of Mr. Li Baotian (being a
Controlling Shareholder, Chairman of the Board, an executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer) and thus is a connected person of the
Company by virtue of Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules.
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2022 Construction Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement

On December 30, 2021, the Company entered into a construction
materials purchase framework agreement (the “2022 Construction
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement”) with Zhuozhou Tianbao
Construction for a period from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022,
pursuant to which Zhuozhou Tianbao Construction agreed to provide
construction materials, including but not limited to CL grid plates
and weldmesh, to the Group according to the separate agreements
in respect of the transactions to be entered into between the relevant
member of the Group and Zhuozhou Tianbao Construction from time
to time.

Annual Cap

The maximum annual amount payable by the Group to Zhuozhou
Tianbao Construction for the year ended December 31, 2022 in
relation to the purchase of construction materials under the 2022
Construction Materials Purchase Framework Agreement shall not
exceed RMB7,666,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,345,000).
For the year ended December 31, 2022, 1) based on the expected
progress of the Group’s Tianbao Jingbei Health City project located at
Huailai County in Zhangjiakou City, it is expected that approximately
12,800 sq.m. of CL grid plates and weldmesh will be needed during
the construction process, and the comprehensive unit price is
estimated to be approximately RMB160 per sq.m. meter based on
the prevailing market rates; 2) based on the expected progress of
Tianbao Smart Building Technology Park project located in Zhuozhou
City, it is expected that approximately 5,800 sq.m. of CL grid plates
and weldmesh will be needed during the construction process,
and the comprehensive unit price is estimated to be approximately
RMB156 per sg.m. based on the prevailing market rates; 3) based on
the expected progress of the Group’s Edelweiss City project located
at Yu County in Zhangjiakou City, it is expected that approximately
5,800 sg.m. of CL grid plates and weldmesh will be needed during the
construction process, and the comprehensive unit price is estimated
to be approximately RMB157 per sq.m. based on the prevailing
market rates; and 4) based on the expected progress of the Group’s
project located at Nanfanzhuang Village, Yuzhou Town, Yu County in
Zhangjiakou City, it is expected that 24,000 sq.m. of CL grid plates
and weldmesh will be needed during the construction process,
and the comprehensive unit price is estimated to be approximately
RMB158 per sg.m. based on the prevailing market rates. As such,
the maximum annual amount payable by the Group to Zhuozhou
Tianbao Construction for the purchase of construction materials has
been determined to be no more than RMB7,660,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$9,345,000).
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Due to the impact of the epidemic on the above expected projects,
the actual incurred amount in relation to the purchase of construction
materials under the 2022 Construction Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement by the Group from Zhuozhou Tianbao Construction for the
year ended December 31, 2022 was RMB Nil.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio under the Listing Rules
in respect of the annual cap is expected to be more than 0.1% but
less than 5%, the transactions under the 2022 Construction Materials
Purchase Framework Agreement shall be subject to the reporting,
annual review and announcement requirements but exempt from
circular and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the terms of the 2022 Construction Materials Purchase
Framework Agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated December 30, 2021.

According to the IFRSs, the transactions under the 2022 Construction
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement constitute connected
transactions of the Company, and the details of which are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Confirmation from the Auditor

According to the requirements of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules,
the Company has engaged Ernst & Young (“EY”) as its auditor to
report on the continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Based on the works performed, EY
has issued the letter to the Board confirming that, in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;
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(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the relevant annual cap as set by
the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company and its connected persons
did not enter into any other non-exempt connected transactions
during the Reporting Period.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions mentioned above and confirmed
that the transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of the business of the Group, on normal commercial terms or
better, and in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards, which includes
transactions that constitute continuing connected transactions for
which the requirements under the Listing Rules have been complied
with.

Save as aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-exempted
connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date
of this Annual Report.

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Related Party Transactions” as
disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements for the
Year constituted a discloseable non-exempted connected transaction
or a non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules.
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To the extent that the above “Related Party Transactions” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the Year.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2022 are disclosed in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above, no contract of significance was entered into
between the Company, or one of its subsidiaries, and any of its
Controlling Shareholders or their respective subsidiaries and no
contract of significance was entered into for the services provided to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in this Annual Report and in the
paragraphs headed “Directors’ Interests in Competing Business” and
“Continuing Connected Transactions” in this section, no Director or
Controlling Shareholder of the Company or entity associated with a
Director has any material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the Group’s
business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent companies were a party subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year ended December 31,
2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to Article 191 of the Articles of Association and subject
to Cayman Islands Company Law, the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty as a Director, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain
through their own dishonesty, wilful default or fraud. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors of the Group.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management members receive
compensation from the Company in the form of salaries, bonuses and
other benefits in kind such as contributions to pension plans.

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended December 31, 2022 as
well as information on the five highest paid individuals, please refer to
notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our Board will review and determine the remuneration and
compensation packages of the Directors and senior management and
will receive recommendation from our remuneration committee of the
Board (the “Remuneration Committee”) which will take into account
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Company.

None of the Directors had waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended December 31, 2022.

During the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The remuneration of the Group’s employees is mainly determined
based on prevailing market level of remuneration and the individual
performance and work experience of employees.

The remuneration policies of the executive Directors and senior
management of the Company are determined with reference to various
factors including (i) the Group’s actual operation; (ii) remuneration of
industry peers; (iii) position and duty of executive Directors; and (iv)
adjustment of organisational structure, and are reviewed annually in
order to offer a reasonable remuneration package to attract, retain
and motivate the Directors and senior management to serve the
Group. The fee of independent non-executive Directors is determined
with reference to their respective duty and responsibility in the
Company and is reviewed annually.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s total staff costs
(excluding Directors’ remuneration) amounted to RMB21,319,000,
including salaries, wages, allowances and benefits.

The Group’s long-term growth depends on the expertise and
experience of our employees. The Group mainly recruits through
on-campus recruitment, experienced hire and online recruitment.

In addition, the Group has adopted a Share Option Scheme (as
defined below) and a Share Award Scheme (as defined below) for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons
who contribute to the success of the Group’s continual operation and
development.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had a total of 472 employees.
The Group has established a comprehensive training system for our
employees, based on their responsibilities, covering professional
knowledge, technical, operational and managerial skills, corporate
culture, internal control and other areas. Such programs are designed
to foster career development for our employees and thus to invest in
the future of the Group’s human resources.
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PENSION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group offers our employees in the PRC salaries and makes
contributions to social insurance fund, including pension, medical,
unemployment, maternity and occupational injury insurance, and
housing provident fund for the Group’s employees. The Group has
joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all
employees in Hong Kong.

Pension Plans

The Group has the social pension plans (the “Social Pension Plans”)
for its employees arranged by local government labour and security
authorities. The Group makes contributions on a monthly basis to the
Social Pension Plans. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Social
Pension Plans. Under such plans, the Group has no further obligation
beyond the contributions made. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution
under the Social Pension Plans is available to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

The MPF Schemes

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees in Hong Kong who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the relevant income of employees in
Hong Kong and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions
forfeited when the employees leave employment prior to fully vesting
in such contributions, which can be used to reduce the amount of
future employer contributions or to offset against future administration
expenses or to refund to the Group, in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution under the
MPF Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.
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Housing Provident Fund and Other Social Insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security contribution
schemes for its employees pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC.These include housing provident fund, basic
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, injury insurance and
maternity insurance. The Group makes monthly contributions to the
housing provident fund and other social insurances. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group has no
further obligations beyond the contributions made.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share option
scheme conditionally adopted by the Company through written
resolutions on October 21, 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme is subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Board
believes the Share Option Scheme will enable the Group
to reward our employees, our Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group. Given that our
Directors are entitled to determine the performance targets
to be achieved as well as the minimum period that an option
must be held before an option can be exercised on a case by
case basis, and that the exercise price of an option cannot in
any event fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules
or such higher price as may be fixed by our Directors, it is
expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring
about an increased market price of the Shares in order to
capitalize on the benefits of the options granted.
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(b)

Who may join

Our Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, who our Board considers, in its sole discretion,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group (collectively
the “Eligible Participants”), to take up options to subscribe for
Shares:

(i) any directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors) and employees of any member of the Group;
and

(ii) any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint
venture business partners, service providers of any
member of the Group.

For the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the options
may be granted to any company wholly-owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of Eligible
Participants. For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any
options by the Company for the subscription of Shares or
other securities of the Group to any person who falls within any
of the above classes of Eligible Participants shall not, by itself,
unless our Directors otherwise so determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of Eligible Participants
to the grant of any option shall be determined by our Directors
from time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to
the Eligible Participants’ contribution to the development and
growth of the Group.
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(c) Maximum number of Shares

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme, and such
10% limit represents 60,000,000 Shares (the “General
Scheme Limit”).

Subject to paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to paragraph (iv) below, the Company may issue a
circular to its Shareholders and seek approval of
its Shareholders in a general meeting to extend the
General Scheme Limit provided that the total number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share options scheme of the Group shall
not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of the date of
approval of the limit and, for the purpose of calculating
the limit, options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) previously granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group will not be counted. The circular
sent by the Company to its Shareholders shall contain,
among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02 (2) (d) of the Listing Rules and the
disclaimer required under Rule 17.02 (4) of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

(c) Bxf®E LR

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

AREBEEREFIRAEEEAEM
BRESAMREEHIRTENRE
BRITENBRERTEMAY FRHRITH
EEROVBE SEHATEBEBALQFH
FTRHE#HTRAI0% -

AREEREFIRAEETAEM
BRESIARENFTEBRERITRE
MAFTHRTHROAE EHLTER
BRUAEBREFBERCSHTR
NBHMI0%  BZ10%REHEE R
60,000,000 & ([ — R =HBIRZED) -

EEXONBRHRRMNAIZLE T X(v)R
WBERT  ALATEMERRELE
B YERRAELERRRM EE
R —RaH IR 2 - MR 5 8B RE T 8
RASEEEMEMBRETEE TR
EHFFEBRERTEMATHRTH
ROBH TEEBBEHRERER
HE&ITRMDI0% - Mr ERER - 5T
AREERESIRASETMHM
BREFTIARHNBEREBERER
BRES SR AEEEMHEMERES
BHRITHE - CEH BERRIAECTE
NBRE)STEFEEZR-ADFM@
RREBNBRAHB(EPEE) £
R BE17.02QAIFRENER K £
MRAUFI7T.2U)GERENEEBRAS
a8

2022 FFF IR

sErpemerarans 101



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

(d)

(iv) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to paragraph (iii) above, the Company may seek
separate Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
to grant options beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if
applicable, the extended limit referred to in paragraph
(iii) above to participants specifically identified by
the Company before such approval is sought. In
such event, the Company must send a circular to its
Shareholders containing a general description of the
identified participants, the number and terms of options
to be granted, the purpose of granting options to the
identified participants with an explanation as to how
the terms of the options serve such purpose and all
other information required under Rule 17.02 (2) (d) of
the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required under
Rule 17.02 (4) of the Listing Rules.

(v) The exercise of any option shall be subject to our
Shareholders in general meeting approving any increase
in the authorised share capital of our Company. Subject
thereto, our Board shall make available sufficient
authorised but unissued share capital of our Company
for purpose of allotment of shares upon exercise of
option(s).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options to
a participant in aggregate in excess of the Individual Limit
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to
our Shareholders and our Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such participant and his close
associates abstaining from voting. The number and terms
(including the exercise price) of options to be granted to
such participant must be fixed before Shareholders’ approval
and the date of board meeting for proposing such further
grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note to Rule 17.03(9) of
the Listing Rules.
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(e)

(f)

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant to whom the offer
is made within five (5) business days from the date on which
the letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant.
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by our Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than ten (10) years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions for early termination
under the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise determined
by our Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of options
to a grantee, there is no minimum period required under the
Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it
can be exercised.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and the
option to which the offer relates shall be deemed to have been
granted and to have taken effect when the duplicate of the
offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed
by the grantee with the number of Shares in respect of which
the offer is accepted clearly stated therein, together with a
remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof, which must be received by
the Company within five (5) business days from the date on
which the offer letter is delivered to the grantee.

Subscription price for Shares and consideration for
the option

The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by our Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day;

(e)

(f)
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(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5)
business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer of grant (provided that in the event that any option
is proposed to be granted within a period of less than
five (5) business days after the trading of the Shares
first commences on the Stock Exchange, the new issue
price of the Shares for the Global Offering (as defined in
the prospectus of the Company date October 30, 2019)
shall be used as the closing price for any business day
falling within the period before listing of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange); and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

(9) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be effective for a period of ten
(10) years commencing from the date of adoption until October
20, 2029.

As of December 31, 2022, no option had been granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share award scheme on March 4,
2020 (the “Share Award Scheme”) to recognise the contributions by
certain employees in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group. With the Share Award Scheme,
the Company also hopes to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group. The following is a summary of the Share
Award Scheme adopted by the Company:

Purposes, Duration and Administration

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise
the contributions by certain employees and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination of the Share Award Scheme as
may be determined by the Board pursuant to the terms of the Share
Award Scheme, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a term of five (5) years commencing on the adoption date. Such
termination of the Share Award Scheme shall not affect any subsisting
rights of any selected employee in respect of any award made to him
prior to such termination.
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The administration of the Share Award Scheme shall be subject to (i)
the administration of the Board and the trustee in accordance with
the rules of the Share Award Scheme and the trust deed; and (ii)
compliance with the Articles and all applicable laws, regulations and
rules (including without limitation, the Listing Rules and the Takeovers
Code) in force from time to time.

Maximum Limit

The Board shall not make any further grant of awarded shares which
will result in the number of the Shares granted by the Board under the
Share Award Scheme exceeding 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

Appointment of Trustee

The Company has entered into trust deed and appointed Victory
Global Trustee Company Limited as the trustee for the administration
of the Share Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules. To the
best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors after making
all reasonable enquires, the trustee and its ultimate beneficial owners
are third parties independent of the Company and are not connected
persons (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company. The
trustee will administer the Share Award Scheme in accordance with
the scheme rules and the trust deed.

According to the Share Award Scheme, the Board may from time to
time instruct the trustee to purchase Shares in the open market for
the purpose of the Share Award Scheme. The Shares purchased by
the trustee and the returned shares will be held by the trustee until
they are vested in the selected employees in accordance with the
scheme rules and the trust deed.

For details of the Share Awards Scheme, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated March 4, 2020.
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Grant of Awarded Shares

On January 21, 2022, the Company granted a total of 19,848,000
Shares (the “Awarded Shares”) to 20 Selected Employees (as defined
in the announcement of the Company dated March 4, 2020). The
Board selected the Selected Employees by reference to the following

principles:

(i) The Selected Employees are middle and junior level employees
of the Group who have served the Group for five years or
more; and

(ii) Each of the Selected Employees has made outstanding

contributions to the technical and administrative work of the
Group with good performance appraisal results.

Details of the grant of the Awarded Shares are set out below:

Date of grant: January 21, 2022

Amount payable HK$3.50 per Awarded Share, representing
by the Selected 100.52% of the average closing price
Employees: of HK$3.482 per Share as quoted in the

daily quotations sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant. If
the Awarded Shares are not vested, they can
be returned.

Number of the 19,848,000 Awarded Shares

Awarded Shares
granted:
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Vesting Date:

Conditions for grant:

January 21, 2022

1.

If the Awarded Shares are accepted by
the Selected Employees, the Selected
Employees shall continue to serve the
Group for at least five years from the
date of grant (the “Restricted Period”).

In the event of early termination of
the employment relationship between
the Selected Employees and the
Group (other than by cause of death,
disability of the Selected Employees or
liquidation/reorganisation/merger of the
Company or relevant Subsidiaries) within
the Restricted Period, the Selected
Employees shall pay to the Company,
within five business days of the date
of termination of the employment
relationship, the difference between
(a) the aggregate value of the Awarded
Shares (calculated based on the closing
price of the Shares on the date of
termination of the employment) and
the Awarded Amount (as defined in the
announcement of the Company dated
March 4, 2020); or (b) the aggregate
value of the Awarded Shares (based on
the closing price of the Shares on the
last trading day prior to the date of grant)
and the Awarded Amount; whichever is
the higher.

The Selected Employees shall be liable
for all applicable PRC taxes arising from
the grant of the Awarded Shares and
shall irrevocably authorise the Company
to pay such taxes on their behalf and
to deduct the same amount from their
wages.

For details of the grant of the Awarded Shares, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated January 21, 2022.
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Termination

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the 5th
anniversary date of the adoption date; and (ii) such date of early
termination as determined by the Board.

On March 31, 2022, the Board resolved to early terminate the Share
Award Scheme and terminated the appointment of the trustee.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme as set
out in this Annual Report, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or subsisted during the year ended December 31,
2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s revenue from its
five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
total revenue for the Year. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Group’s purchase amount from its five largest suppliers accounted for
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchase amount for the Year. The
information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial
year is as follows:

#®¥iE
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o
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Percentage of the Group’s total
XEERGELUTHEGS L
Suppliers
(primarily
raw material
providers and

labor force

Sales companies)

HEB(EEHRFR

MHE#ERR

HE SEHhaH)

The largest customer BREF 5% N/ATE F
Five largest customers in aggregate EREF &G 15% N/A T & F
The largest supplier BAMER N/A T 3E 4%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEREF N/A T 38 13%
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” on pages 91 to 94 of this Annual Report, at no time
during the Year have the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of issued share capital of the Company)
had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended December 31, 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the law of Cayman Islands being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, under which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code for dealing
in securities in the Company by the Directors. The Directors have
confirmed compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from January 1, 2022 to the date of this Annual Report.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company, have also been subject
to the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance of the Model Code by the Company’s employees
was noted by the Company from January 1, 2022 to the date of this
Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company had applied the principles and code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code and has complied with
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code during the
year from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022, except for the
deviation from the Corporate Governance Code provision C.2.1.
Corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual
Report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and discussed the Group’s risk management, internal
controls and financial reporting matters with the management. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022.

AUDITOR

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2022 have been audited by EY. EY will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of EY
as the Company’s auditor is to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting. The Company did not change its auditor since its listing.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to December 31, 2022, USD44,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB305,139,000) of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
was due on February, 6, 2023 and unpaid as at the date of this
Annual Report. The relevant agreement clauses for extension of 12
months is in process.

By order of the Board
China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

Li Baotian
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

March 23, 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code as its code of corporate
governance.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended
December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this Annual Report (the
“Relevant Period”), except for the deviation from the Corporate
Governance Code provision C.2.1. The Directors will do their best
to procure the Company to comply with the Corporate Governance
Code on a continuous basis.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr.
Li Baotian has been serving as the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company during the Relevant Period.
However, the Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer in the same person has
the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within our Group and
enables more efficient overall strategic planning for our Group.

Our Board considers that the balance of power and authority for
the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable our Company to make and implement decisions promptly and
effectively. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting
the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into
account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The functions and duties of our Board include determining business
and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and
for the increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, our
Board is responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties
in accordance with the Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and regulations, including the Listing Rules.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees’ various power and responsibilities as set
out in their respective terms of reference which are published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board’s main corporate governance duties include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

The operation and management of Group’s property development
and construction contracting businesses, the market development,
the daily administration of the Group and the financial and fund
management of the Group are delegated to the senior management
of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board held six Board meetings to:

(i) consider and approve the annual audited financial statements,
annual results announcement and annual report for the year
ended December 31, 2021;

(i) consider and approve the unaudited financial statements,
interim results announcement and interim report for the six
months ended June 30, 2022;

(iii) consider and approve the announcement in relation to the
Grant of Awarded Shares under Share Award Scheme;

(iv) consider and approve the Termination Deed to terminate the
Share Award Scheme and the Trustee;

(v) consider and approve the announcement in relation to the
Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association; and

(vi) consider and approve the change of independent
non-executive Directors, members of the Audit Committee,
members of the Remuneration Committee, members of the
Nomination Committee, members of the Investment Decision
Committee and members of the Strategic Planning Committee,
the resignation of joint company secretaries, the appointment
of company secretary, the change of authorised representative
and process agent, the change of second authorised person
of the e-Submission System of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed and monitored
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, reviewed and monitored the code
of conduct applicable to employees and Directors, and reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
made disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises nine members, consisting of six
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
During the Relevant Period, the Board comprised the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Baotian (the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Shen Lifeng

Ms. Wang Xinling

Mr. Li Yaruixin

Ms. Wang Huijie

Mr. Zang Lin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Xu

Mr. Li Qingxu

Mr. Hou Liang (appointed on October 21, 2022)
Mr. Liu Kaixiang (resigned on October 21, 2022)

During the Relevant Period, the Company has maintained at
least three independent non-executive Directors (representing at
least one-third of the Board) and at least one of the independent
non-executive Directors with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise, in accordance
with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Li Baotian (Chairman of the Board, executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company) is the father of Mr. Li Yaruixin
(executive Director) and uncle-in-law of Ms. Wang Xinling (executive
Director). Other than this, there are no financial, business, family or
other material relationship among members of the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board members level
as an essential factor in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Board members diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board members.

The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) will select its members among the Board in accordance
with the Company’s Nomination Policy and with reference to
the Board members diversity policy. The Nomination Committee
will report annually, in the Corporate Governance Report, on the
Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation and effectiveness of the policy.
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The analysis on diverse composition of the Group’s Directors as at
December 31, 2022 is as follows:

RN2022%F 128310 AEBESSTLEARDI U T

Number of Years of
Directors Position Gender Age range service Principal roles and responsibilities Skills and knowledge
EEAR  Rf : 3] FRER BHER TERERMER RERDR
Overall strategy, business development
1 60-70 36-40 and management
Male ERRE RBARREE Property development and construction
) Bl 16-20 contracting
3 35.45 Operation and business management FHERRRERAE
| Executive 21-25 BERXHER
4 Director
uaEs » Law, investment and financial
Management of securities market,
5 Female 0-5 investment and financing Mmanagement and corporate management
_ ER-RERBEEENUR
g3 EETHEE RERAE
50-57 = tgEm
6 2105 Administrative management Corporate management
THER TEER
Accounting, commercial and financial
7 education, human capital
Independent 45-60 e BERLRHE ALEX
non-executive Providing independent advice on .
) Male . Government authorities management
8 Director - 0-5 operations and management .
s e e EGELEE
BUkHT REEREERMHEYE
2 Property, construction, corporate
9 60-70 management
BiHE BE LREE

The Company recognises the importance of gender diversity and
recruits employees at all levels based on merits and regardless of
gender in order to ensure there is a pipeline of male and female
potential successors to the Board and the senior management.
Currently, our senior management comprises five male and four
female colleagues.

The Group has a total of 472 employees, 144 of them are female, 328

of them are male. All employees in our Group have a fair opportunity
in the workplace.
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Based on the latest review, the Nomination Committee considers the
Board members to be diverse in respect of the aforesaid evaluation
criteria. The Nomination Committee has considered but decided
not to set any measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will continue to ensure
that diversity is taken into consideration when assessing Board
composition.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the requirement on
structure, composition and diversity of the Board during the Reporting
Period. The Nomination Committee confirmed that the Company has
met the requirement on balance and sufficiency of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors actively participate in Board
meetings to bring independent judgement and make independent
recommendations on the operation and management of the Group.

They will make decisions aiming to protect all Shareholders’ interests
where potential conflicts of interests of other Directors arise. They
serve as members of various Board committees and will scrutinise the
performance of the Group in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives and also monitor performance reporting.

The Company has received confirmations from each of independent
non-executive Directors made in respect of their independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors based on the Listing Rules and considered that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

On October 21, 2019, each of Mr. Li Xu, Mr. Liu Kaixiang and Mr. Li
Qingxu, being our independent non-executive Directors, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from November 11, 2019. After communication
between the management of the Group with Mr. Li Xu and Mr. Li
Qingxu respectively, pursuant to the letter of appointment, both
parties agreed to implement the renewal arrangement in accordance
with the original letter of appointment for a service period of three
years. Mr. Liu Kaixiang resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from October 21, 2022. On October 21, 2022, Mr.
Hou Liang was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
and has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from October 21, 2022, which are
subject to renewal in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five Board committees with defined
scope of duties in writing. These Board committees are the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the investment decision committee of the Board (the "Investment
Decision Committee") and the strategic planning committee of the
Board (the "Strategic Planning Committee").

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
obtain independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the expense of the Company if they consider necessary.

(1) Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise our financial reporting process
and internal control system of our Group, oversee the audit
process, provide advice and comments to our Board and
perform other duties and responsibilities as may be assigned
by our Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Li Xu, Mr. Li Qingxu, Mr. Hou Liang (with effect from October
21, 2022) and Mr. Liu Kaixiang (resigned on October 21, 2022)
and all of them are independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Li Xu possesses the appropriate accounting and related
financial management expertise. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Li Xu.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had
conducted annual review on the Group’s risk management
and internal control system and monitoring and auditing
procedures. The Audit Committee had advised the Board
on the risk management and internal control system and
monitoring and auditing procedures.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Audit Committee
held three meetings, two of which were held with the
Company’s external auditor to discuss and review the
auditing plan, accounting standards and policies adopted in
the financial results and report, reviewed the annual results
and annual report for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Meanwhile, the Audit Committee held a meeting separately to
review the interim results and interim report for the six months
ended June 30, 2022. The attendance record of individual
Directors at the Audit Committee meetings is set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings”
below.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to establish,
make recommendations to our Directors on our policy and

review and

structure concerning remuneration of our Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policies concerning such
remuneration, determine the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each executive Director and senior management
and review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members,
namely Mr. Li Qingxu (an independent non-executive Director),
Mr. Li Xu (an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Liu
Kaixiang (an independent non-executive Director, resigned
on October 21, 2022), Mr.
non-executive Director, with effect from October 21, 2022),
Ms. Wang Xinling (an executive Director) and Mr. Li Yaruixin
(an executive Director). The chairman of the Remuneration
Committee is Mr. Li Qingxu.

Hou Liang (an independent
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee had
assessed the performance of executive Directors, reviewed
and discussed on the remuneration package of executive
Directors, remuneration of independent non-executive
Directors and the arrangement of the existing share option
scheme. It also reviewed the remuneration policy of all
Directors and senior management and its implementation. The
Remuneration Committee had reported to the Board on the
business works and work performance of Directors and senior
management, and made recommendation to the Board on the
adjustment to salary of Directors and senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
had conducted annual review on the remuneration of Directors
and senior management with reference to the remuneration
policy of Directors and senior management of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee had made recommendation to the
Board in respect of the results of the annual review.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings to discuss the performance
of all Directors and senior management and approved
the appointment of Mr. Hou Liang as an independent
non-executive Director and the terms of engagement of a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Investment
Decision Committee and the Strategic Planning Committee
and made a recommendation to the Board to adopt Mr.
Hou Liang's letter of appointment. The attendance record of
individual Directors at the Remuneration Committee meeting
is set out in the section headed “Directors’ Attendance Record
at Meetings” below.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of our Board on a regular basis and make recommendations
to the Board regarding any changes to the composition of our
Board, identify, select or make recommendations to our Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship,
and ensure the diversity of our Board members, assess the
independence of our independent non-executive Directors
and make recommendations to our Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
our Directors and succession planning for our Directors.

The Nomination Committee consists of five members,
namely Mr. Li Baotian (an executive Director), Mr. Li Xu (an
independent non-executive Director), Mr. Liu Kaixiang (an
independent non-executive Director, resigned on October
21, 2022), Mr. Hou Liang (an independent non-executive
Director, with effect from October 21, 2022), Ms. Shen Lifeng
(an executive Director) and Mr. Li Qingxu (an independent
non-executive Director). The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Li Baotian.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
had conducted regular review on the structure, size and
composition of the Board, made recommendation to the Board
on re-election of Board members with reference to the Board
diversity policy and Nomination Policy of Directors of the
Company, and assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee
assessed the Nomination Policy during the Relevant Period,
the Board comprises nine Directors, among which, three
of them are female. Our senior management comprises of
nine members, among which, four of them are female. The
Nomination Committee believed the board diversity in all
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural/
educational and professional background, skills, knowledge
and experience are effective and properly implemented.
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(4)

The Nomination Committee will review the implementation of
the Nomination Policy, including the mechanisms for ensuring
independent views and input are available to the Board
annually. All Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are given opportunities to include matters in
the agenda for regular Board meetings. If a substantial
Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter should be dealt with
by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
associates, have no material interest in the transaction should
be present at that Board meeting. All Directors are entitled
to seek advice from independent professional advisers at the
Company's expense. The Nomination Committee considers
that the implementation of above mechanisms is effective.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings to carry out discussion on
improvement of professional knowledge and skills of Directors
and assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, assessed the qualification and background of Mr.
Hou Liang in relation to his appointment as an independent
non-executive Director with reference to the Nomination
policy and Board diversity policy of the Company and made
recommendations to the Board to appoint Mr. Hou Liang as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Investment Decision Committee
and the Strategic Planning Committee.

The attendance record of individual Directors at the
Nomination Committee meeting is set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings” below.

Investment Decision Committee

The primary duties of the Investment Decision Committee
are to supervise the performance of the previous investment
projects of the Company; assess and supervise the
proposed investment projects of the Company and make
recommendations on risk prevention of such projects; study
and review the investment projects for future development of
the Company and make recommendations to the Board in this
regard; and other matters as authorised by the Board.
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The Investment Decision Committee consists of ten members,
namely Mr. Li Baotian (an executive Director), Ms. Shen
Lifeng (an executive Director), Ms. Wang Xinling (an executive
Director), Mr. Li Yaruixin (an executive Director), Ms. Wang
Huijie (an executive Director), Mr. Zang Lin (an executive
Director), Mr. Li Xu (an independent non-executive Director),
Mr. Liu Kaixiang (an independent non-executive Director,
resigned on October 21, 2022), Mr. Hou Liang (an independent
non-executive Director, with effect from October 21, 2022),
Ms. Liu Dandan (senior management) and Mr. Li Zhengmao.
The chairman of the Investment Decision Committee is Mr. Li
Baotian.

During the Relevant Period, the Investment Decision
Committee did not hold any meeting.

Strategic Planning Committee

The primary duties of the Strategic Planning Committee are
to conduct research on the Company’s mid-term to long-term
strategic development plans and make recommendations;
review, supervise, amend and supplement the Company’s
mid-term to long-term strategic development plans and make
recommendations to the Board in this regard; review and
supervise the implementation of the Company’s strategies and
make recommendations; conduct research on material matters
related to future development direction of the Company
(including but not limited to future development planning,
development objectives, business strategies and operation
guidelines) and make recommendations; and other matters as
authorised by the Board.

The Strategic Planning Committee consists of eight members,
namely Mr. Li Baotian (an executive Director), Ms. Shen
Lifeng (an executive Director), Ms. Wang Xinling (an executive
Director), Mr. Li Yaruixin (an executive Director), Ms. Wang
Huijie (an executive Director), Mr. Zang Lin (an executive
Director), Mr. Li Qingxu (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Hou Liang (an independent non-executive
Director, with effect from October 21, 2022). The chairman of
the Strategic Planning Committee is Mr. Li Baotian.
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During the Relevant Period, the Strategic Planning Committee
held two meetings in relation to:

1. In order to accurately grasp the opportunities and
challenges brought by the national development and
economic construction of the “14th Five-Year Plan”,
respond to the current national industry policies, base
on the operation of the international capital market,
and achieve the steady development of the Group,
the Strategic Planning Committee conducts research
on the feasibility of investment in construction and
development projects;

2. Based on the current medical market in Zhangjiakou
City and the current situation of the elderly in the
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, the Strategic Planning
Committee discussed the positioning and development
model of Jingbei Health City project.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Our Directors and senior management receive compensation from our
Company in the form of salaries, bonuses and other benefits in kind
such as contributions to pension plans.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the expenses incurred by
the Company in relation to remuneration (including fees, salaries,
allowances, benefits in kind, pension schemes contributions
and social welfare) for our Directors are detailed in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company incurred expenses in relation to remuneration (including
fees, salaries, allowances, benefits in kind, pension schemes
contributions and social welfare) for five highest paid individuals
(including our Directors) for the year ended December 31, 2022 of
approximately RMB7,771,000.

Pursuant to provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code,
details of the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than Directors) by remuneration band for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are as follows:

REBEPE BHRAIEES
BRERBIR:

HiT2R&H

1. E%ﬁEE?FETEF'I'@E%EiJJ%??éE%ﬂ
REERTROBBELS BYHE
%Iﬁ1TfT¥EAZ%~_LEF?§ﬁZKmi%
EF BRASEERSER BRI
ZESYHERNHBMBEEERETTMH
EATHE

2. RARROAENBETBURIE
Kt EREZAMR RMADNEAEY
R RENEEEL REMRES
Rt o

EFREREERTM

EERSREBAEHEUF S RARAMEY
BROEX(BIRARES TR BARD A REBFH -

HE2022F12A3BLFE - AQRABEEXMH
FH(BERE HE 2H BUEFN RAFHE
HRAREREENHAIFBREANGE B RRMES -

BZE2022F12A31HLEFE - ARAREERESF
AT (BEES)INFMHN(EERS HE 2B -BY
BA -EAEHBAHIRHERIEENFAIOARSE
7,771,000 7T °

RELXERTRMRIEENSK BE20225F128
BSIALEE SREEEMRE(EBERMNEFHER
BHWFMEBEDT !

Number of
individuals
Remuneration band Fas AB
Nil to HK$1,000,000 # £ 1,000,000 T 3
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

The number of Board meeting, Audit Committee meeting,
Remuneration Committee meeting, Nomination Committee meeting,
Strategic Planning Committee meeting and the Annual General
Meeting of the Company held for the period from January 1, 2022
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to December 31, 2022 and the attendance record of each individual RT&:
Director are set out in the following table:
Attendance/
Attendance/ Attendance/ Attendance/ Number of
Number of Number of Number of Strategic Attendance/
Attendance/ Audit Remuneration Nomination Planning Number of
Number of Committee Committee Committee Committee Annual General
Directors Board Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HERE/ HEXB,/ HERE/ HERE/ HERE/ HERE/
EER EUZAE FHZzAe REZAE BERANZA BREEXE
EF 1 1 E3 1 1 E3 BERY BERY EEERN 1 1 E3
Executive Directors
BiTES
Mr. Li Baotian 6/6 N/A N/A 212 212 11
TRELE TEA TER
Ms. Shen Lifeng 6/6 N/A N/A 212 2/2 11
REBLT TER TER
Ms. Wang Xinling 6/6 N/A 212 N/A 2/2 11
IFkat TER TEA
Mr. Li Yaruixin 6/6 N/A 212 N/A 212 11
FLEBRE TER TER
Ms. Wang Huijie 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 2/2 11
IgALt TEA TER TER
Mr. Zang Lin 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 2/2 11
BELE TER TEA TER
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFUTESE
Mr. Li Xu 6/6 313 2/2 2/2 N/A 11
TREE TER
Mr. Li Qingxu 6/6 2/3 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
TEREE
Mr. Hou Liang (appointed on October 11, 2022) 0/6 0/3 0/2 0/2 0/2 0/1
GREE(R202F10A21AEZ )
Mr. Liu Kaixiang (resigned on October 21, 2022) 6/6 213 212 212 N/A 11
29K % £ (R2022F10 5 21 A @ E) TER
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, the chairman of the Board
held one meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the executive Directors present. During the Relevant Period,
the Company held the annual general meeting of the Company on
May 26, 2022.

NOMINATION POLICY

(i) Objectives
The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors. This policy
provides the key selection criteria and principles of the
Nomination Committee in making any such recommendations.

(i) Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors
which are not exhaustive in assessing the proposed candidate
and make recommendations regarding the appointment of
Directors or re-appointment of existing Board member(s):

(a) Integrity;

(b) Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the
related businesses and other relevant industry;

(c) Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interests held
and attention to the businesses of the Company;

(d) Board diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and experience;

(e) Ability to assist and support the management and
make a significant contribution to the success of the
Company;

(f) Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case
for the appointment of an independent non-executive
Director, as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and

(9) Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.
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The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall
be made in accordance with the Articles of Association and
other applicable rules and regulations.

(iii) Nomination Procedures

(a) The secretary of the Company shall convene a meeting,
and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also
nominate candidates for its consideration;

(b) For the appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall
undertake adequate due diligence in respect of such
individual and make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval,

(c) For the re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration
and recommendation, for the proposed candidates to
stand for re-election at a general meeting; and

(d) The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand
for election at a general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that every newly appointed Director has a proper
understanding of the operations and business of the Group and that
he/she is appropriately aware of the operations and business of the
Company and his/her responsibilities under relevant laws, regulations,
rules and requirements, every newly appointed Director will receive
the necessary induction training and information.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the performance and status of the Company,
so that the Board as a whole and each Director can perform their
duties.
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Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 set out in the Corporate Governance
Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, so as
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The issuer should be responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director. The Company
encourages the Directors to participate in continuous professional
development. The training record of each Director for the year ended
December 31, 2022 is as follows:

REBEXEERTUZTARIECIAG EES
E2HEBEEXBR RRIETHANEREKRE N
BRHESELTAGE2EEARVEAFNBERTS
EERFHERM - BTABEEZHSENEIXL
REAHEKE UREBINZELTLATESNAG
BEREE - ARG BEES2HRTETERRE-
BESNEE2022F 12831 B L FERFI I HE W
T

Confirm reading Training on

the Directors’

communication

duties and strategy for
Attend responsibilities Chinese enterprises’
Directors’ training information globalization
FRRELX
ERHEES E$- 3 (4:08" 31
EREHIEZ RERREEH o B 3% A
Executive Directors
BITESE
Mr. Li Baotian (the Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer) Yes Yes Yes
TREAE (EEREERTHEH) 2 2 =
Ms. Shen Lifeng Yes Yes Yes
REBRLZL =z = =
Ms. Wang Xinling Yes Yes Yes
EH®B Lt p=3 = b
Mr. Li Yaruixin Yes Yes Yes
THEERE = = b=
Ms. Wang Huijie Yes Yes Yes
FERLZT b3 = =
Mr. Zang Lin Yes Yes Yes
R k& bl = b
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BURTES
Mr. Li Xu Yes Yes Yes
T EE = = b
Mr. Li Qingxu Yes Yes Yes
ZTEMEE = = =
Mr. Hou Liang (appointed on October 21, 2022) Yes Yes Yes
&= k£ (A2022F 10821 H E Z1E) = = =
Mr. Liu Kaixiang (resigned on October 21, 2022) Yes Yes Yes
2 5 48 5t &£ (R 2022 F 10 B 21 B B 1) = = b

1 28 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

Annual Report 2022



For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Directors’ trainings of
the Company were conducted by SWCS Academy, China Carbon
Neutral Development Group Limited, China Eco Development
Association, Hong Kong China Eco Development Association, Haitong
International and HKMA. The Directors’ trainings cover the following
matters: (i) the latest development of protection regulations of data
security and personal data in Hong Kong and Mainland China; (ii) Zero
Carbon Campaign to empower enterprises; (iii) focus on corporate
governance (anti-corruption and ethical business culture — the core
of good corporate governance, building a good culture through equal
opportunities); (iv) the Green and Sustainable Finance Grant Scheme
(to promote the issuance of green and sustainable debt instruments
in Hong Kong); (v) decarbonization along the value chain; and (vi)
the compliance level and performance of listed companies under the
newly revised ESG Reporting Guide by the Stock Exchange.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, each of the Directors
had confirmed that they have read the directors’ duties and
responsibilities information, including the online training seminars for
directors provided by the Stock Exchange.

According to code provision C.1.4 contained in the Corporate
Governance Code, all Directors are required to provide the Company
with a record of their trainings to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.
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AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor for audit
services and non-audit services are set out below:

% B B R % B AN B &
BECRBRFEZRBASQRDPERHMIAN
BEAONEREINT

Year ended
December 31,
2022

# E2022%F
12A31HLEEE
RMB’000

AR® T

E 2 R%
FELE R

Audit services
Non-audit fees

2,000

Total &t

2,000

PRIMARY CONTACT PERSON AND PROFESSIONAL
TRAINING OF COMPANY SECRETARY/JOINT
COMPANY SECRETARIES

Directors have access to the services of our company secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures are followed. From January 1,
2022 to October 21, 2022, Mr. Du Hang is one of the joint company
secretaries of the Company. The Company had also appointed Ms.
Lin Sio Ngo from SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited, who possesses the relevant qualification of company
secretary as required under the Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, as
another joint company secretary to assist Mr. Du Hang in performing
his role as the company secretary of the Company. Ms. Lin Sio Ngo's
primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Du Hang. Mr. Du Hang
and Ms. Lin Sio Ngo had resigned as joint company secretaries on
October 21, 2022.

Mr. Liu Tsz Kit was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company in place of Mr. Du Hang and Ms. Lin Sio Ngo on October
21, 2022.

In order to comply with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, during the year ended December 31, 2022, Mr. Liu Tsz Kit had
attended relevant professional trainings for not less than 15 hours.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted the Model Code as a code for Directors to
deal in securities of the Company on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. After making specific
enquiries to all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they had
complied with the standards required by the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors confirm their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2022. The Board is responsible for disclosing the financial
information in the Group’s annual reports in accordance with the
Listing Rules, Companies Law and other regulatory requirements,
and making a balanced, clear, accessible and well-founded review
on the Company’s performance. The Company’s senior management
has provided such explanations and information to the Board when
necessary, so that the Board can make an informed assessment of
the Company’s financial and business conditions before put it for
approval.

RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the
accounts, that is, to prepare the Company’s consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis in accordance with IFRSs and
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) so
as to truly and fairly reflect the Group’s performance, financial and
business conditions and prospects.

As at December 31, 2022, the Group’s current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB644,238,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB222,976,000. Subsequent to
December 31, 2022, USD44,000,000 (equivalent to RMB305,139,000)
of the offshore interest-bearing bank and other borrowings was
due on February 6, 2023 and unpaid as at the report date. In view
of the volatility of the property market in China, coupled with the
limited source of financing from the capital market, the Group may
take longer time than expected to realise cash from the sale of its
properties, and the proceeds from construction contracting and/
or have the cash from external financing to meet its loan repayment
obligations.
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In view of the above circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the Group’s future liquidity requirements, operating
performance and available sources of financing in assessing the
Group’s ability to operate as a going concern. The following plans
and measures are formulated to manage the working capital and
improve the financial position of the Group:

(a) The Group continues to generate positive operating cash flows
for the next twelve months by implementing various strategies
to improve the Group’s income from sales of properties and
construction contract services, project management and
rentals from investment properties to generate additional
operating cash inflows and putting extra efforts on the
collection of outstanding trade receivables and contract
assets;

(b) The Group is actively reviewing its debt structure and looking
for funding opportunities; the Group is actively negotiating
with several financial institutions to renew/obtain loans at a
reasonable cost;

(c) The Group continues to monitor capital expenditure to
balance and relieve cash resource to support operations and
take action to tighten cost controls over various operating
expenses;

(d) The Group continues to identify suitable investors and engage
in discussions with certain potential investors on possible
investments in certain property development projects to raise
additional capital.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast covering
a period of twelve months from the end of the Reporting Period and
are of the opinion that, taking into account of the above-mentioned
plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors
believe it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 on a
going concern basis.

The statements of the Directors and the Company’s auditors
regarding their reporting responsibilities to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements are set out in the independent auditor’s report on
pages 142 to 152 of this Annual Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for continuously monitoring and reviewing
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group to safeguard the assets of the Group and the overall
interests of Shareholders. The Group will review annually and ensure
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
continuously effective and adequate. The risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather
than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Company has an internal audit function
in place, which can effectively analyze and independently assess
the adequacy of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, and report its findings to the Board on an annual basis. For
principal risks faced by the Group, please refer to the section headed
“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in “Directors’ Report” in this
Annual Report.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include
relevant organizational framework policies, risk management
policies and risk control procedures. These systems are designed
to manage the risks faced by the Group, which are mainly the
Group’s operational risks, legal risks and liquidity risks. Relevant risk
management and internal control systems include:

(i) Our Board is responsible for and has general powers over the
management and conduct of the business of our Group. Any
significant operational decisions involving material risks, such
as decisions to expand into new geographic regions or to incur
significant corporate finance transactions, are required to be
reviewed, analyzed and approved at the Board level to ensure
a thorough examination of the associated risks by our highest
corporate governance body.

(ii) The legal and audit department of the Group is responsible
for proposing risk management strategies, formulating
policies on risk management, coordinating and preparing
risk management assessments and reports, guiding all
departments on relevant tasks and conducting all training
sessions in risk management. It is also in charge of designing
a comprehensive risk evaluation system and supervising the
implementation of risk management measures.
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)
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Each of our Group’s functional departments is in charge
of the daily business operations and risk monitoring, and
is responsible for the supervision of respective fields
of operations. Each department is also responsible for
formulating its own risk management strategies and rectifying
any deviations in the implementation of such strategies.

The Group has established and implemented enhanced
internal control policies relating to its project management,
sub-contracting, invoicing, payment, and authorization
controls.

Internal control policies and procedures have been revised by
the Group to implement internal control measures such that
the construction planning department of the Group will be
responsible for applying construction work planning permit and
construction work commencement permit, and will, together
with the cost and procurement department and construction
management department, prepare and submit the plan for use
of funds to senior management for approval. Weekly meetings
will be held by the project management department to prepare
and submit the project progress report to the construction
management department and senior management.

The Group’s internal policies and procedures have been
revised at regular intervals so that it is stated clearly that
pre-sales can only be carried out with the pre-sales permits,
and the engineering planning department will be responsible
for applying for pre-sales permits and will regularly report to
the Company’s senior management of the progress.

The Group has adopted internal policies and procedures for
various aspects of operations. The Group provides training
to our employees in order to enhance their knowledge of our
corporate culture, with a view to better managing the Group’s
operational and market risks.
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(viii  To safeguard the interests of our Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, the Company has put in place
internal approval and monitoring procedures relating to
our continuing connected transactions, which include the
following:

a. the Group will offer the same pricing terms to all
material suppliers, service providers or tenants and
no preferential terms shall be provided to the material
suppliers, service providers or tenants who are the
Group’s connected persons;

b. the Group has formulated and implemented the internal
guidelines according to the Listing Rules, which provide
approval procedures for connected transactions,
including mechanism to avoid conflict of interest; and

(o} our independent non-executive Directors conduct an
annual review of our continuing connected transactions
and provide annual confirmations in accordance
with the Listing Rules that the terms of the relevant
agreements are fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms or better and in the ordinary and
usual course of business of our Group, and the relevant
agreements are in the interests of our Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal risk management and
monitoring systems (including internal control) to ensure that the
management maintains and operates a sound system in accordance
with agreed procedures and standards. The Board has conducted
an annual review which covers all major controls, including financial
monitoring, operational monitoring, compliance monitoring and risk
management functions. The Board has confirmed on the effectiveness
of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and Listing
Rules compliance. The Board has confirmed that the Company’s
resources in terms of accounting and financial reporting functions
and internal auditors, qualifications and experience of employees
and training courses received by employees and related budgets
as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and
reporting are sufficient. This review was made after discussions
with the Company’s management and its internal auditors, and the
assessment was performed by the Audit Committee. The Board
confirms that the internal risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and the internal audit function through
discussion with the Audit Committee are effective and adequate.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company has established an internal audit function. The main
responsibility of the internal audit function is to assist the Board
and the Company’s senior management in the protection of the
Company’s property, reputation and sustainable development. The
internal audit function provides independent and objective verification
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s
risk management, monitoring and governance process framework
as formulated and stated by the Company’s management. The
Company'’s internal audit function is independent of the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems.

The results of the internal audit work and the assessment results of
the Group’s overall risk management and monitoring framework are
reported to the Audit Committee where appropriate.

Before formally confirming the rectification of the problems found in
the audit, the internal audit function is also responsible for reviewing
the rectification plan proposed by the management of the Company
regarding the problems found in the audit, and verifying the adequacy
and effectiveness of the mitigation measures. During the year
ended December 31, 2022, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
responsibilities of the risk management and internal control systems
and the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Group and
considered them effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

With regard to the processing, procedures of release of inside
information and internal controls, the Company has complied with the
responsibilities under Part XIVA of SFO and the Listing Rules.

The Group has adopted a continuous disclosure compliance policy,
which sets out guidelines and procedures for the Directors and
management personnel of the Group to ensure that the inside
information of the Group is disclosed in a fair and timely manner.
The Group has implemented measures to keep the inside information
confidential. Once the inside information is leaked, the Company
will disclose it to the public immediately or apply for a trading halt
or suspension of trading in its securities. The Group holds regular
trainings for Directors and management personnel to assist them in
understanding and complying with relevant policies.

1 36 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2022

A B B &%
ARABEREANTIECBE - ABELBENTE
BEAMBESREERAQAASHEEERELRLT
HE BERUBEARRE ANELBESRLL2TE
BEMBTERREINACAEABRERE EERER
RFERNRIRETRAIRAEARMBITE
MER - RAARANANRELBEBIRALTANE
MEBRABEESE-

NAERIFERISAEEREBRAREERERE
EEANTGERTBEBRTAEREESER -

EEABRRELMBREAEERATEZRN > ABERK
BEFTAERIAQCAEEENERNBERABER
HWBERGE IREERERNTEERERL -
BZE2022F12A31BLFER BEREESCRF
EREERASEZZAGNBE AEBRBEZX
BENERILE AREREDAERED °

ARERERE

AEREZRE BREBRFRANEZRFIE A4
BETRBESRAERAEXNVABR EHRAT 2
HAE -

FEBERMABERESRARE REXBIHLE
MESKREBASZESIREF UBRAKEZ
ABEHERAFT KRBHAR AEEEHITHENU
REAEEHENREM - —BEARBEERE AYD
BARKEZSEHERFELARBSEFRRAEEF
B-AEBERRESREBAERTEI  BHYRK
ETHRRETHBERE-



WHISTLEBLOWING MECHANISM

The Company has established and from time to time updated the
whistleblowing policy. Under the whistleblowing policy, employees
of the Group and all related third parties who have business
relationships with our Group (including clients, suppliers, etc.) can
report any concern about possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Company, in confidence and anonymity, to the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

ANTI-CORRUPTION MEASURES

For policies and systems that promote and support anti-corruption
laws and regulations, please refer to the “Anti-corruption” section of
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance provides the framework within which the
Board makes decisions and conducts its business. The Board
focuses on creating long-term sustainable growth for Shareholders
and creating long-term value for all underlying stakeholders.
An effective corporate governance structure allows the Group
to have a better understanding of, evaluate and manage risks
and opportunities, including environmental and social risks and
opportunities. The Board is responsible for the effective governance
and oversight of environmental, social and governance matters, as
well as assessment and management of material environmental and
social risks. For details of the environmental, social and governance
for the year ended December 31, 2022, Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company
(www.chinatbjt.com).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. Accordingly, when
considering the payment of dividends, it is necessary to obtain a
balance between sufficient reserves for the future development of the
Group and returns to the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRE

EREMN

AABCOHELTEHERBBFHRE REBHEBEK
FEBERERMEEASEEXBBENBERE=
FEEEF HERS)IRTEEAEREZEESE
FREREHEIATESIRACTNTESENEE -

RESERE
EHRERIBRASEARERNBRERMNE B
SHBE HERERBREFNIRASIEH -

tETIEABR -HERER

TEERREERHERARNBEREBNWER - &
EREXRARRAERPVUIBEER L HAA
EHBEENEAERDBEE BERNEEETRER
EWAEBRTH FHILEERABRNKS(BERSE
HutSABRAERKSE) EZREENEE B8R
ERAEEHFENERTNEE HEANEERTLS
ERELEFIEMERE - BEB E£2022F128318 1
FENRE HEREARFR BRE HEREARR
1 T & 5 B X AT 4 3k (www.hkexnews.hk) & 7K 2 &
#9 3k (www.chinatbjt.com) °

Bz B B X

AABREHRMAREBFE Bt REEBIRWTRE
FENMSHERARBUMAEBRRARRE 2 B
B 65 IR 3R 2 A9 T fi e

2022 FFF IR

sEAREEsREERAT 137



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRE

In considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board
will also take into account (among others):

a. the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

b. the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(o}, the liquidity position of the Group;
d. the financial position of the Group;
e. the overall economic situation, the business cycle of the

Group’s business, and external factors that may affect the
future business and financial performance and condition of the

Group;
f. Shareholders’ interest;
g. any restriction on the dividend distribution; and
h. other factors the Board deems relevant.

The Board will continue to review this policy and reserve the right to
update, revise, modify and/or cancel this policy at any time in its sole
and absolute discretion. As at the date of this report, the Company
was not aware of any arrangements pursuant to which Shareholders
had waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial
issue, including the re-election of individual Directors. Meanwhile,
the procedures for the Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary
general meeting; (ii) put forward proposals at general meetings; and (iii)
send their enquiries to the Board are available.

In accordance with Article 72 of the Articles of Association,
resolutions put to vote at any general meetings will be taken by poll
save that the chairman of the meeting may allow a resolution to be
voted on by a show of hands pursuant to the Listing Rules.

In addition, the poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange after the relevant general meeting.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, extraordinary general
meetings shall also be convened by one or more members of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no single provision in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman Islands Companies Law for the Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings. The Shareholders who wish to
propose a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures for Shareholders to
convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board by Shareholders

Enquiries about the Company may be put to the Board by contacting
the Company or directly by raising the questions at an annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meeting of the Company. The
contact details of the Company are set out in the Company’s website
(www.chinatbjt.com).

Shareholders can contact the Company through the following
channels:

Address: No. 33, Guanyun East Road, Zhuozhou City, Hebei Province,
the PRC;

Telephone: (+86) 0312-3650258;

Email: zhongguotianbao@chinatbjt.com.
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Shareholders can also direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, whose address is Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

Rights on Appointment, Election and Removal of Directors

In accordance with Article 111 of the Articles of Association, the
Company may elect any person to be a director of the Company from
time to time by ordinary resolution in a general meeting to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional to the existing Directors.

The Shareholders may remove any Director by ordinary resolution
before the expiration of his/her term of office in accordance with
Article 114 of the Articles of Association.

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, the Company
shall propose separate resolutions at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, if a shareholder
of the Company wishes to propose a person, other than a retiring
Director, or a person recommended by the Board of the Company
for election, as a Director at the general meeting, such shareholder
entitled to attend and vote at such general meeting, should lodge
a notice in writing of his/her intention to propose such person for
election together with the notice signed by the proposed person of
his/her willingness to be elected, at the Company’s place of business
in Hong Kong at Unit 3326, 33/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.
The nominating shareholder should also provide the biographical
details of the person he or she proposes to be elected as a director
to the Company required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The
notices should be given within the period commencing on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election of directors and ending no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting and such period shall be at least 7 days.
The procedures for Shareholder to propose a person for election as a
Director is available on the Company’s website (www.chinatbjt.com).
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Upon receipt of the above notices after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting, the Company shall publish an announcement
or issue a supplementary circular prior to the date of the general
meeting in accordance with Rule 13.70 of the Listing Rules, disclosing
the particulars of the proposed director as required under Rule 13.51
(2) of the Listing Rules.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

A Shareholders’ communication policy has been adopted by the
Board, with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders are
provided with information about the Group to enable them to exercise
their rights in an informed manner, and to engage actively with the
Group. The policy is reviewed regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

The policy sets out various communication channels including, among
others, the Company’s website, Shareholders’ meetings and investor
briefings, through which Shareholders may communicate and provide
feedback to the Company from time to time.

The Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Company by post at No. 33, Guanyun
East Road, Zhuozhou City, Hebei Province, the PRC or by telephone
at (+86) 0312-3650258 or email at zhongguotianbao@chinatbjt.com.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place, the Company
considered it to be effective for the year ended December 31, 2022.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on May 26, 2022,
the Shareholders passed the special resolution in relation to the
approval and adoption of a new amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company. The amendments are
made in relation to the core shareholder protection standards under
Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules and to align with amendments to
the laws of the Cayman Islands. The latest version of the second
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company has come into effect on May 26, 2022, and published on
the website of the Company (www.chinatbjt.com) and the website of
the Stock Exchange. For details of the abovementioned amendments,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated April 26, 2022.
Saved as disclosed above, no change has been made in the Articles
of Association.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B XBENRE

To the shareholders of China Tianbao Group Development
Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

e
EY:x

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 153 to 291, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which states that as at 31 December 2022, the Group’s
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB644,238,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB222,976,000. This condition along with other
matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. In addition to the matter
described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B XBENRE

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction contracting

76% of the Group’s revenue was derived from construction
contracting for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
progress was measured by applying an input method based
on the costs incurred up to the year end as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract. The application of
the input method involves the use of significant judgements
and estimates, including the scope of deliveries and services
required, total contract costs, and the remaining costs to
completion. The revenue, cost and gross profit realised on
such contracts can vary from the Group’s original estimates
because of any future changes in conditions such as scope
changes made to the original contracts, claims, disputes and
liquidation damages.

The accounting policies and related disclosures for the
revenue recognition from construction contracting are
included in notes 2.4, 3, 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We performed the following procedures in relation to revenue
recognition from construction contracting:

1) We evaluated and tested the controls over the
accounting process of contract costs, contract
revenues and the calculation of the percentage of
completion;

2) On a sample basis, we reviewed the detailed terms,
including the contract sum, the settlement terms and
other key contract terms of significant construction
contracts;

3) We inspected the contract costs incurred by checking
against supporting documents such as delivery and
acceptance notes, purchase invoices and other
computation forms such as labour cost settlement
documents and machinery expense settlement
documents; we evaluated management’s judgements
and estimates in the determination of the estimated
total contract costs by discussing the progress of
the construction contracts with those in charge of
the projects and by comparing actual contract costs
incurred with budgeted contract costs; and we
reviewed the gross profit of each project with revenue
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
identify whether there was any negative gross profit
item;

4) We re-calculated the revenue recognised on a sample
basis and performed analytical review procedures
according to different types of construction services;
and

5) We evaluated the disclosures of revenue recognition
from construction contracting.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B XBENRE

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provision for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and contract

assets

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables and contract assets amounting
to RMB1,626,845,000 (2021: RMB2,175,933,000) were
material to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Management uses the simplified approach to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets and the
general approach to calculate ECLs for deposits and other
receivables.

Management’s assessment of the ECLs involves significant
judgements and estimates and is based on historical
observed default rates, ageing of balances, existence of
disputes and forward-looking information. At the year
end, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed by
management. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
Management also assesses whether the credit risk on the
deposits and other receivables has increased significantly
under the general approach.

The accounting policies and related disclosures for the trade
receivables and contract assets are included in notes 2.4,
20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements. The
accounting policies and related disclosures for deposits and
other receivables are included in notes 2.4, 24 and 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We performed the following procedures in relation to the
provision assessment for trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables and contract assets:

1) We evaluated and tested the controls over the
accounting process of provision for ECLs for trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and
contract assets;

2) We evaluated the provision for trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables and contract assets
by selecting samples to check the debtors’ latest
correspondence and historical payment records;

3) We tested the accuracy of ageing of balances of
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and
contract assets by tracing details of selected samples
to supporting documents, such as invoices and
contracts with debtors;

4) We inspected the bank slips for the payments of
the selected trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables received subsequent to the reporting
period;

5) We evaluated the Group’s determination of significant
increase in credit risk for the selected deposits and
other receivables by checking the available external
data and the information related to the overdue
balances;

6) We inspected the calculation of the ECLs by
checking the loss rate against the observed historical
loss records and reviewing the adjustment for
forward-looking information; and

7) We evaluated the disclosures of provision for ECLs for
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and
contract assets.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B XBENRE

Key audit matter
Recognition of deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets of
RMB84,485,000 (2021: RMB85,525,000) were material to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, including
RMB6,034,000 (2021: RMB6,589,000) recognised for unused
tax losses.

Management recognised the deferred tax assets regarding to
deductible temporary differences and deductible tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits.

The accounting policies and related disclosures for the
deferred tax assets are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MREREMFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following procedures in relation to the
recognition of deferred tax assets:

1) We evaluated and tested the controls over the
accounting process of the recognition of deferred tax
assets;

2) We reviewed the profit prediction in the future

approved by the management, compared the
historical operating results, trend, and future operating
plan, assessed the key data and assumption adopted

in the prediction of future taxable income;
3) We re-calculated the deferred tax assets and
performed analytical review procedures according to

different types of temporary differences; and

4) We evaluated the disclosures of the recognition of
deferred tax assets.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B XBENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B X BEN R S

RHMBEFNREMEBERARBENRE
(%)

. BEESRABERESHERRERDTRE
TRECEDNEZRER BERSAY B
EEFEKENENBRERRBENSHH
BEREERTHEREZ -HESTERERR
FEATHEREZE BEEEARKBARS P
REBEIZGEAVBBRRANEBEERRKE
FMREBREFRE IEEREBRRIERE
EEREBR - TENERBERBERY
MBmERMAESHELRR R KRHE
HEERAAEE BEEATBEEFEAR
EHRED -

. TEGEEHBREANEREY RBERAT
BEEEERN URGEHBERRRESLS
KRREEXZREBE -

. B BEEREANEEEBHAERITINMEEN
ESZRE EENEREREE UNRGESUBR
REXRBER -EZREEE -EERIT B
EENERIF - FERBERIREAELZR

R

ELHERZESEBRTANETEE SERH
ERBFRRS BREEAEFTHTRIN BRI
BERWEFMERRE-

2022%EEH TEAREERRERAT D]



1 52 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
23 March 2023

Annual Report 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FeERRR

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A31HILEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P &E AE® TR AR T
REVENUE Y &= 5 1,923,869 2,899,541
Cost of sales £ & R A (1,809,157) (2,655,907)
Gross profit EF 114,712 243,634
Other income and gains Hih g A kW= 5 (97,784) 16,113
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHBEX (1,277) (8,559)
Administrative expenses THEX (65,879) (62,875)
Impairment losses on financial and cRKEREERERIE
contract assets, net F R (162,681) (46,326)
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMENLATEEE 14 (72,379) -
Fair value loss on financial assets through BEAFEFAEEN
profit or loss tRMEELAFEEE (7,378) (36,824)
Other expenses H#ihpa (2,560) (8,378)
Finance costs & A 7 (70,866) (57,989)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX MR AT (B518),a Al 6 (366,092) 48,796
Income tax credit/(expense) FEBESE (B%) 10 18,746 (6,988)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £y (K 18),/ i 7 (347,346) 41,808
Attributable to: PN o
Owners of the parent BAREE A (347,346) 41,808
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAREBRESEERA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY EEER(ER)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT b= 12
Basic and diluted EAREE
- For (loss)/profit for the year -RERGER)ER RMB(0.43) RMBO0.05
AR #(0.43)T AR¥0.05T

2022 FF IR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeEREBRR

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A31HILEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥T T
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(EER) & F (347,346) 41,808
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME HEa2E (R WA
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may REZHBUEEENIE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ZERZ
periods: Haz2mEm(EE), WA :
Exchange differences: BE N Z%5:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBN
foreign operations [EH =% (10,235) (8,749)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that may REZHBUEEENSE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EERZ
periods Ht2mUEE), WA FE (10,235) (8,749)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not REZBHEABEITEEFSE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ZERZ
periods: Htz2mE(EE), WA :
Equity investments designated at fair value EBEERRAFHETA
through other comprehensive income: Htt2EBRANBRERSE
Changes in fair value ANTFEEZE (51,270) (8,154)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR & N E {12 (& 18) K A -
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MR BE (61,505) (11,903)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR &R 2E (F18), A
THE YEAR @5 (408,851) 29,905
Attributable to: U A e
Owners of the parent NEEEBA (408,851) 29,905
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRAER

31 December 2022

2022%F12H31H

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AE® TR AR T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BRERRZE 13 220,244 227,947
Investment properties REYE 14 239,800 140,400
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 10,443 14,208
Other intangible assets HtEFrEE 829 1,418
Equity investments designated at fair value EE 5K 2 FEFAH M
through other comprehensive income ZHBKANRERE 16 141,176 194,256
Financial assets at fair value through profit 2 FEFAEBEHN
or loss EWMEE 17 44,077 164,485
Deferred tax assets EEREEE 18 84,485 85,525
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 741,054 828,239
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories 78 19 53 69
Trade receivables g5 EWRIE 20 335,124 641,828
Contract assets EREE 21 1,089,967 1,353,270
Properties under development EEWE 22 2,314,414 2,393,101
Completed properties held for sale ERIHFEHEWHE 23 822,253 973,845
Prepayments, other receivables and other EARE -HMEKRKRER
assets HtEE 24 320,837 247,006
Tax recoverable Al Y B Fi 1H 24,346 27,989
Pledged deposits EEHER 25 402,796 223,288
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEESEEY 25 222,976 248,749
Total current assets REBEEHE 5,532,766 6,109,145

2022 FF IR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ReMBIRAE
31 December 2022
2022 12H31H

2022 2021
2022 2021 %
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR®BTTR AR T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables B 5 EMARE 26 1,762,454 2,228,185
Other payables and accruals HihENSRERESTEAR 27 2,219,099 2,118,161
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 2 R 17 & H fi f& & 28 644,238 451,707
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 716 1,909
Tax payable FEAS R 1B 366,462 440,694
Total current liabilities REBEEHEE 4,992,969 5,240,656
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 539,797 868,489
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERARBAERE
LIABILITIES 1,280,851 1,696,728
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SFTERTER 28 260,000 344,000
Deferred tax liabilities EELEREERE 18 20,796 4,579
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) - 2,359
Total non-current liabilities kRBEBHEE 280,796 350,938
Net assets EEFE 1,000,055 1,345,790
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent B QT EAE AEBEES
Share capital % A 29 7,281 7,281
Reserves f % 31 992,774 1,338,509
Total equity BRED 1,000,055 1,345,790
Wang Xinling Li Yaruixin
ITH® FETEE
Director Director
= =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHRERR

Year ended 31 December 2022

B ZE2022F12831HILFE
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value Shares held
Statutory ~ through other Exchange for share
Share Capital Special surplus  comprehensive fluctuation award QOther Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve income reserve scheme reserves profits ~ Total equity
BRATEIA
H2ENA AR
EEEH MEREE EXRD L4 R
e RAGRE RHEE % DYERE fE  KEORG HipGfR REER fEs
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT AR®TR ARETR AR¥TR ARETn ARETn ARETz ARETn  ARETR
note29  notedi@  note3t(h)  notedic) note 31(d) note 31(e) note 31()
29 M3 H&31(0) HEE31(c) HE31() B 31(e) HaE31(f)
At 1 January 2021 R201E1A18 7,81 433,783 - 43,643 8,625 (13,689) (48,517) 894 883,864 1,315,885
Profit for the year Enigil = S = S - - - - 41,808 41,808
Other comprehensive income EREpRELA:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity RATEFALL
investments at fair value AAUANRE
through other comprehensive REZLATESD
income, net of tax (MNEHB) - - - - (8,154) - - - - (8,154)
Exchange differences relatedto  EEHERAEEM
foreign operations EiZE - - - - - (3,749 - - - (3,749)
Total comprehensive income ERRERALE
for the year S S S S (8,154) (3,749) S S 41,808 29,905
Transfer to special reserve ERENRE - - 53,922 - - - - - - 53,92
Utilisation of special reserve BRRARRE - - (53,922) - - - - - - (53,922)
At 31 December 2021 R2021£12A31A 7,81 433,783 - 43,643* 4 (17,437 (48,517 894* 925,672 1,345,790

2022 FF IR

TEAREEBEERAT 1D/



158

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeHREER

Year ended 31 December 2022

EZE2022F12A318 ILFE
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value Shares held
Statutory  throughother  Exchange for share
Share Capital Special surplus  comprehensive  fluctuation award Other Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve income reserve scheme reserves profits
BATEHA
A2EHA ERR
EERR MemEE  ERED  REHH
R REER  BHER 1] AFEGR B RENRR  XMEE  REEN 3 ¥
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTT ARRTT ARRTT ARKI% AERTT ARRTT ARRTT ARRTT ARRTT ARRTR
note2d  notedia  note3i(h)  note3i(c) note 31(d) note 31(¢) note 31(f)
Mit20 Kitdi(a) Rit31(h) Riti(c) Rit31(d) Ritdile) Wit 31(f)
At 1 January 2022 R02F1F1H 7,281 433,783 - 43,643 4n (17,437) (48,517) 894 925,672 1,345,790
Loss for the year EnER - - - - - - - - (347,346)  (347,346)
Other comprehensive loss EREtRERE:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity BATEIHALSR
investments at fair value ARANRERE
through other comprehensive ZATERE
income, net of tax (Nk5E) - - - - (51,270) - - - - (51,270)
Exchange differences relatedto ~ EENEREBNE
foreign operations HER - - - - - (10,235) - - - (10,235)
Total comprehensive loss ERREFRLE
for the year - - - - (51,270) (10,235) - - (347,346) (408,851)
Transer of fair value reserve upon ~ EERAFEF AL
the disposal of equity investments ~ 2EHANRERE
at fair value through other REBLTERE
comprehensive income - - - - 28,726 - - - (28,726) -
Shares granted under share award B ERBEBT AR
scheme EY - 14,599 - - - - 48,517 (894) 894 63,116
Transfer to special reserve EZHIEE - - 30,542 - - - - - - 30,542
Utilisation of special reserve BRGHER - - (30,542) - - - - - - (30,542)
At 31 December 2022 R202F12531H 7,281 448,382 - 43,643 (22,073 (21,672 - - 550,494* 1,000,085
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEREREERESATBEMRRRFPIARE

RMB992,774,000 (2021: RMB1,338,509,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited = Annual Report 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HReRaRER

Year ended 31 December 2022

BZE2022F12A31BLEEFE

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBT R

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES B EEBHELNRERE

(Loss)/profit before tax BB A (EBB), &R (366,092) 48,796
Adjustments for: BUTREARE:
Finance costs SN 7 70,866 57,989
Interest income FE WA 5 (6,955) (3,184)
Dividend income from equity investments EEARLOFHETAHM
designated at fair value through other PHBRAZREREZ
comprehensive income = ON 5 - (10,739)
Dividends income from financial assets at BAFEGFABRZERERE
fair value through profit or loss ZBRE WA 5 (970) (668)
Realised loss of equity investments at BEAFEFABREZ
fair value through profit of loss REREZAZRAEE 5 108,154 -
Fair value losses, net: NFEBETE:
Equity investments at fair value through BAFEGFTABREMN
profit or loss RERE 7,378 36,824
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment # ¥ -BERREITE 13 7,955 7,523
Changes in fair value of investment properties RENEAFEEZH 6 72,379 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEFE 6 1,199 2,166
Amortisation of other intangible assets HttE\mEEE#H 6 589 721
Impairment losses on trade receivables B EUREBRESSE 6 177,038 42,028
Impairment losses on contract assets CREEREESE 6 (13,876) 2,510
Impairment losses on prepayments, other BEARE HUERZRER
receivables and other assets HthEERBERFE 6 (481) 1,788
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant HEME BERBEEBEAEZ
and equipment iy & (110) -
57,074 185,754
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERL/ (M 16 (69)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 25 EWHRERD, (4 m) 41,510 (168,822)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets EREERL(Em) 277,179 (49,241)
Decrease/(increase) in properties under ERMERD,(Em)
development 78,687 (230,316)
Increase in completed properties held for sale B % THEHE W EE M (20,187) (88,315)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other BARE HthEBRRER
receivables and other assets HihEECGE M), 6L (88,338) 21,837
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits EEHRFEREEM R (179,508) 41,690
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables EEEMREBECED), LM (877,575) 152,699
Increase in other payables and accruals HitEARERETEAZM 78,291 2,749

20225 tEAREERRERAT D9



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeReafER

Year ended 31 December 2022

B E2022F 128318 LEE
2022 2021
20225 2021 %
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
[ AR® TR AR T

Cash used in operations BEmMARS (132,851) (132,034)
Income tax paid e EH (34,585) (20,644)
Interest received 2WFE 1,646 1,287
Net cash flows used in operating activities RETBHMARAESRE (165,790) (151,391)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEZBHELEMNRERE

Dividends received from equity investments BREREARATHETA

designated at fair value through other Hth2HBRAZRERE

comprehensive income Bz HQ g - 10,739
Dividends received from financial assets at fair B&Z A FEFAEEHN

value through profit or loss %mﬂﬁ%l&ﬁizﬂx g 970 668
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEWMX BERFKEEE

equipment (252) (4,228)
Purchase of items of other intangible assets BEHMEFEEEHR - (209)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments HEZAFEFAEMEZEKA

designated at fair value through other ZREREZRBRE

comprehensive income 5,644 =
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERQNTFEFTABEN

through profit or loss TRMEE - (936)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERLDFHEFABRZ

fair value through profit or loss CREEZMBNE 19,828 -
Purchases of equity investments designated BEETARLFEA

at fair value through other comprehensive Hth2EHBAZKRERE

income - (64,410)
Advances to the ultimate holding company MEAERDAER 36 - (32,405)
Repayments of advances to the ultimate holding EZE &K ER A AR HK

company 36 - 4,017
Advances to related parties EBIEE A EH 2 B 36 (63) -
Advances to third parties ME=ZAFELEZBER (18,432) (40,978)
Repayments of advances to third parties EBERE=ZAFEHZBR 39,532 23,670
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) REZHRE (A

investing activities BaeRE 47,227 (104,072)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HReRaRER
Year ended 31 December 2022
BZE2022F12A31BLEEFE

2022 2021

20225 2021 %

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AR® TR
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEZBELEMBEERE
Additions of interest-bearing bank and other AEFERITRHEMER

borrowings 260,000 630,707
Repayments of interest-bearing bank and EEFERTRAMER

other borrowings (177,865) (415,450)
Principal portion of lease payments HERRNETEHD 15 (951) (1,910)
Advances from the ultimate holding company SR ZER LA 7B XK 36 - 31,733
Advances from related parties REBEBEINER 36 30,000 1,600
Repayments of advances from related parties EEREBEEH T HB R 36 - (1,600)
Advances from third parties REE=ZFTHNER 774,277 751,465
Repayments of advances from third parties BEREE=ZFHNER (720,061) (624,456)
Interest paid ERFE (70,125) (57,086)
Net cash flows generated from financing METHRAERSRE

activities 95,275 315,003
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRBEEEMBRD)/

CASH EQUIVALENTS 8 m (23,288) 59,540
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £ HERBEZEEY 248,749 183,919
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net IEERSEZEFHE (2,485) 5,290
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END EXAERACEFED

OF YEAR 222,976 248,749
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeRBFSERMERS I

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances BeRBRTEH 625,772 472,037
Less: pledged deposits HOCERER (402,796) (223,288)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BERREERMINEER

the statement of financial position BEEEY 222,976 248,749
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BeREXRMIEER

the statement of cash flows BEEEY 222,976 248,749
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office address of the Company is Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort
Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
principal activities:

. Construction contracting

° Property development and others

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Jixiang

International Industrial Company Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

1.

AFIREEEHE
PEXREERRERATDA —BERBEESH
EEMRINERATD AATANEMPS
B i 3t B Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands °

RER FEERSUTHERES:

3 BEERE
. FihER R H M

ESRAE FA2ANERRAARBRERD
AATHERBEXERAF ZQAAREE

BELHRES(EBELES DEMMR L -

Information about subsidiaries FHRMBATZHE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KRB EEMBRARZFERBOT :
follows:
Percentage
Place of of equity
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration and registered share the Company Principal
Name Legal status business capital Indirect activities
3005094 BRITEE FOFEIL
£ EEM HEMREEBE dEfEs BEaSLME IEEH
Tianbao Construction Limited liability =~ People’s Republic RMB1,050,000,000 100 Construction
Group Company Limited*  company of China (“PRC”)/ contracting
Mainland China
AREREBERAA EREELA REARAME AR® 100 ZEAEE
(TRED/ HER 1,050,000,000 7%
Tianbao Real Estate Group Limited liability =~ PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 100 Property
Co., Ltd.* company development
and others
AREHEEEEBRLART BREETLA FELHE R AR 100 R EMBREM

1 62 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited = Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Name Legal status business
3
28 b3 3K R E R

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

AFIREEEHEE)
FRAMBLRZHERE)
Percentage
of equity
Issued ordinary/ attributable to
registered share the Company Principal
capital Indirect activities
BERITEE FAFEL

dEMmEE BREESHEAR FEFH

Huailai Tianbao Property Limited liability = PRC/Mainland China
Development Company company
Limited*

BERAREHERAZEER BREFLET HE/FEAR
A

Yuxian Tianbao Property Limited liability ~ PRC/Mainland China
Development Company company
Limited*

HEARELERZAR BREEAA HE/FEHRI
N

Zhangbei Tianbao Hengqi  Limited liability = PRC/Mainland China
Property Development company
Company Limited*

REAREEE®RERE BRSEEARA HE/FERL
EREELA

Zhuozhou City Mingyang Limited liability =~ PRC/Mainland China
Property Development company
Company Limited*

BN ARG i A B R EREMEDA FELHRE R
EREEDA

The English names of the companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by management of the
Company to translate the Chinese names of these companies
as they do not have official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

RMB20,000,000 100 Property
development and
others

A & #20,000,000 T 100 FHERBEREM

RMB20,000,000 100 Property
development and
others

A K #20,000,000 T 100 RitEMBREM
RMB5,000,000 100 Property
development and
others
A K #5,000,000 7T 100 FEMBREM

RMB10,000,000 100 Property
development and
others

A K #10,000,000 T 100 FEMBREM
* RABZMN AN RN ERBIIHARAE

EESRASIHZSEAADXEBEEN
B DEHEIBEXNRERE-

ERIHAQRAZHMBLR EERHZE
MBLARAEIEXEAFEXGRIABRAER
EEFENIEND ESAAH REEMH
BLrEamEBEesndTR .

202255  HERXREEBRABRAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties
and equity investments which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

1 64 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited = Annual Report 2022
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2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounted
to RMB644,238,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB222,976,000. Subsequent to 31 December
2022, US$44,000,000 (equivalent to RMB305,139,000) of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings was due on 6
February 2023 and unpaid as at the report date. In view of
the volatility of the property market in China, coupled with the
limited source of financing from the capital market, the Group
may take longer time than expected to realise cash from the
sale of its properties, and the proceeds from construction
contracting and/or have the cash from external financing to
meet its loan repayment obligations.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the Group’s
future liquidity requirements, operating performance and
available sources of financing in assessing the Group’s ability
to operate as a going concern. The following plans and
measures are formulated to manage the working capital and
improve the financial position of the Group:

(a) The Group continues to generate positive operating
cash flows for the next twelve months by implementing
various strategies to improve the Group’s income from
sales of properties, and property development and
other services to generate additional operating cash
inflows and putting extra efforts on the collection of
outstanding trade receivables and contract assets;

(b) The Group is actively reviewing its debt structure and
looking for funding opportunities; the Group is actively
negotiating with several financial institutions to renew/
obtain loans at a reasonable cost;

(c) The Group continues to monitor capital expenditure
to balance and relieve cash resource to support
operations and take action to tighten cost controls over
various operating expenses;

(d) The Group continues to identify suitable purchasers
and engage in discussions with certain potential
purchasers, on possible disposals of the Group’s equity
interest in certain property development projects to
raise additional capital.
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2.1

2.2

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow forecast covering a period of twelve months from the end
of the reporting period. They are of the opinion that, taking
into account of the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors
believe it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property
market in China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous
support by the banks and the Group’s creditors, material
uncertainties exist as to whether management of the Company
will be able to achieve its plans and measures as described
above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the values
of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the
first time for the current year's financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16,
and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements
to IFRSs 2018-2020

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@) Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer
to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 January 2022.
As there were no business combinations during the
year, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

(b) Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity
recognises the proceeds from selling any such items,
and the cost of those items as determined by IAS 2
Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has applied
the amendments retrospectively to items of property,
plant and equipment made available for use on or
after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs
that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all
its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include
only those paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022.
As there was no modification or exchange of
the Group’s financial liabilities during the year,
the amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.3 [ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

and IFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?®
Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts’ ®

Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)? 4

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(continued)

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective
date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

5 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in
June 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than
IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to
the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply
it on initial application of IFRS 17

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates
to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16
(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination
over whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the
liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA
issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments
require additional disclosures by an entity that classifies
liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early
is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments,
and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements
may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures
to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as

a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than deferred
tax assets, financial assets, properties under development,
completed properties held for sale, investment properties,
inventories and contract assets), the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(viiy a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to

its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3%-5%
Plant and machinery 5%-19%
Motor vehicles 6%-32%

Office equipment and others 10%-33%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

2.4

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

EXEHBFBEE)

MR BRERSMBRITE(Z)

FEDLESRERAGHTERAFHMHS
MK BERRBENRASHMGEE- £
SARNIEERMT :

ZEY 3%-5%
B B B # 5%-19%
RE 6%-32%
MORBREAM 10%-33%

E-ENEX BERRENZB2EFRT
EREFHR ZEENREADRABEEER
B2 zBOE  MEILD THEHHIFTE R
BEE -IRAFHRFEIEAEIREY
HERBHN  XELHABE@MER) -

gg

ME - BERREEBE(BFRIDRBEINEM
EABOIREEREPACARHEFTEF
REMAREBENESBRL LB - BHESR
BEMRZEERLBRFENBERER
E’JEHU&ﬁﬁﬁEﬂEBﬁ@ﬁé%iﬁ%ﬁﬁ%#\
HEREEMNER-

ERIRBDEETNEF HERAREM
HEBBIRMTAERE - RABFRET
RREEHE2EERF ERIEREK
RAMEARENI2BEENE BERRE
ZHEEER -

2022 FF IR

sEAREmsEaRAT 179



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or completed properties held for sale, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value
at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the
Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above. For a transfer from completed properties
held for sale to investment properties, any difference between
the fair value of the property at that date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development year and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statement
of financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the
total costs of land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties.

Allocation of property development cost

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their
respective saleable gross floor areas (“GFA”) to the total
saleable GFA. Construction costs relating to units were
identified and allocated specifically. Common construction
costs have been allocated according to the saleable GFA
similar to land cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of other intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of other intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the other intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an other intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life from 1 year to 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Office buildings

40 - 50 years
2 -3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as properties under development
or completed properties held for sale, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with the Group’s policy
for “properties under development” and “completed
properties held for sale”. When a right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property, it is
included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance
with the Group’s policy for “investment properties”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office buildings
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments) (continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

1 88 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited = Annual Report 2022

2.4

EXEHBEBEE)

RERAMEMEE(E)

EERLFEAARMREABRANLHEE(R
*RE)E)
ZETHEENVREREAES TS REHF
ABSER-BRERBUNTE EREHEEZ
RENGBETERALCEBERESHESN
ARt ERRESRPEIABEMBEA
HEAEEZERZEMSREMAERKE
TREE-HORABERNS RESEERT
ZEWEREMEABRASIR -BERAF
B AHME2ERANRARE R ZRET
A

TE

HRFEHARD £ M EE
BAFEFABSZZEREERMBERRE
BATEINR MATEZSFRANES
RHER ©

LENEERAEELYE R THE M EERLD
FEFAEMCZEARASIEZRARE 2
BERARAFEFABEZEMEEZRAEAR
ERETRBYUNRE EREHEZER
MNERUERAAEEERESHERE TR
AERRESERABI/EMEA -



2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily

derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit

risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 S Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 S Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, an amount due to the ultimate holding company and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher
of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the
policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(a) Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction services
is recognised over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service, because the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the construction services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks
to collect from the customers as reimbursement of
costs and margins for scope of works not included in the
original construction contract. Claims are accounted
for as variable consideration and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The
Group uses the expected value method to estimate the
amounts of claims because this method best predicts
the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b) Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the properties.

(c) Provision of management services

Revenue from the provision of management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

Share award scheme

The Group operates a share award scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purposes of (i) recognising the contributions by certain
employees and providing them with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of
the Group; and (ii) attracting suitable personnel for further
development of the Group. Employees of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments.

The Company entered into trust deed and appointed Victory
Global Trustee Company Limited (the “Trustee”) as the trustee
for the administration of the Scheme pursuant to the Scheme
Rules. Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) may from time to time instruct the
trustee to purchase shares in the open market for the purpose
of the Scheme. The shares purchased by the trustee and the
returned shares will be held by the trustee until they are vested
in the selected employees in accordance with the scheme
rules and the trust deed. The consideration paid by the trustee
for purchasing the Company’s shares from the market is
presented as “shares held for share award scheme” and the
amount is deducted from total equity.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Share award scheme (continued)

A share award scheme in exchange for services received
from employees is measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted to the employees. If such share award
scheme could vest immediately, related costs or expenses
at an amount equal to the fair value on the grant date are
recognised, with a corresponding increase in capital reserves.

The cost of share award scheme is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
share award scheme at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Share award scheme (continued)

Where the terms of a share award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where a share award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
properties under development, completed properties held for
sale, and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to

satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Contract costs (continued)

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits
Social pension plans

The Group has the social pension plans for its employees
arranged by local government labour and security authorities.
The Group makes contributions on a monthly basis to the
social pension plans. The contributions are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the social pension plans. Under the plans, the Group has no
further obligation beyond the contributions made.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security
contribution schemes for its employees pursuant to the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. These include
housing fund, basic medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, injury insurance and maternity insurance. The
Group makes monthly contributions to the housing fund and
other social insurances. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group has no further
obligations beyond the contributions made.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other
comprehensive income.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statement of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Going Concern Consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. The assessment of
the going concern assumption involves making a judgement
by the directors, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors consider that the Group has the
capability to continue as a going concern and the major events
or conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that
may individually or collectively cast a significant doubt upon
the going concern assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,

management has made the following judgements, apart from

those involving estimations, which have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue

from contracts with customers:

(@

Determining the timing of satisfaction of construction
contracting

The Group concluded that revenue from construction
contracting is recognised over time because the
customer simultaneously receives the benefits provided
by the Group. The fact that another entity would not
need to re-perform the construction contracting that
the Group has provided to date demonstrates that the
customer simultaneously receives the benefits of the
Group’s performance as it performs.

The Group determined that the input method is the best
method in measuring the progress of the construction
contracting because there is a direct relationship
between the Group’s effort and the transfer of services
to the customer. The Group recognises revenue on
the basis of the proportion of costs incurred to date
to the estimated total cost relative to complete the
construction contracting.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties or completed properties held
for sale

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

Provision of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market condition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which such estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Progress of completion of construction contracting

Revenue recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contracts and is measured by reference to
the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated
total cost of the relevant contract. The Group reviews and
revises the estimates of total contract costs, prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by management
on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by
the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of management. In order to keep the
budget accurate and up-to-date, management conducts
periodic reviews of the management budgets by comparing
the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Total
budgeted costs for construction contracting comprise (i) direct
material costs and direct labour, (ii) costs of subcontracting,
and (iii) an appropriation of variable and fixed construction and
services overheads. In estimating the total budgeted costs
for construction contracting, management makes reference
to information such as (i) current offers from subcontractors
and suppliers, (ii) recent offers agreed with subcontractors
and suppliers, and (iii) an estimation on material costs, labour
costs and other costs with reference to past experience.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact
on the income tax and tax provisions in the year in which the
differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in China. The provision for LAT
is based on management's best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon the
completion of the property development projects. The Group
has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the tax
authorities for certain of its property development projects.
The final outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and any differences will impact on the
LAT expenses and the related provision in the year in which
the differences realise.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the
reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value
of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31
December 2022 was RMB6,034,000 (2021: RMB6,589,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2022 was RMB65,186,000 (2021: RMB20,924,000). Further
details of deferred tax assets are contained in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties carried at fair value were revalued at
each reporting date based on the appraised market value
provided by independent professional valuers. Such valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the estimation, the Group considers information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties
and uses assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the
fair value include those related to estimated rental values with
reference to the current market rents for similar properties in
the same location and condition, appropriate capitalisation
rates and expected profit margin.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December
2022 was RMB239,800,000 (2021: RMB140,400,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement are given in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns. (i.e., by geography, product
type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the construction contracting and
property development sectors, the historical default rates
are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer's actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables and contract
assets is disclosed in note 20 and note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements. The valuation
requires the Group to determine comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these
investments as Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity
investments at 31 December 2022 was RMB138,000,000
(2021: RMB138,000,000). Further details are included in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Construction contracting — this segment engages in
the provision of services relating to construction as a
general contractor for building construction projects,
infrastructure construction projects and property
investment; and

(b) Property development and others — this segment
engages in the sale of properties and the provision of
services relating to properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of profit before tax.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference

to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%F12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION BESBEHE)
(continued)
Property
Construction development
contracting and others Total
EihEMS
BREB R HEAM # et
# E¥2022%F12A31H RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2022 ILEE AER® TR AE®TTT AR®TTR
Segment revenue (note 5) &k & (M EES5)
Sales to external customers HEFIIBEPL 1,455,411 468,458 1,923,869
Intersegment sales DHEHEE 226,202 - 226,202
Total revenue 1 g 3% 1,681,613 468,458 2,150,071
Reconciliation: AR
Eliminations of intersegment sales HEDHBEHEE (226,202)
Revenue iz 1,923,869
Segment results SEWER (130,831) (222,774) (353,605)
Reconciliation: AR
Eliminations of intersegment results HED BB ELE (12,487)
Loss before tax B % AT &5 18 (366,092)
Segment assets NWMEE 5,216,066 10,049,895 15,265,961
Reconciliation: iR -
Eliminations of intersegment receivables ¥f &5 2 3B & F& Ut 7% 18 (8,992,141)
Total assets wWEE 6,273,820
Segment liabilities SHAR 4,058,654 7,202,134 11,260,788
Reconciliation: Eop 3
Eliminations of intersegment payables  ¥f &5 % 2B & F&E 11 X 8 (5,987,023)
Total liabilities waeE 5,273,765
Other segment information: Hth A EEH :
Depreciation and amortisation EREHE 1,485 8,258 9,743
Impairment losses on financial and cRMEEREE
contract assets, net HEEBEFHE 163,654 (973) 162,681
Capital expenditure* =N 206 46 252
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION BEDBEHE)
(continued)
Property
Construction development
contracting and others Total
Bt E R
BEEE & H A st
B ZEZ2021%12H831H RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2021 tEE ARB T ARB T ARB T
Segment revenue (note 5) U & (M EES)
Sales to external customers BEFHBESE 2,208,722 690,819 2,899,541
Intersegment sales o ESEEEE 690,021 - 690,021
Total revenue W UN 2,898,743 690,819 3,589,562
Reconciliation: E): 3N
Eliminations of intersegment sales Hign BREEE (690,021)
Revenue g = 2,899,541
Segment results SEHER 43,559 17,171 60,730
Reconciliation: AR
Eliminations of intersegment results HEsWEEE (11,934)
Profit before tax B %2 A0 % R 48,796
Segment assets SHEE 6,073,682 10,415,536 16,489,218
Reconciliation: AR
Eliminations of intersegment receivables ¥ 85 % 2B & & U 7% 18 (9,551,834)
Total assets BMEE 6,937,384
Segment liabilities SHBAR 4,810,072 7,358,341 12,168,413
Reconciliation: E): 3N
Eliminations of intersegment payables ¥ §§ % & & f& {4 7 8 (6,576,819)
Total liabilities wme s 5,591,594
Other segment information: Htt > BEH :
Depreciation and amortisation ER#HE 1,406 9,004 10,410
Impairment losses on financial and tRREREREE
contract assets, net WEEBEFE 44,707 1,619 46,326
Capital expenditure* EAREX 3,617 1,160 4,777
E Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EAHXEBEABENE BERRERER
equipment and intangible assets. BE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

The Group has derived substantially all of its revenue
in the PRC, and hence, geographical information is not
considered necessary.

(b) Non-current assets

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

BESBAHEGE)
HERH
(a) XEIBEFHYE

AEBNBARSUERETE B
Kb EEHBRBELE-

(b) FEBEE

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER® T ARBT T

Hong Kong &8 761 1,523
Mainland China R E A b 470,555 382,450
471,316 383,973

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB94,449,000 (2021:
RMB166,551,000) was derived from sales by the construction
contracting segment to a single customer, including sales to a
group of entities which are known to be under common control
with that customer.

FRERBEEENDEREENA
EHEFTEEERIAREEHEE
o

FREEEFMEH
HWARM94,449,000T (2021F : AR¥
166,551,0007T) KW TIREZEREH A
ZEBEFEHNHE (ERAEAEZTFZH
SN SHERELNHEE) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. e Httlr A R
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: K EfMWARKZEZ2MAT :
2022 2021
2022 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR¥T T
Revenue from contracts with customers EFAAWm 1,912,000 2,888,490
Revenue from other sources EH 1t KR 89 I 7
Gross rental income from operating leases: RELLEHENHES KA
B
Other lease payments, including fixed Hi &R
payments (B EE [/ 11,869 11,051
1,923,869 2,899,541
Revenue from contracts with customers TEARKE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) SBWKEBEH
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B FE2022F12A31HILLFEE

Construction Property

contracting development Total

BEXE B tth & B & Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARB TR ARBTR

Types of goods or services BRBEBEER
Construction contracting EERE 1,455,411 - 1,455,411
Property development & ih 7= B 2 - 456,589 456,589
Total revenue from contracts with EFERABWSE

customers 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
Geographical market it E T 5
Mainland China A 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
Timing of revenue recognition I & i 52 W5 R9
Goods transferred at a point intime REBHEBE R - 456,589 456,589
Services transferred over time FE B R E B R 1,455,411 - 1,455,411

ol

Total revenue from contracts with EFEEBAKNE
customers 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. k& HttlrARWKE(Z)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFARAWE (&)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (a) DEK T (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ2021F12831HILEEE
Construction Property
contracting development Total
BERE = ith 7= BA 2 et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T AR T

Types of goods or services BHRBEBERN
Construction contracting BERE 2,208,722 - 2,208,722
Property development = ih 7= BE - 679,768 679,768
Total revenue from contracts EFERAWE

with customers 2,208,722 679,768 2,888,490
Geographical market it = %
Mainland China MR A b 2,208,722 679,768 2,888,490

Timing of revenue recognition I & 7 2 5 [

Goods transferred at a point REBREEE G

in time - 679,768 679,768
Services transferred over time V& B R & % R 75 2,208,722 - 2,208,722
Total revenue from contracts EFaRA KRR

with customers 2,208,722 679,768 2,888,490
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed

in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

B HEBARKS(

EFRGRAKE(E)
(a) DEEBEHGE)
TR REBEFEARABREHES BE

BFRESHENER:

BE2022F12A31HLFE

Construction
contracting

BREEE
RMB’000

Property
development
EHEMS
RMB’000

Total
# 5t
RMB’000

Segments S AR¥TR AR¥®TX AR®TX
Revenue from contracts with EFAAKE

customers
External customers I EF 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
Intersegment sales D EEEE 226,202 - 226,202

1,681,613 456,589 2,138,202

Intersegment eliminations o &6 ¥ 88 (226,202) - (226,202)
Total revenue from contracts with EFEREABKREZE

customers 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE2021F12A31BLEFE

Construction Property
contracting development Total
BEEE = ith = B 2 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Segments S AR T T AR T T AR¥ T
Revenue from contracts with EFRSRAKS
customers
External customers INEBEF 2,208,722 679,768 2,888,490
Intersegment sales o E 690,021 - 690,021
2,898,743 679,768 3,578,511
Intersegment eliminations Pl e ES (690,021) - (690,021)
Total revenue from contracts with BEEAREAWR
customers 2,208,722 679,768 2,888,490
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

B RlkARKES (&)

ERAAKR(E)

(a) HEW@EH )
TRITARABENHERARES
MAGACRAEYRBENECE
TERNEERERORSESHE:

2022 2021
20225 2021 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARB T

Revenue recognised that was included in &M AEEEGEHN

contract liabilities at the beginning of EERUE :

the reporting period:

Construction contracting BEERG 209,250 201,076
Property development B ih 7= B & 337,929 667,232
547,179 868,308

Performance obligations (b) BEHEE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Construction contracting

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and payment is generally
due within 30 days from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

FEAEERNEINENBL DT :

BEREY
BRHEETREHRBEGEEBER .
BERNR-—RRAZHHEFTIORAE
HEN BEFERBNNRZETESD
HLEERBHERD/L REAEEE
BERNRZENDERARAREFES
BFAz-—EHHAHRBERERT
MBERAAEE-

2022FEH TEAREERRERAT 221



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. k& HttlrARWKE(Z)

=

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFARW&E (&)

(b)  Performance obligations (continued) (b) BHEMFEE)
Property development 5 i B B &
The performance obligation is satisfied when the ERFPFHNGSERIVENERERRE
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal RNEEFERLBEAEERREMAR
title of the completed property and the Group has WREEFMNEBETREKBRRKER AIE
a present right to payment and the collection of the NEEEER-

consideration is probable.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the R12A31HP M FRIGBBENETEECRE
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or BRRBARERNXZEESEOT :

partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

2022 2021
2022 2021 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARRTR ARBT R
Amounts expected to be recognised FEHRERABEREN
as revenue: T8
Within one year —FR 1,830,724 3,114,152
After one year —F% 6,574,186 2,901,908
8,404,910 6,016,060
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the SPERFFAGBYSETEEIR —FBBEDS
remaining performance obligations which are expected WHENTEERLCEREEREEE H B
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate HWETRNERNBT MEYEEREEE
to construction services, of which the performance AR MERNBT FEEMN YR FRABEY
obligations are to be satisfied within four years, EEWRSERCERE BN —ERNED A
while those related to property development are to WH PRI ENSESIRTBESYRY
be satisfied within two years. All the other amounts A E o

of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised
as revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed
above do not include variable consideration which is
constrained.
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A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. k& HttlrARWKE(Z)

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AR T T
Other income Htd A
Interest income F B U A 6,955 3,184
Dividend income from equity investments EBEEARRATFETA
designated at fair value through other Hih2mEWKW AN
comprehensive income BREREZREKA - 10,739
Dividend income from financial assets at fair RAFEFABEN
value through profit or loss TREEZRERA 970 668
Government grants BRT 78 Bh 2,227 1,451
10,152 16,042
(Loss)/Gains (518 ke
Realised loss of financial assets at fair value RAOFEFABENEH
through profit or loss EENAZEEBE (108,154) -
Others H 218 71
(97,784) 16,113
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FRIRET(GR) 2
The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging: FEEBWBRBA(EE) SZFRNBRTHEE
%56
2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AR®BTT AR T
Cost of construction contracting BERGRAE 1,378,760 2,090,668
Cost of property development and & b 2 B9 2 AR
others 430,397 565,239
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BER
equipment RBITE 13 7,955 7,523
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENE 15(a) 1,199 2,166
Amortisation of other intangible assets £t £ J & 7 # $& 589 721
Minimum lease payments under KEHERETHREMRESE
operating leases (RS 15(c) 73 180
Lease payments not included in the T AHEABTEN
measurement of lease liabilities HEMR 1,274 1,331
Auditor’s remuneration ZE & 2,000 2,000
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EE®ANE X (TBE
directors’ and chief executive’s EEREITTHRAER
remuneration): M) :
- Wages, salaries and allowances -I&E -HFeREM 14,648 14,597
- Social insurance - ERE 6,057 5,827
- Welfare and other expenses - BAREMEX 614 1,669
21,319 22,093
Impairment of trade receivables, net BESEWREREFE 20 177,038 42,028
Impairment of contract assets, net EREERETE 21 (13,876) 2,510
Impairment losses on financial assets FFATEMARIE HhEW
included in prepayments, other REREMEEN
receivables and other assets, net SRHEEREBEFE 24 (481) 1,788
162,681 46,326
Changes in fair value of investment RENMEATEED
properties 14 72,379 =
Dividend income from equity EEARRATEFTAHEM
investments designated at fair value PEHBEANEREREZ
through other comprehensive income BE WA 5 - (10,739)
Dividend income from financial assets at A FEF AEBEZHN &
fair value through profit or loss BEEZREBA 5 (970) (668)
Interest income B WA 5 (6,955) (8,184)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEVE BMERRESE
plant and equipment, and prepaid BRBEMNTHBESHE
land lease payments i = (110) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

FINANCE COSTS 7. MEREF
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERETNIMAT :
2022 2021
2022 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR T
Interest on bank and other loans BITREMERFE 75,088 62,589
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFNE 75 139
Total interest expense on financial liabilities WHEBAFEFTABEN
not at fair value through profit or loss cHBEFNERZAE 75,163 62,728
Less: interest capitalised W ERAERE (4,297) (4,739)
70,866 57,989
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EEREETBRARHH
REMUNERATION
Directors' and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RELTHRE - FEQTEHE383(1)(a) * (b) *
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), CEHERAGA(KEESIRERRMAE2
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 HEENFRNESRESITRAEFHAOT :

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021

2022 20215

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTTR AREFT T

Fees ws 417 384

Other emoluments: Hi< :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ZHBREYEF 8,474 8,880
Pension scheme contributions and social BEResHEHAKRLR

welfare 51 76

8,942 9,340
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

8.

EFRE®ITRAR

(a) WIAFRTEE
FREBIFRT

(=)

EEXfzERD

during the year were as follows: T :
2022 2021
20225 2021 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR ARBT T

Independent non-executive directors BAFHITES

Mr. Li Xu RSt 139 128
Mr. Li Qingxu TEMWEE 139 128
Mr. Liu Kaixiang 258 %k & 112 128
Mr. Hou Liang FEREE 27 -
417 384

Mr. Liu Kaixiang resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect on
21 October 2022. Mr. Hou Liang was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect on 21 October 2022.

There were no other emoluments payable to the

independent non-executive directors during 2022
(2021:Nil).
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Executive directors

2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%F12H31H

8. EERESTBRABRHHE)

(b) WITES
2022

Pension

Salaries, scheme

allowances contributions

and benefits and social Total
in kind welfare remuneration

BiFaets

Fe - RUR #HRR
EViEF it & & 8 &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®FT AR®TT

Executive directors BITES

Ms. Shen Lifeng REBRZT 3,082 16 3,098
Mr. Li Baotian FRELEE 2,027 - 2,027
Ms. Wang Xinling B =cqnn 930 14 944
Mr. Li Yaruixin TnEBLE 931 16 947
Mr. Zang Lin 9B S & 752 3 755
Ms. Wang Huijie FEARALL 752 2 754
8,474 51 8,525

2022FEH TEAREERRERAT 22/



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors (continued)

EERBRETBRARTHEM(E)

(b) BITEEE)

2021 20214
Pension
scheme
Salaries, contributions
allowances and and social Total
benefits in kind welfare remuneration
BIRE5E
e 2R MR R
EVEF HEEF 4 % i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBT AR TR
Executive directors BITES
Ms. Shen Lifeng REBRZT 3,924 15 3,939
Mr. Li Baotian ZREAXE 1,875 - 1,875
Ms. Wang Xinling g =g 852 23 875
Mr. Li Yaruixin THEERE 852 23 875
Mr. Zang Lin 9B & 688 15 703
Ms. Wang Huijie FERLZL 689 - 689
8,880 76 8,956

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included five
directors (2021: five directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above.
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10.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant
to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and British
Virgin Islands, the Company and the Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands
are not subject to any income tax. The Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are not liable for income tax as
they did not have any assessable profits currently arising in
Hong Kong during the year.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China were
subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% in
accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax during the
year.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including
land costs, borrowing costs and other property development
expenditures. The Group has estimated, made and included in
taxation a provision for LAT according to the requirements set
forth in the relevant Mainland China tax laws and regulations.
The LAT provision is subject to the final review and approval
by the local tax bureau.

Certain subsidiaries with properties sold were subject to
LAT which is calculated based on 5% of property revenue in
accordance with the authorised taxation method approved by
the respective local tax bureaus.

10.

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

Fiis R
AEBARAEEREQRRAZMREERE
BEAEZEEELARRBEENERNZERE
ERRTEH REREHBEREABE L&
ENBRARRA AXFARFIEERHSH
EREBELHESEMARINMBELRAEAR
BREMFEH - AEEREBEMARALI
MEARERABMFEHR BERAZEL2AR
FARBITEREBELEEMERTGER -

AEERRFEREKENHNBELARAIREREA
REFEEEAERERB%NBEEZHH P
BT

THBERDTERN FI0%E60%H REHR
RHTHBEHEBR L HIBERSYWEH
EFRERERAHMAZ(BE LA 1§
REARAMEHEREMAS) - AEBERE
ERTPEAMBBEEEREZANAER L1
BERMGH FHRARRERGB L EE
BBBEARBL IR BRETERERR M E-

ETCEHWENMB LA AN L IEE
BR-HIOBRBEEEGLABEBRERENKESR
WRMERBENERTE -

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARB T

Current income tax B HR FT 15 %4 18,124 41,452
PRC LAT o e 1 (54,127) (31,891)
Deferred income tax IE fE Fr 18 17,257 (2,573)
Total tax charge for the year FRABREH AR (18,746) 6,988
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FidR(E)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss or profit AR RAEKRIBD M E A EMPAERERE
before tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which BERIEBEFENBRBEASBI ZFER
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled W ESHAXERERSHEFENMS
to the tax expense at the effective income tax rates, and a FEZHERE UREABREEIEERR)EE
reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax BMBERZHEROT :

rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2022 2021
2022 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTTR AR T
(Loss)/profit before tax BRF AT (K5 18), s 7 (366,092) 48,796
Tax at the statutory tax rate BREEBEFE2HRE (91,523) 12,199
Income not subject to tax BEARB KA (225) (2,685)
Expenses not deductible for tax FHNHEEX 761 468
Effect of tax rate differences in other Hth R ZEEREZEMN
jurisdictions ge 40,308 20,173
Unrecognised deductible temporary RERTNBEREEZER
differences and tax losses BEEIE 72,528 751
Provision for LAT 4 i 1B E B E R (54,127) (31,891)
Tax effect on LAT THIEERAOTE R E 13,532 7,973
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate RAEASEERBETEN
HEZH (18,746) 6,988
11. DIVIDENDS 11. K2
2022 2021
2022 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AR T
Interim — Nil (2021: Nil) per ordinary share PH-BREERE
(2021 F : &) = =
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12.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts
is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the ordinary shares of
808,314,000 (2021: 789,608,000) in issue during the year, as
adjusted to reflect the number of shares exercised under the
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

12.

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

BAFRBRERGBSAABESROE
"), B2F

BREAESR), BFASENAEDEREA
AZEARRBEAARBEFERUEE) 5 F U
RERNE #1TE B KR808,314,000 A% (2021 £ :
789,608,000 %) (AR FE LR MR B £2022F 12
AMHLEEERBFITENROGEE) -

REBMREE2022F £2021F12A31H L F
EYEZTHECRTEAR -

BREXARBBE(BER) BRDERUTER

is based on: sTE
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR® TR AR T
Earnings an
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity ARSTEESRER(ESE)
holders of the parent, used in the basic BANBLAREBES
(loss)/earnings per share calculation BEAELESR), ZF (347,346) 41,808
Number of shares
R % B
2022 2021
20225 20214
Shares B 5
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FRFTESRER(ER)/
in issue during the year used in the basic BEANFRDBITEBER
(loss)/earnings per share calculation hn#E 39 R # 808,314,000 789,608,000

2022 FF IR
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. MEX -BEREM

Office
Plant and Motor equipment
Buildings machinery vehicles and others Total

BER 2B IR
G #® W RE REM st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TR ARBTR AR®TR AR® TR

31 December 2022 2022 12A31H
At 1 January 2022 M2022F1A1H
Cost 29N 242,421 11,025 11,075 3,465 267,986
Accumulated depreciation E i (24,966) (6,587) (6,636) (1,850) (40,039)
Net carrying amount FIREE 217,455 4,438 4,439 1,615 227,947
At 1 January 2022, net of R2022F1A18 >
accumulated depreciation HMBREFTE 217,455 4,438 4,439 1,615 227,947
Additions nE - - 206 46 252
Depreciation provided during £ X 37 & B 1%
the year (6,154) (633) (856) (312) (7,955)

At 31 December 2022, net of #2022%12831H -

accumulated depreciation NKREFINE 211,301 3,805 3,789 1,349 220,244
At 31 December 2022: 20225128311 :

Cost B A% 242,421 11,025 11,281 3,511 268,238

Accumulated depreciation E i (31,120) (7,220) (7,492) (2,162) (47,994)
Net carrying amount FEREE 211,301 3,805 3,789 1,349 220,244
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31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. PR -BERRMKE)

Office
Plant and Motor  equipment

Buildings machinery vehicles  and others Total
B E & WORME

BF A AE R H A #at

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®BTRT AR® TR AR TR AR® TR

31 December 2021 2021 12A31H
At 1 January 2021: H2021FE1 818 :

Cost 29N 242,421 8,058 9,714 3,226 263,419

Accumulated depreciation 25t E (18,812) (6,162) (5,853) (1,689) (32,516)

Net carrying amount FIREE 223,609 1,896 3,861 1,537 230,903
At 1 January 2021, net of R2021F1A18 >

accumulated depreciation HBREFIHE 223,609 1,896 3,861 1,537 230,903
Additions nE - 2,967 1,361 239 4,567
Depreciation provided during £ X 37 & B 1%

the year (6,154) (425) (783) (161) (7,523)
At 31 December 2021, 2021F12831H »

net of accumulated MBREITE

depreciation 217,455 4,438 4,439 1,615 227,947
At 31 December 2021: M2021F128318

Cost 2N 242,421 11,025 11,075 3,465 267,986

Accumulated depreciation Eitine (24,966) (6,587) (6,636) (1,850) (40,039)
Net carrying amount FERMEE 217,455 4,438 4,439 1,615 227,947
As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s property, plant R2022F12A31H  AEEFREEBENOAR
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately #£199,175,000 7t (2021 F : A KR % 58,784,000
RMB199,175,000 (2021: RMB58,784,000) were pledged to TINETYNE BERRECEBUERRKR
secure bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 28). FAREBHIRTE R (HEE28)
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BEWYE
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR® TR AR T
Carrying amount at 1 January M1B1EWEREE 140,400 140,400
Transfer from properties held for sale HEARBFEHEYE 171,779 -
Net loss from a fair value adjustment AFYEBEREBEEE (72,379) -
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31HMEREE 239,800 140,400

The Group’s investment properties consist of two commercial
properties in Mainland China. The directors of the Company
have determined that the investment properties consist of
one class of asset, i.e., commercial, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group's
investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2022
based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at RMB239,800,000. Each year,
the Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer
decide, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for
the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The
Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer have
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results once a year when the valuation is performed
for annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under

operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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14,

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB239,800,000 (2021: RMB140,400,000) were pledged to
secure bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%F12H31H

wBEMEE)

TER (ME28) -

LEFEEER

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2022 using

#2022F12A3THEHLU TRANH L2 FETE
Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)
EXAAHER
BANHE
(B=E#®)
RMB’000
AR®TT

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXTHER
BABRE
(B=-ER)
RMB’000
AR®TRE

Quoted prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)
RERETS
-k R
(E—E#®)
RMB’000
AR®TRE

Recurring fair value

WA T 1R B AT A

M2022F12A31H » AEBEREAENARYE
239,800,0007t (20214 : AK%140,400,000
7T) METREVECEAUERETFAEENR

TRHUAREBRANENATFEHBER

ot
RMB’000
AR®TR

measurement for: EMEAFENE:
Commercial properties EMEYE - - 239,800 239,800
Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2021 using
R2021F12A3TBERANTRIN A FENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIER™ 5 BARAHE BERATAEHE
B R 1E [N & TN §
(BE—EB&) (FZE&R) (F=ZE#&R) Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBT T AR® T AR®B T
Recurring fair value MUTHEBETHE
measurement for: EHATEFE:
Commercial properties BEWE - - 140,400 140,400

2022 FF IR
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BEVEE)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) LTFEERE)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FR F—EREF_ERA2BIEAFEST
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer ENER TEERZIERBEFE=E#K(2021
into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil). FE) o
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within PEERATFEEBERFEF=ZEBERZ2LAFEFTEY
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: iR
Commercial
properties
HEDE
RMB’000
AR T
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A831H K2022F1A1H
1 January 2022 M ERE & 140,400
Transfer from properties held for sale ERXRRELHEDE 171,779
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in profit REZBEANAFERABZFER
or loss (72,379)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 MR2022F 1231 AWWERE & 239,800
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the REMEGERRANGERTREIESD AHK
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: BHMEHIMNT :
Range
il ]
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs 2022 2021
HER® EXTUHEREBABE 2022 20215
Commercial properties Income approach Estimated rental value (RMB per s.g.m. and RMBS5 to RMB15 to
per month) RMB375 RMB51
BEME WA E A HEEEBITERREBAARYE ) AERBSTE AR%151ZE
AR®35E AR¥51%
Discount rate 5.5% 5.5%
BEIR =
Long term vacancy rate 10% - 30% 30%
EHZEEX
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15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The fair value of commercial properties is determined by the
income approach by taking into account the rental income
of the properties derived from the existing leases and/or
achievable in the existing market with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the leases, which have been
then discounted to determine the fair value at an appropriate
discount rate. Where appropriate, reference to the comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market has also
been considered.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and the discount rate
in isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase) in
the fair value of the investment properties.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
building and leasehold land lease payments used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 50
years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of office building generally have
lease terms of 2-3 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the
Group.

14.

15.

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

wBEMEE)

LFEEBERE)

BENVENDFEDBREBUAEEE 7
EEBFAURBHEHENBR/RERED
S LAWBNYERESRA BEREERN
ERWAZELNFBEEGRE YECREENE
RREFTHERUABEAFE- EBEEBRT
EETEETRSEMBET S TELBNEES

R5-e

A EESEERNEENCGED)EEHREY
EWAFERBEBEMGED) RBEZEERE
REEBABEBEMRD)BEZRENEN
DB KRR D (3 ) o

HE

TEREMERKEAA
FEBERAREXREENRLBURES
tHHEERESZEBEENEESR -BRA
FH-RAMENRABXETREERELH A
HAS0F MRBEZSIHBEENGRIY BT
BEEXNEARE - BPLENHEPEE K2
E3Fo—RME  AEETA @A LB NI
ATEER>BEEEEE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. #H& (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) EEEMESZSERBAE)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use FRA AEEFAEEENREAER
assets and the movements during the year are as B2HWMT
follows:

Leasehold
land Office building Total

HRLH R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®BTT AR®BTR

As at 1 January 2021 H2021F181H 10,359 939 11,298
Additions =T - 5,076 5,076
Depreciation charges MERX (339) (1,827) (2,166)

As at 31 December 2021 and 1 M2021F12A31 A &

January 2022 2022%1H1H 10,020 4,188 14,208
Depreciation charge MEREX (339) (860) (1,199)
Early termination RATHK LI - (2,566) (2,566)
As at 31 December 2022 M2022%12831H 9,681 762 10,443
As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s M2022F12A31H A& B EREEE
right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying amount Y ARM®S8,120,0007T (2021 5F : AR
of approximately RMB8,120,000 (2021: RMB8,349,000) 8,349,000t )W E THEAREECD &
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings granted RUERETFTAEE MR ITE KM E
to the Group (note 28). 28) °
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31 December 2022

2022%12H831H
15. LEASES (continued) 15. #H& (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEEEEERBAE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEARf
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FR O EHEEENEREEREHOT
movements during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®T T
Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1EWERE A 4,268 963
New leases HHEE - 5,076
Accretion of interest recognised FREZNFSEM
during the year 75 139
Payments (RS (951) (1,910)
Early termination RATH I (2,676) -
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31HMEREE 716 4,268
Analysed into: DPMABUTRE
Current portion BB 716 1,909
Non-current portion (R - 2,359
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) REERIXEBEHRENESENT
leases are as follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGMNE 75 139
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAEEENITENRX
assets 1,199 2,166
Expense relating to leases of low-value EEEEEEEHENHEX
assets (included in administrative (Gt ATB A X)
expenses) 73 180
Total amount recognised in profit or REZBERNESHE
loss 1,347 2,485
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. #H& (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) FEEERZKBEANE)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases relating to leases that (d) HEABAENEESENEERESR
have not yet commenced is disclosed in note 32(b) to 48 ZE R AR S B A5 3R 3R B 5E32(b) R i
the consolidated financial statements. & e

The Group as a lessor EXEEEHEHEA

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) under AEBRBELEHEZHFHHEEREY X (I

operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated from H14) HELERENF-—ZE+&Fo

terms ranging from one to ten years.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments MR2022F12A31H  AEBEREBEEEBAFL B

receivable by the Group in future periods under TARESEHER KRR B EKRMN KRR
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as HEMSRWOT :

follows:

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR F T

Within one year —FR 6,971 9,179

After one year but within two years HEBE-—FERMER 3,268 5,956

After two years but within three years EBMEFER=ZFR 3,407 4,971

After three years but within four years EBB=FERNFR 2,063 4,421

After four years but within five years BEBNFEFEREFER 2,063 3,322

After five years hF# 2,063 2,400

19,835 30,249
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

EERBBLOFEMAARMMZEKA
ol R

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBF
Equity investments designated at fair value EEARATFEFAEMZ2E
through other comprehensive income WAWKRERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value BRAFEFTENLTRERE 3,176 56,256
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value BRATEFENFELTRE
K& 138,000 138,000
141,176 194,256

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

In December 2022, the Group sold its equity interest in some
equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the investment no longer coincided
with the Group's investment strategy. The fair value on the
date of sale was RMB5,644,000 and the accumulated loss
recognised in other comprehensive loss of RMB28,726,000
was transferred to retained earnings.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no dividend was
received by the Group (2021: RMB10,739,000).

LR ERETTHELIEER R D TER
AHMMZEWRAGE BRAAEERAZS
REBEBMLEL -

R2022F 128 HRREFTBRFELIEEN
REFH AEFLEERETEEARAD
FEFAHEMCZEAWRENRERENRE-
REEBEHMNQAFES ARS5644,000 7T -
MREMBEEFEEERNITEBARYE
28,726,000 tE BB ERB B A -

BZE2022F12B31ALFE AEEHEK
B AE A AR 2 (2021 5 AR #10,739,0007T) °
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

17.

BAFEAAREHNENEE

Listed equity investments, at fair value

Lt RERE  BLAFE

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TX AR® T

HE 44,077 164,485

The above equity investments were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
trading.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received
dividends in the amount of RMB970,000 (2021: RMB668,000).

18. DEFERRED TAX

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2016.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has retained earnings of
approximately RMB992,554,000 (2021: RMB1,155,075,000).
No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s fund
will be retained in Mainland China for the expansion of the
Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.
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18.

FHRRERERDEREATFEFTAERZD
TRHEE DHRAFFER-

BZE2022F 12831 AL FE A& B RERRK
E AR %970,000 7T (2021 : A K #668,000
JT) e

iR 3E 1R 15

RI5 B P E B % - R P B i AL L B b
BRECENIBREEERNRE AR
10% M B R B WA - %R E B200851A
1TEREN X EAR2007F12A318 & W
B -MPBAANMEIEREEMEIDELRERE
CEIBWUBE ATRARENROK R
AEENBERBER10% - H it B20165F1
A1ER AEBEAREPERBEINNE
RAFELENBAIMOBENREBETHKE
MBENE -

N20225 12831 A" EBHEEREEF
B A R #992,554,000T (20215 1 A K #
1,155,075,000T) c X AU A AR R R P E R
o BY M B A SR RO B B N R A AR TR AN B Y
AEHBANEENENRANHERELEDIE -
ARABDEERR AEENETBREAEP
BAt ARERAEEEE AUEZENE
RARTRERDREBREFOBEE R K-



18.

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 18.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIERMAAR

BIEWRMA(E)
RO OBEEREERERAENEHNT

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%F12H31H

Fair value
Fair value adjustments
adjustments arising
arising from from equity
investment investments at
properties FVOCI
BAFERA
Htt 2@ A
BRERE
BREVMEEE EEH
BAFEAE NFEEAE H i #
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR® T AR® T AERE® T
At 1 January 2022 M2022F181AR 15,813 2,875 36,798 55,486
Deferred tax charged to the A A 18 % & 1 B
statement of profit or loss B I 3E i 18
during the year (note 10) (Fff 5£10) (200) - 4,455 4,255
Gross deferred tax liabilities ~ 7#2022F 12 A31H
at 31 December 2022 WIELEB 1B E &
wEm 15,613 2,875 41,253 59,741
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

18. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

18. BERIEKF(E)
EERREE

Unrealised
profit from
Provision for intercompany Impairment of
LAT transactions receivables Others Total
THEE FEHRLFMW
REE R XHEH BRREEE Hfth i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AER%TR ABR%TR AR%TR AR%TT
At 1 January 2022 W2022F1A1H 56,749 10,480 33,980 35,223 136,432
Deferred tax (credited)/chargedto ~ REREHF X (G A)/
the statement of profit or loss HBREEESR B
during the year (38,562) 3,122 36,111 (13,673) (13,002)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 20225128318 H
December 2022 EEHBERAR 18,187 13,602 70,091 21,550 123,430

244 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited = Annual Report 2022



18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

DEFERRED TAX (continued) BIERIE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEREBFARK
2021
20214
Fair value
Fair value adjustments
adjustments arising
arising from from equity
investment  investments at
properties FVOCI Others Total
BAFEFA
Hth 2 @ U A
WERERE
REVMEESE EEW
HWAFERAE NFEAE Hth @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T AR®B T AR® T AR®B T
At 1 January 2021 #2021 %1818 15,813 2,875 29,400 48,088
Deferred tax charged to the A F R 8% & 1K
statement of profit or loss Y IE #E i 18
during the year (note 10) (FF&E10) - - 7,398 7,398
Gross deferred tax liabilities 72021812 831 H
at 31 December 2021 WIELEB BE &
458 15,813 2,875 36,798 55,486
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

18. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

18. BERKR(E)

Deferred tax assets BIERFTEE
2021
2021 %
Unrealised
profit from
Provision for  intercompany  Impairment of
LAT transactions receivables Others Total
THBEHE RERAAH
B XEEM ERHERE HEit @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTF T ARBF T ARBF T ARBTR
At 1 January 2021 202151 A10 64,723 7,497 22,782 31,459 126,461
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ~ REREHZ X (NK)/
the statement of profit or loss FAMELRE
during the year (7,974) 2,983 11,198 3,764 9,971
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 R2021F12 83181
December 2021 EEHEEREAE 56,749 10,480 33,980 35,223 136,432

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets

and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes.

BRENMS HETEERBEELEEREGER
BBERRRANEE - UTHRTBRBRE W
2 A 6 B FIE B TR 45 R AT

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the REEHBERIRAERD
consolidated statement of financial position FIELEREEE 84,485 85,525
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REEHMERIRAERN
consolidated statement of financial position FELERIEBEBER (20,796) (4,579)
Net deferred tax assets FELEBEEE 63,689 80,946
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20.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

INVENTORIES 8
2022 2021
2022 2021 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTTR AR T
Raw materials R ARt 53 69
TRADE RECEIVABLES BHEKRRE
2022 2021
2022 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTTR AREFT T
Trade receivables g 5 EWRRIE 613,178 742,844
Impairment WA (278,054) (101,016)
335,124 641,828

Trade receivables mainly represented receivables from
construction contracting. The payment terms of contract
work receivables are stipulated in the relevant contracts.
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period offered by the Group is three to six
months, except for retention receivable as detailed below. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

ESRUARBRTIEEEERBNERAR-
ERIREURENSRERREBSEF
AR AREEREEFNEGRAEIERE
E-FAEERTHNEERR=ZZ~"BEA HT
NHEANERERESRMP - AEBHHEH K
REERBREESEREEN TREFEE
EHMUSEREFEERBE SREEERE
HEHNEHNER ZRILAZTEARLEE
CESRUAREDNRRESZRALEFEH:
HIEBERFERRETZER - AEEIL
ERHESRURELAKEEIMERAR
HthEERE - BESRUAELRRE -
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 200 BHEBWHE(E)
At the end of the reporting period, the due settlements of the RESHR AEEINHELEENERER
Group’s retention receivables are as follows: SWMT
2022 2021
2022 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TE AR T
Retentions included in trade receivables FABSERFENERS 68,598 44,860
Provision for impairment WAE B (19,986) (8,333)
Retentions included in trade receivables, net T AZ ZEWNFHERN
BEREFE 48,612 36,527
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables excluding AEEBRBRENARBBREGH L MR E R R
retentions at the end of the reporting period, based on the HBHENSESREKRIZB(ERESEBINN B ERE
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: DO
Trade receivables without retention receivables BoREWHREB(TEESERERS)
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FR AR T
Within 1 year 1F R 107,036 353,035
1 year to 2 years 1EZ22F 151,650 129,138
2 years to 3 years 2EEIF 76,833 169,936
Over 3 years HBBE3E 209,061 45,875
544,580 697,984
Retention receivables included in trade receivables FAEZERRENERERESEMNIZSF
represented the Group’s unconditional right to receive upon GEHRRE FXEBEKEWEWVER -

completion of the warranty period of 1 to 5 years.
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20.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

HHEBBHREE)

REERARAERBRZAPRRIGBERBTE
ZEZRBRWRBZREDINAOT :

2022 2021

2022 20215

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER® TR AR T T

Within 1 year 15 R 120,060 349,288
1 year to 2 years 15 Z22F 100,006 144,016
2 years to 3 years 2F BE3F 52,746 137,595
Over 3 years HBB3E 62,312 10,929
335,124 641,828

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

ESRUNEREBRBEZPNT

2022 2021

2022 20215

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR T

At beginning of year RED 101,016 58,988
Impairment losses, net HEEEFA 177,038 42,028
At end of year RER 278,054 101,016

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year
and are not subject to enforcement activity.

REBREEHELERBBEERETHEI N
L ERNFERE BBLEXEDERASR
HUBERANSZETFsMARNNWEH B
BEE - ZAERRAARZMELER EFHK
BERRBEAPIEHNEEBEEER  EA
MR RAREBEFRGEFEBNEERATEESR -
—RME HEZRUNEAHNBE -5 8
MEEZEBFARE LB A2 RENITED
FriR R -
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A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 200 BHEBWHE(E)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TRHIASEFRAREERTENE S E
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: WHENEERRE R :
As at 31 December 2022 #2022 12A31H
Past due
BE
Current
and within 1to2 3to4 Over 4 Apparently
1 year years years years impaired
ENR
158 15E2f IEE4E Bil4E HHEAE
Expected credit loss rate EHEEERE 1.19% 12.64% 31.00% 45.85% 100.00% 100.00% 45.35%
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB’000) (AR®F ) 121,499 114,476 76,447 115,085 33,887 151,784 613,178
Expected credit losses BHREEFR
(RMB’000) (AR® T ) 1,440 14,470 23,701 52,772 33,887 151,784 278,054
As at 31 December 2021 M2021F12HA31H
Past due
il
Current
and within 1to2 2t03 3to4 Over4  Apparently
1 year years years years years impaired Total
EHR
15/ 15225 25ZE3F  3FEF4F BE4E  BERE Foh
Expected credit loss rate BHEERREE 1.09% 13.29% 21.12% 42.59% 99.67% 100.00% 13.60%
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB’000) (AR®F ) 353,035 166,203 168,527 27,034 21,224 6,821 742,844
Expected credit losses BHEEFR
(RMB’000) (AR®F ) 3,849 22,085 35,594 11,513 21,154 6,821 101,016
Included in the above provision for impairment of trade FALEESRURERERERLPERE
receivables were provisions for apparently impaired trade B5EWRERE ARY151,784,0005t (2021
receivables of RMB151,784,000 (2021: RMB6,821,000) F: ARKR®6,821,0005T) » A2022F12H318 »
with an aggregate carrying amount before provision of BENEEAEBEAARMY151,784,000 7T (2021
RMB151,784,000 (2021: RMB6,821,000) as at 31 December F: AK%6,821,0007T) °
2022.
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21.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

CONTRACT ASSETS 2. EAEE
31 December 31 December 1 January
2022 2021 2021
2022 2021 & 20214
12A31H 12A31H 1818
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR® T AR T T

Contract assets arising from: EEXEBUTEEN
EREE:

Construction contracting BEEAE 1,092,610 1,369,789 1,320,548
Impairment BB (2,643) (16,519) (14,009)
1,089,967 1,353,270 1,306,539

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from construction contracting as the receipt of consideration is
conditional on successful completion of construction. Included
in contract assets for construction contracting are retention
receivables. Upon completion of services and acceptance by
the customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. The increases in contract
assets in 2022 and 2021 were the results of the increases in
the provision of construction contracting at the end of each of
the years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, RMB2,643,000
(2021: RMB16,519,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on contract assets. The Group’s trading
terms and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

EREENREIARRBEERE RS MR
mHWE AEREASERBRITRESA
BEB-ZERBHNEAEECQERERERS -
—ERBEAREEFES ABEIARER
EENSHEBSENR I ERESRERURRE-F
B & & N 2022 F & 20215 3 i Ty B R 22 &
BEERSFEREM-

W B E2022F12A31H L FE AR ¥
2,643,000t (20214 : A R #16,519,0007T )
ERADECFNEERNEEFRERB -KE
BHREPNRSBRARGEERERGEASYE
WRMF20HHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 21.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets as at 31 December is as follows:

ERREE
M12A31A ARAEMNBENKE & HHE
BmT

2022 2021

20224 2021 £

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER® T ARBT T

Within one year —F R 472,123 721,807
After one year —F % 617,844 631,463
Total contract assets EREEHLAE 1,089,967 1,353,270

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

EREEREFRBHEE2HNT

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARB T

At beginning of year READ 16,519 14,009
Impairment losses recognised FREZNREFEFE

during the year, net (note 6) (B &£ 6) (13,876) 2,510

At end of year RER 2,643 16,519
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21.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 2. AREE(E
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date REBRSHHNEFARBEBETRES T
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. UstERHEEBR - STEcREENES
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected FEFBENEBBLEEDERESEKRREN
credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of BELE DAREGRAEERES BERAE
the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade REB—FEFPER -TTEFCREENREL
receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision ZDEREEELUBBEBEXNZBEFR 2 I
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade HAMBHAREE(IE ERERN &
receivables for groupings of various customer segments with FEARFEAUEREEAEIHMEERRE
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product AW REEHEE) ZAERMIAEZMELR -
type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of EMEBERRBREEH TSN EEBRESE
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation BEAMRTRERARLCERGEEIANEGEER T E
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value BH o
of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TRHIEBAAEECARBERNERE
on the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix: EEGRNEERBRER
2022 2021

20225 20214
Expected credit loss rate EHEEBEXE 0.24% 1.21%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) RERBEANRE T T 1,092,610 1,369,789
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) EHEEBBARE T 2,643 16,519
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

22. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 22, TEEYE
2022 2021
2022 2021 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTTR AR T
Carrying amount at 1 January R1B1BEHEREE 2,393,101 2,162,785
Additions wE 370,009 881,845
Transferred to completed properties held for HERZER THFEHEWE
sale (448,696) (651,529)
2,314,414 2,393,101
Properties under development expected to be completed and CERYMERTRUTHEATRRKE :
recovered:
2022 2021
2022 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR TR
Within one year —F R 1,235,894 1,824,717
After one year —F#% 1,078,520 568,384
2,314,414 2,393,101

The Group’s properties under development are situated on
leasehold land in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB283,600,000 (2021: RMB500,197,000) have
been pledged to secure bank and other borrowings granted to
the Group (note 28).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 23. EBRINMEHEYME
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR® TR AR T
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year F ¥ RE & 973,845 885,530
Transferred from properties under development E & B E B Y % 448,696 651,529
Transferred to investment properties EHREREYE (171,779) -
Transferred to cost of sales ERBZHEHERAK (428,509) (563,214)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FREEE 822,253 973,845
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, FAMNREA HAUBKRARAMEE

OTHER ASSETS

2022 2021

2022 2021 %

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER® TR AR T

Prepayments FEAT RIE 107,535 53,532

Deposits & 77,792 70,922

Other receivables H fth fE WK IE 66,904 114,853

Loans to employees mESRMEER 62,054 -

Other tax recoverable H b 7] Uk = i 18 11,548 12,639

Advances to related parties (note 36) /o] B8 B A 28 3K (Kt 3£ 36) 4,460 3,298

Advances to the ultimate holding company BRAERATER

(note 36) (Hf 5% 36) 3,927 5,626

334,220 260,870

Impairment allowance B B (13,383) (13,864)

320,837 247,006

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets are ENRE-HAMERFEREMEE S EIK

unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. A REREREREZE - NEERHNER

The loans to employees were provided by the Group for DHASEEREZTEREEZIRE KRGO M
vesting the restricted shares under the Scheme. B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24,

OTHER ASSETS (continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are as follows:

AARR HttERZERAMEE
(%)

BARE ReRAMERKERERES
BMT

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR T

At beginning of year RE X 13,864 12,076
Impairment losses, net WEEIEFE (481) 1,788
At end of year RER 13,383 13,864

The Group has evaluated the expected loss rate and gross
carrying amount, measured the impairment based on the
12-month expected credit losses, and assessed that the
expected credit losses were RMB13,383,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB13,864,000).

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

AEECTFEREHEFEEREREAE BRI
N2EREHEEEREGERE LFHER
2022F12A31HMNEHGEEFEBAARYE
13,383,000 (20214 : A R #13,864,0007T) °

HeRReSFRMLREHEAER

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR AR T

Cash and bank balances REeERBTER 625,772 472,037
Less: pledged time deposits W CEHEHER

Pledged for bank loans RITERIK M 46,523 50,256

Pledged for others H i I 7 356,273 173,032

Cash and cash equivalents HeRBE2ZEEY 222,976 248,749
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25.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, bank deposits of RMB46,523,000
(2021: RMB50,256,000) were pledged as security for
purchasers’ mortgage loans.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain
construction contracting companies and property development
companies of the Group are required to place certain amounts
of cash in designated bank accounts for specified use. As
at 31 December 2022, such restricted cash amounted to
RMB356,273,000 (2021: RMB173,032,000).

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
approximated to their fair values.

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances
are denominated in RMB, United States dollar (“USD”) and
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

25.

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

BeRBeFRMUREHAER
(%)

720226128318 » A R#46,523,0005T (2021
£ AR #50,256,0007T) (iR T HEREE N
FESTRBER

RETEEBEEIREAET AEENETESR
ABAAREHMERBELARNEAREERT
BEFFEA—CT2ENBRSEBETAE R
2022F12A31H 2 EZERHRALAARE
356,273,000 7T (20214 : A R # 173,032,000
TT) °

RORERBSARTERNERIDAE
HE ROLBERISRENES BES
RENAT-RERRSSEYNEAMESR
WERATEME -

RESHR BERBRITEKUARE -ER
TEZExREBR(BERTDFE - ARBRER
HABREAMBEYR AWM - REPE R 25
EEERIRGE EERFEEERE &
EEEREZEBEERTEARELBFER
tEWLETHIER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. HHEMARE

An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the RERRERBRERHNEZRENAREZR

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BoWMWT :
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®T T
Within 6 months 618 A & 459,101 765,973
6 months to 1 year 618 A E1HF 426,521 150,772
1 to 2 years 15 E2F 98,398 838,985
2 to 3 years 2EEIF 542,455 331,266
Over 3 years HBB3E 235,979 141,189
1,762,454 2,228,185
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ESENREBATTER—BEBEIREE

settled based on the progress of construction. P
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HUttEFARERENER

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
P & AER®TR AR T T
Contract liabilities cEAaRE (@) 1,006,268 934,049
Other payables Hfh fE 1+ 5K E (b) 847,962 792,483
Other tax payable Hih (SR 1B 314,760 376,543
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits EitHe TERBH 11,982 7,966
Amounts due to related parties (note 36) F& {<f B8 5 75 3% 18 (Fff 5% 36) 36,935 4,998
Others Hfth 1,192 2,122
2,219,099 2,118,161
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) 27. HttEMNREBREMER(Z)
Notes: B 5
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) ERBENFBNT
31 December 31 December 1 January
2022 2021 2021
20225 2021 & 2021 %
12A31H 12A31H 1A1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T AR® T T
Short-term advances received W EFEEEX
from customers
Construction contracting BEERG 536,120 286,966 290,634
Pre-sale of properties BEME 470,148 647,083 716,563
Total contract liabilities BEREBRE 1,006,268 934,049 1,007,197
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from CRABEEEREEREREBRAMEBES
customers for construction contracting when the pace of EHERERNIEEREEEFRBRNESRR
progress billings exceeds the pace of relevant construction AR ERYMENESRNWESHERE-.
projects and pre-sale proceeds in relation to property sales
contracts.
(b) As at 31 December 2022, except for the other payables (b) R2022F12A31A  BREMENREBAR

amounting to RMB13,696,000 (2021: RMB20,723,000), which
bears interest rate of 8.25% per annum, all other payables are
non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

#513,696,000 7T (2021 & : A R #20,723,000
TEEFE8.25% B4 i B H BN
BYRREREREREERE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. EMEBTRHEMMBR
BORROWINGS
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
2022%12A31H 2021%12831H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BB ERAZE
(%) HY AR®TT (%) A8 AR®Tn
Current Ep &3
Other loans - secured EMER-BER 11.00-12.00 2023 270,464 11.00 2022 253,974
Other loans - unsecured HthEH-F|EH 11.00-12.00 2023 34,675 11.00 2022 31,733
Current portion of long term bank RERTEH 2
borrowings - secured NEHs-FEKH 5.50-8.70 2023 339,099 4.75-9.75 2022 166,000
644,238 451,707
Non-current FEENH]
Bank borrowings - secured BITER-BFER 5.50-6.65 2024-2025 260,000 5.50-8.70 2023 344,000
904,238 795,707
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FR AR TR
Analysed into. PMBUTRIE:
Bank and other borrowings repayable: EEERITREMBER:
Within one year or on demand —FRPIRER 644,238 451,707
In the second year E-F 110,000 344,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEFHF
(BEERME) 150,000 -
904,238 795,707
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28.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Except for the 12.00% other loans which are denominated in

USD, all borrowings are in RMB.

(@)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment
properties with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB239,800,000 (2021:
RMB140,400,000) were pledged to secure bank
borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s
properties under development with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately RMB283,600,000
(2021: RMB500,197,000) were pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB199,175,000 (2021:
RMB58,784,000) were pledged to secure bank
borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s
right-of-use assets with a carrying amount of
approximately RMB8,120,000 (2021: RMB8,349,000)
were pledged to secure bank borrowings granted to the
Group.

28.

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

ARRTRAMMBER(E)

BRUETFENI12.00 B ERN 2 BE
HEUARBE:

(a) M2022F 128318 AEEHKRELE
# A R #239,800,0007T (20215 : AR
# 140,400,000 T) R EYEE & U
ERBEFAEEMNETMER

(b) M2022F 128318 A EEHKREHLE
# A R #283,600,0007T (20215 : AR
#500,197,0000) W E TEEYWECE
RUERBTFAEEMNRTREME

Eod
A °

(c) M2022F12A31A A EEEEAE
#HAR%199,175,0007T (20215 : AR
#58,784,000 T ) METFTHUE BER
RECERUERRFAEENRIT

B K.

(d) M2022F 128318 A EEHEKREHLE
#“ AR #8,120,000 7T (20214 : AR ¥
8,349,000 L)WM = THE AR EELS & iF
LERBEFAEENRITER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

29.

30.

SHARE CAPITAL 29. K=
Shares B 17
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET F#& T
Authorised. EE
2,000,000,000 (2021: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,000 A% (2021 £ :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 2,000,000,000 %) & B M@
BHOO1 BT 2EBR 20,000 20,000
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T T
Issued and fully paid. ERTRHAR:
809,456,000 (2021: 809,456,000) ordinary 809,456,000 A% (2021 &
shares of HK$0.01 each 809,456,000 %) & Ik E &
0.01 BT ZEBR 7,281 7,281

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of (i)
recognising the contributions by certain employees (the
“Selected Employees”) and providing them with incentives
in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Company; and (ii) attracting suitable
personnel for further development of the Company. The
Scheme became effective on 4 March 2020 and subjected to
early termination and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
would remain in force for 5 years from that date.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares
(the “Awarded Shares”) which will result in the number of the
shares awarded by the Board under the Scheme exceeding 5%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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30.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The Company entered into trust deed and appointed Victory
Global Trustee Company Limited as the Trustee for the
administration of the Scheme on 4 March 2020. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, 19,848,000 shares were
purchased by the Trustee from the market, representing
approximately 2.45% of the issued share capital of the
Company, at an average price of approximately HK$2.68
(equivalent to RMB2.44) per share, with an aggregate amount
of HK$53,188,000 (equivalent to RMB48,517,000).

On January 21, 2022, the Board granted a total of 19,848,000
Awarded Shares to 20 Selected Employees under the Scheme
at the price of HK$3.5 per Awarded Share. The Selected
Employees shall continue to serve the Group for at least five
years from the date of the grant (“Restricted Period”).

In the event of early termination of the employment
relationship between the Selected Employees and the Group
within the Restricted Period, the Selected Employees shall
pay to the Company, within five business days of the date
of termination of the employment, the difference between (a)
the aggregate value of the Awarded Shares (calculated based
on the closing price of the Shares on the date of termination
of the employment) and the awarded amount (the “Awarded
Amount”); or (b) the aggregate value of the Awarded Shares
(based on the closing price of Shares on the last trading day
prior to the date of grant) and the Awarded Amount; whichever
is the higher.

The Awarded Shares confer rights on the Selected Employees
to dividends and to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

30.

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

B% 17 3% Wb &t &) (42)

A D ARN020F3A4B T IEEZH B
ZEABNBREEAERAAREEZT Y
B2 A- B £20205F12HA318 It & &
BEREARTHEMEERN268E T(HER
AR #2.4470) T 15 88 B 19,848,000/ &
B EARACRTRAN245% BEBEH
53,188,000 jT (48 & M A R #48,517,0007T) °

MR2022FE1H21B EERBREBEZTERER
RERMISBTNEEO20REEREER Y
419,848,000 R BB M - BREEEBRHE
R BEBEARNEEARBZLEF(E
FREIEARTD o

MEBREREEAEBNRMBRHBERAL L
EREBEF ETREREEEERERKLZA
EBAEEXRAQAQRAXNUTELRE: (9
RERONBEERRONEBRBERLLA
HOBTEFENRBEHE(RBESHED 2
B ZO)RBRONAEERBEREBEHN
AEE-—EAXZENROBVHEFE)MRE
TH2E LRSS ERE-

RBROVBTFETEERRBRERNRBRRX
ELEREWNER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The following restricted shares were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

30.

B% 17 58 W &t 8 (42)
FRoRABETHRITENZRARGMT :

2022
20225

Number of
Vesting price restricted shares

BER ERAKRGHE

RMB

AER#%

per share

(1
At 1 January ®1A1H = =
Granted during the year FRET 2.85 19,848
Vested during the year FRAEB 2.85 (19,848)
At 31 December ®W12A31H - -

The weighted average share price at the vesting date was
RMBZ2.85 per share (2021: Nil).

The fair value of the Awarded Shares granted during the year
was RMB56,170,000, which was approximately equal to the
Awarded Amount. As at 31 December 2022, no share based
compensation expense was recognized in the consolidated
financial statements.
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31.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 157 to

158 of the consolidated financial statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Capital reserve

As at 31 December 2022, capital reserve represents the
difference between the par value of the shares issued
and the consideration received.

Special reserve

In the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has appropriated a certain
amount of retained profits to a special reserve fund
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, for
safety production expense purposes as required by
the directives issued by the relevant PRC government
authorities. The Group charged the safety production
expense to the statement of profit or loss when such
expense was incurred, and at the same time an equal
amount of such special reserve fund was utilised and
transferred back to retained earnings until such special
reserve was fully utilised.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic
enterprises are required to allocate 10% of their
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the
relevant PRC accounting standards, to their respective
statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50%
of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain
restrictions set out in the PRC Company Law, part
of the statutory surplus reserve may be converted to
share capital, provided that the remaining balance after
the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.

Fair value reserve of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income

The equity investment revaluation reserve represents
unrealised fair value gains or losses for equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

31.

o W

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

AEENRERAFERBEFENSER
BHEFIRGANBREREISTEI8ERS
REBB% -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BE M
R2022F12A318  EARBED #
TROEEECKBMREZMNEE-

& B &

RERSFEVHERERE BE2022F
R2021F12A31BLFE AEEE
EHIRBEND NERERHB
T AREBTEBNERMMBEMN
ESHENZEZLEEMX -AKER
ZELEERXELERBEHFTABER
TEBHAESETENEINRRES
BOzREBEN EEZBIREE
HEBARIL-

ik E B RGN

REGFEIRE AEEETHELS
AREREE EEBRBRZEFNNI0%
TEHESBEERSBEE LIDRE
HETEEAEAEE BEEHEE
HEZEEMEARO0NH L ZdE
DEREMEETRANWERR B2 %
EREBEETARERSRA  EEF
FERBTEBRTESLIRNEMELRN
25% o

BROFEdARMBMZEHRANS
MEELTFEHRER
REREEMRBERLOTFES AR
MEEWRANRERENRERQAF
BERHEHEE-

202255  HERXREEBRABRAE
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31.

32.

RESERVES (continued)

(e)

)

Shares held for share award scheme

As at 31 December 2022, the Group fully granted
the shares held for share award scheme to Selected
Employees. (Note 30)

Other reserves

The other reserves represent dividend income on
shares held for the Scheme.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2022, other payables
amounting to RMB62,235,000 (2021: Nil) were offsetted
with other receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had non-cash reductions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB2,566,000 (2021: Nil) and
RMB2,676,000 (2021: Nil), respectively, in respect of
early termination for lease arrangement for properties.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

31.

32.

o ol (42)

(e)

SEMRMHABNSAEOERN
MR2022F12A31R AEBEEEEE
ERERUBRORDAFEZTENR
12 (Fff 3£ 30) e

(f) HttGER
HtFEEAZFEAFTENRNL 2R
BEWA-

FEReRBERME

(@ EEEFH&XSH
B E2022F12831B L FE - Hf fE
3% 1 A R #62,235,000 7T (2021 4 :
)T B H fth FE W FRIR K 8K o
BZE2022512A31ALEE  R&EH
BRREFRLENEBREZEIBNEETR
AREEREHESEBENFRERBI A
R #2,566,000T (20215 : ) R AR
" 2,676,000 7T (20216 : &)

(b) N*EMBETHHARED

Interest-bearing
bank and other
borrowings

Lease liabilities

RERTR
H fth i & HEAR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR®TT
At 1 January 2022 R2022F181H 795,707 4,268
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREED 14,258 (951)
Early termination R AT# I - (2,676)
Interest expense FE X 68,543 75
Exchange realignment B 25,730 -
At 31 December 2022 A2022% 128 31H 904,238 716
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. FEBERERME(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) *EMETHHABEEH(E)
activities (continued)

Interest-bearing
bank and other

borrowings Lease liabilities

FFEBRITR
H b & X HEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB T ARBF
At 1 January 2021 H2021F181H 580,450 963
Changes from financing cash flows MERERES 158,171 (1,910)
New leases HiEE - 5,076
Interest expense FMERMX 57,086 139
At 31 December 2021 A2021F12831H 795,707 4,268

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEHS&THWEEHE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARB T
Within operating activities REFTHR 73 180
Within financing activities METBHR 951 1,910
1,024 2,090
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33.

34.

35.

268 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has provided guarantees
in respect of mortgage facilities for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties amounting to approximately
RMB1,729,913,000 (2021: RMB1,380,305,000).

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant
of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance
of real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers, which
will generally be available within one to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The directors of the Group consider that the fair value of the
guarantees is not significant, and in the case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties can
cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalties. Therefore,
no provision for the guarantees has been made during the
reporting period.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings which are
mortgaged by the assets of the Group or guaranteed are
included in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period

33.

34.

35.

RARR

R20226 128318 A EBERFEE Y ¥
f0 % F 8754 AR %1,729,913,0007T (20214 :
A F#1,380,305,0000) (R BB E R AR -

AEEBNERBREBERAERRE B BH
B EERAEABRREHERARERR L.
—RRETRSHENER -—ZEMEABTR -

FEBEERR ERNLAFELTEKR B
MAREN MABBYRN T ERFEAE
ERBERBREACEREFANERTE
MER Bt RREHR TRRBBFHRSE
PRLERAE L EE

R2022F12A31H AEBIYEEFME KRG
REfE-

BEEH

FRASEERASEEERTRNERNRT
REMERZHBTEARGES M BRRME28 -

ik
AEEREEHBEREGUT EARE

31 December

Contracted, but not provided for.

Construction contracting EEEE

ERTAEREE:

12A31H
2022 2021
2022 5 2021 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AR T
241,695 176,148
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. FBAXD
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed (a) BRESFHBEEREMEEHFRFL
elsewhere in these financial statements, the ZEZBH FEEERABEIRERN
Group had the following transactions with BTHNXS:

related parties during the year:

2022 2021
2022 20215
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AR®BTT ARBT T
Advances to related parties ) B8 Bt 7 B 63 -
Advances to the ultimate holding mERAERARBR
company - 32,405
Repayments of advances to the BEORALERAA
ultimate holding company E= 3,742 4,017
Advances from the ultimate holding H&ER A TR
company - 31,733
Advances from related parties REBBAINBEX 30,000 1,600
Repayments of advances from BERBBABELN
related parties EE N - 1,600
Purchases of raw materials from BARBERMH
companies of which a director (RAR—BESE
of the Company is a controlling AZERARER
shareholder B’ ®R) (i) - 7,801
Property management fee paid to EER DR R /S
related parties EHE (if) 2,537 2,789
Interest expense on other loans HMWERNAEEX (iii) 3,742 2,295
Other rental income Hani < WA (iv) 1,701 1,599
Other interest income H R 2 U A (v) 2,043 1,238
Purchase of office supplies from BRBEIBENARR
related parties (vi) 361 236

2022 FF IR
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year: (continued)

Notes.

(i) The purchases were made from companies of which
Mr. Li Baotian is a controlling shareholder. The
directors consider that the purchases of raw materials
were made according to the published prices and
conditions similar to those offered to the major
customers of the suppliers, except that interest was
not charged on overdue balances. As at 31 December
2022, the balance owing to the suppliers was
RMB8,984,000 (2021: RMB8,984,000).

(i) The fees were paid for the property management
services provided by companies controlled by Mr.
Li Baotian’s spouse. As at 31 December 2022, the
balance owing to the companies was RMB9,035,000
(2021: RMB6,498,000).

(iii) The interest expense was paid for the loan from the
ultimate holding company with an interest rate of 12%.
There was no outstanding balance with the ultimate
holding company as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

(iv) The rental income was from the lease agreement with
companies controlled by Mr. Li Baotian and his spouse.
As at 31 December 2022, the balance due from the
companies was RMB6,498,000 (2021: RMB4,797,000).

(v) The other interest income was from the advances to
the ultimate holding company with an interest rate
of 12%, the balance due from the ultimate holding
company was RMB3,281,000 (2021: RMB1,238,000).

(vi) The purchase was made from company controlled by
Mr. Li Baotian’s spouse. There was no outstanding
balance with this related party as at 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil).
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36. MBMAXH(E)
BEEMEERAMEEHMEFR
ZXBH FREAREAHRARFEA
FTHNXH: (&

(a)

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

EEBEDROZSEARAEL m=E
REXEAZELANERRKRRER-
EERH BEEMMDOREHED
HEBNEEEFMEMREZBELUY
CAMERREHEET EANEX
E R B A B W E - A2022F 12
B31A I HEBNEHR A A
R #8,984,000 7T (20214 : A R #
8,984,0007T) °

EBERDRSTRELENERBA
BEHELCARENWEETERBMX
f$o M2022F 1283108 R &%
D EKE B AR ARMI035000T
(20215 : AR #6,498,0007T) °

MERMXDREREBBELKERLIN
ERMX AN F R HB12% - #2022
F1I2RBEMBERKERLAAE
ERREEERQ21F  F) -

HEBWARBETREALEERER
BESN QR ZHEEHE - K2022
FI12A31A EBRZEQAMNE
R ARM6,498,000T (2021F : AR
#54,797,000 T) °

HFERARBEELERRQA
BEHFER12% BREKRERD
4 8 B A R ¥3,281,000 7 (2021
F: AR ¥1,238,0007T) °

BEDHFRALENEBAER
B oA A fE e R2022F12831H
MEEZEBRIEEAREES S
(20215 : &)
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2022%12H31H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36. MBAEXR(E)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) HEBABXREMTEER
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR AR T
Prepayments, other receivables and FARAE HMERZER
other assets (note 24)*: Hfth 35 & (fhiE24)* :
Advances to the ultimate holding company 6 & & ¥ it @ 5 2 % 3,927 5,626
Advances to related parties o B8 B 7 B 4,460 3,298
8,387 8,924
Other payables and accruals (note 27)*: HtEMNZREREHER
(B sE27)*:
Amounts due to other related parties FE {3 H 1t B Bt 5 FRIE 36,935 4,998
Interest-bearing other borrowings BB H i 5 X (B &£ 28) -
(note 28):
Loans from the ultimate holding company RE&XKERATANER 34,675 31,733

(c)

As at 31 December 2022, except for the advances
to the ultimate holding company amounting to
RMB3,927,000 (2021: RMB5,626,000), which bears
interest rate of 11%, all other receivables were
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand and non-trade.

R2022F12A31H K@ & K ER D
B AR 3,927,000t (2021F : A K
5,626,00070) R1T% M F R B0 iEH
ERREIRAEER RERAKER

5

i FF ol

i3

BURFES -

Compensation of senior management (c) EHREBEABHHEN
personnel
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARB T
Short-term employee benefits HHEERF 9,002 9,368
Pension scheme contributions and social &k & 5 & & 3 & 4 %
welfare 92 117
Total compensation paid to senior HEREBEABIZMEN
management personnel E F R 9,094 9,485
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. BRENBSHEMIR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEBEHBR SESRIANERENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
2022 2022 %
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BAFEHRA
BOFERA HtiZEBAW
RENemEE EMRE
Designated as
such upon initial Equity Financial assets
recognition investments  at amortised cost Total
ROSHRH BREBREFHE
HEmM BB HEMEE # i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ABRBTR ARBTR AR®TT
Financial assets included in FARNARE B E
prepayments, other receivables KHEREMEEN
and other assets CREE - - 201,754 201,754
Equity investments at fair value EERRATETA
through other comprehensive Hitt2EBAH
income RERE - 141,176 - 141,176
Equity investments at fair value EERARATETA
through profit or loss BENRERE 44,077 - - 44,077
Trade receivables ESEWFE - - 335,124 335,124
Pledged deposits EERBEX - - 402,796 402,796
Cash and cash equivalents RERBLEEY - - 222,976 222,976

44,077 141,176 1,162,650 1,347,903
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. B#ENNSMEmIA(E)
(continued)
Financial liabilities eRAR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBREHE
HemAR
RMB’000
AR®TR
Trade payables B S ENRE 1,762,454
Financial liabilities included in other payables and FAHMENREREGFEAN
accruals sRas 884,897
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FERITRAEMMER 904,238
3,551,589
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. RENESMEMIA(E)
(continued)
2021 2021
Financial assets EMEE

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through comprehensive
profit or loss income
BOFETA
BELTEGA HEttZEBAH
BENeREERE tREE
Designated as
such upon initial Equity  Financial assets at
recognition investments amortised cost Total
ROSERR REHARGE
BEME RERE MWeMmEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T ARBET T AREBTR
Financial assets included in ARG RE HifE
prepayments, other receivables BHEREMEEN
and other assets tREE - - 180,835 180,835
Equity investments at fair value EERARATETA
through other comprehensive HitZEB AW
income RERE S 194,256 - 194,256
Equity investments at fair value EEABRATETA
through profit or loss BaNRERE 164,485 - - 164,485
Trade receivables g5 EWHE - - 641,828 641,828
Pledged deposits CEHREX - - 223,288 223,288
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHELEEY - - 248,749 248,749
164,485 194,256 1,294,700 1,653,441
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. RENESMEMIA(E)
(continued)
Financial liabilities eMAR

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHEMATE

HemaE

RMB’000

ARB T

Trade payables g5 EARE 2,228,185
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals & A HE BT IE R EF & H I

2REE 797,481

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFRMRITREMMER 795,707

3,821,373

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38. @MIAMNAFERLFERER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial REEEHBEEAFESEMEENERIAN

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that FAEEERMIENKEREERAFENOT:
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
iR E DFE
2022 2021 2022 2021
20225 20214 20225 2021 %
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARB T AR®BTT ARBT T

Financial assets &EmMEE
Equity investments EERRATE

designated at fair SAERMRE

value through other BANBRERE

comprehensive income 141,176 194,256 141,176 194,256
Financial assets at fair value %2 FE AEH

through profit or loss NEmEE 44,077 164,485 44,077 164,485

185,253 358,741 185,253 358,741
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38.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, trade payables and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. At each reporting date, management
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation process and results are discussed with the
audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based
on quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted
equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income have been estimated using a
market-based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.
The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such
as price to earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for each comparable
company identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing
the enterprise value of the comparable company by an
earnings measure. The trading multiple is then discounted for
considerations such as illiquidity and size differences between
the comparable companies based on company-specific facts
and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to
the corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity
investments to measure the fair value. The directors believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related changes in fair values,
which are recorded in other comprehensive income, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at
the end of the reporting period.
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38.

EMIANLXFERLIFERR
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EHEEHMRERRESEEY CERET
HoBEZRERE -FARMSRE HMEK
FEARAEMEENESREE EZRENXRE
URFARMENREREFEANSRE
BENAVFERRSEREERE DEEAR
ZETEREHREHY-

rEBEEREAEEEERIAQAFTEFE
ZHEREBF REREEH EEESIN
ERMIAEECSHUEEHERMRAZETE
BAB - HEBEREARSEEFMARANPH
REEHNBBEREEREZESTM -

ETRERENDFEDERTESHRE -BE
ARAFEFAHEMCZEWANELTRE
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BEREG -HEERESRETEX -RE-
BRREBRRETELR QR QA I HAE
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38.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022 was assessed
to be insignificant.

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable
inputs to the valuation of financial instrument together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2022:

38.

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

EMIAHLFERATERER
(%)
FEROTRAMERNAFECEBEARE
R EERRRGBTHRAIBEMGITA
MERTERNERRERRRAL RBHE -
AEBMRN2022F12AN BRI ERTRE M
ERNESTANRRRTIERLTEL

TREBMER2022F12A3M B/ T AGEN
EXTABERABBEERESHRE DM

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value
technique unobservable input Range to the input
EXFUEER
1 {8 B i [P § BE 2FEHRANENHRBE
Investment A Valuation multiples Median P/E multiple 5.00 A low end of 3.31 and high end of
of peers 13.53 P/E multiple used would
result in a difference in fair
value of RMB281,000,000
REA EREREE [ 47 1L & 5.00 FAZKMEIIIREZS13.53MMHE
mEEFEH EEEEERLAFEEREAR

Discount for lack
of marketability

RE=mERE MR

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts
of premiums and discounts determined by the Group that
market participants would take into account when pricing the
investments.

# 281,000,000 7T

20.00% 5% increase/decrease in discount
would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB8,000,000

20.00% BB FHD5%KEHLFE
W% A K % 8,000,000 7T

REZETERABUBRELAEEREN W5

SHECHRETERSZENEENRR
T
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 3. EMIAMAFERLAFERR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy DFEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRAPEAEEREVENRATEFERBH:

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value: BAFEFEZEE:
As at 31 December 2022 ®2022%12A31H

Fair value measurement using
ERLUTRAMDF Est &
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERTS EXTHR EXTUHER

ok ] BABE BABE
(F—ER) (EZE®) (F=E#K) #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®RTR AR®BTR ARBTTR ARBFR

Equity investments designated at fair 3§ & & & & F & 5+
value through other comprehensive A H i 2 @ Uk A

income HRERE 3,176 - 138,000 141,176

Financial assets at fair value through 3% 2 FF B 5t A 8 %
profit or loss HNErmEE 44,077 - - 44,077
47,253 - 138,000 185,253
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38.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2021

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

EMIANLXFERLIFERR
(%)
DNFEEBERE)

M2021F12A31H

Fair value measurement using
ERUTRANATESE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERBTS EXTHER ERFUBE
HRE WAHE BASE
(F-BHR) (E=BH) (B=BH) &gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET R ARBTR ARBTR
Equity investments designated at fair 8 & % & 4 ¥ E 7
value through other comprehensive A H i 2 [ U A
income HRERE 56,256 - 138,000 194,256
Financial assets at fair value through 1% 2 FF E 3 A 18 2%
profit or loss HEmEE 164,485 - - 164,485
220,741 - 138,000 358,741
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FREZBERATEFEZ2EBHUOT
during the year are as follows
2022 2021
2022 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®T AR®B T
Equity investments at fair value through other EEARRATFEFAHM
comprehensive income THBRANKRERE
At 1 January and 31 December M1A1BR12A831H 138,000 138,000

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial
assets (2021: Nil).

BE2022F12A3IBLFE -REREEM
E R EAESE_ERLTENEZBAL
BEB TEEARELE = EHKQ0215F:
)0

H
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, trade payables and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, which arise directly
from its operations. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. The Board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has currency exposures from its interest-bearing
other borrowings and exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the USD and HKD exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss or profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and
Group’s equity (due to translation of foreign operations)..
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39.

cHEREZERR R
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022

2022%F12H31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. ¢MARBEEBEERBEK(Z)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) o8 W B (£)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) in Increase/
in USD/HKD (loss)/profit (decrease) in
rate before tax equity*
x£3T/ F% 1R 2
BITEF (BiR) &% BE g8
£ (FB) /(R D) (i D) *
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR T AR®B T
2022 2022
If the RMB weakens against the USD MARBEETRME (5) 15,322 -
If the RMB strengthens against the USD HMARBEETHE 5 (15,322) -
If the RMB weakens against the HKD HMARBEBTIRME (5) - 1,384
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD HMARBLEBTHE 5 - (1,384)
2021 2021 %
If the RMB weakens against the USD HMARBERELRE (5) 14,345 -
If the RMB strengthens against the USD HMARBERELHE 5 (14,345) -
If the RMB weakens against the HKD HMARBEEBELRE (5) - 872
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD HMARBLEEBETHE 5 - (872)
* Excluding retained profits * TEEREBERN
Credit risk EE AR
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEEBEEANZEEERFNE=ZFRG -

third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the
Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval
of the Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial
guarantee contracts.

REAEENRE EANESEXSERKE
FEHMNEFPUEARSEERERF LI
R RERERFEER - RYFUAE
REBNUNEERFTENREIMS MARE

FEERTENRERE FEETERMH
FEH-
EERBRERER

TREFRIZASIBRBAEBEFEERE (X
EERBEIPEN BRIEMEEEES
ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ$j%bTﬂTﬁmmﬁﬁfi
EEEFEERABUREFEABERI R -T2
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%@&%ﬁ%ﬁén
NEERBEAE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. eMEARETEAHRRBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) EERBRELREEZ)
As at 31 December 2022 ®2022%12A31H

Lifetime ECLs

RHFAMERER

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1RB 2R R K] i1k 55 & #at

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®BTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Contract assets* EREE" - - - 1,092,610 1,092,610
Trade receivables* g5 EkRZE" - - - 613,178 613,178
Financial assets included sFATEA RE

in prepayments, other Hfth FE W R IE

receivables and other REMEEN

assets eRMEE

— Normal** —EE* 192,631 - - - 192,631

— Doubtful** —m B - 15,006 7,500 - 22,506
Pledged deposits EERER

- Not yet past due — & 7k 38 HA 402,796 - - - 402,796
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEY

- Not yet past due — 1 7 1 HR 222,976 - - - 222,976
Guarantees in respect of MASEEWEN

mortgage facilities for ETERMN

certain purchasers of the RIBRERMS

Group’s properties ER

— Not yet past due — % k@ 1,729,913 - - - 1,729,913
Total Faol 2,548,316 15,006 7,500 1,705,788 4,276,610
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2021

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

39. PREARETEEZARRBE(E)

BRERBRERER(E)
®20214 128318

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 78 &
FEEFE 2HEHREERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1R R FE2MER FE3MER &1 5 3 @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®FT T ARBTRT ARE®ETR ARB®TR AR®BTR
Contract assets* EREE" - - - 1,369,789 1,369,789
Trade receivables* S rWHRE" - - - 742,844 742,844
Financial assets included sFATEA RE
in prepayments, other Hih gl RER
receivables and other HMWEEN
assets eMEE
— Normal** —EE* 169,659 - - - 169,659
— Doubtful** — T\ B - 17,540 7,500 - 25,040
Pledged deposits EERER
- Not yet past due — & ok 38 HA 223,288 - - - 223,288
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEEY
- Not yet past due — 18 oK i HA 248,749 - - - 248,749
Guarantees in respect of MAEEWEN
mortgage facilities for ETERN
certain purchasers of the RIBMERM
Group’s properties ER
— Not yet past due — ¥ K8 R 1,380,305 - - - 1,380,305
Total Fas 2,022,001 17,540 7,500 2,112,633 4,159,674
* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group * MAEEEAREBILEENE S EERRE
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information REREEMS ERBBEENERNDS
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 20 and 21 Bl ERGETBERERMT20Kk21 -
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
> The credit quality of the financial assets included in * EfAEARE HEttEWREBEREMGEE

prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

MEMEETLRAYN BEHMEERNRBEH
EERAVMARIALEEARAEEN HE
EEERBRAIER]-BR EMEENRE
BEEZWARIAEE]

202255  HERXREEBRABRAE

283



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty, by geographical region and by industry sector.
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables
are widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations to
meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability to
obtain external financing to meet its committed future capital
expenditure. As further described in the going concern basis
contained in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors consider that the Group will be able to maintain
sufficient financial resources to meet its operation needs.
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39.

AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand or
no fixed terms

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%F12H31H

eHEARETEEERRBE(E)

wEE R R ()

FEBREHEHMREGAREBENIKRTE
NMERBEENIHBEROT

of repayments  Within one year Over one year Total
BERL
EEEHREE -5 —FNE # &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARR TR AR® TR AER®TR
Guarantees in respect of REBREER
mortgage facilities 1,729,913 - - 1,729,913
Trade payables BSEMARE - 1,762,454 - 1,762,454
Financial liabilities included in SFAHMESRER
other payables and accruals EERKN
TRER 884,897 - - 884,897
Interest-bearing bank and other st BT R &R
borrowings (excluding lease (TEFRE8HE)
liabilities) - 675,315 277,742 953,057
2,614,810 2,437,769 277,742 5,330,321
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. ¢eMEARBREEBEERBEK(Z)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESRE(E)
2021
20215

On demand or
no fixed terms of

repayments Within one year Over one year Total
BEEEHREE —FR —FHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT R ARE TR ARBT R
Guarantees in respect of ZEmEER
mortgage facilities 1,380,305 = = 1,380,305
Trade payables E5ENNE - 2,228,185 - 2,228,185
Financial liabilities included in SFAEMESRER
other payables and accruals EFERDN
SHERF 797,481 - - 797,481
Interest-bearing bank and other st B R 1T Rk H A & &
borrowings (excluding lease (TEFEHEAE)
liabilities) - 484,348 355,279 839,627
2,177,786 2,712,533 355,279 5,245,598
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. 2RMEABREREERBE(Z)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management BEER
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management AREBEEBEEANBEEREEAREAERE
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EREMNEE D ULRHEERE2EARNLERUX
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to HEEBREZERREBEEZ K-
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes AEFEEBEHEEARAERE URBEBLER RS
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions tRIEBEEVNRERERIEHAZ . HE
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To FABREARE AEBAEAZRDREX
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust fHRE OREEEERAFRITHFRMD - &
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to EEBEETTEANBEMNVEREE - B
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to Z2022F R2021FE12A31BLEE EHE
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were AHEE BEIBEHEEREETAEH o
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net NREBFHREEEBER(R FTEERULSR
debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt BEANFBFERSAE)ELEXR - ZFEHKEHE
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade FERTREMER EFZESREBEURHA
payables and other payables and accruals, less cash and HWENKERESEARESRESEEY -
cash equivalents. Capital represents the equity attributable to EXEBLPABEEAEEREZ RIK/EHP K
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the NWEEBBELERNT:
reporting periods were as follows:
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022 12H31H 2021%12H831H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR TR
Trade payables B 5 EMARE 1,762,454 2,228,185
Other payables and accruals HihENHEREGTER 2,219,099 2,118,161
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTEBITREMMER 904,238 795,707
Less: cash and cash equivalents B oBEERBEESEEY 222,976 248,749
Net debt FEHK 4,662,815 4,893,304
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAREEAEMLERZ 1,000,055 1,345,790
Capital and net debt ERARFEY 5,662,870 6,239,094
Gearing ratio EEEBHE 82% 78%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F5ER R P oE

31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 40.

As at the report date, US$44,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB305,139,000) of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings was due on 6 February 2023. The relevant
agreement clauses for extension of 12 months are in process.

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41.
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BEMESER
RBEHAE FERTRAM

& ;R W

44,000,000 7t (48 E M A K #305,139,0007T)
2 R2023F2R6HE M- EHRER T =@ R

MEBI R IRARERR P

FLFMMBRREE

ARARBEMRNABRREEHOT -

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAERN
profit or loss SREE 44,077 163,550
Investment in subsidiaries RBLAINERE 103,850 95,053
Right-of-use assets FREEE 761 1,523
Total non-current assets ERBEEHLE 148,688 260,126
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, other receivables and BARE -HttEWRER
other assets HEMEE 529,264 478,259
Pledged deposits EEHEX 1,673 606
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkHAESLEEY 1 144
Total current assets REBEEHLE 530,938 479,009
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals HitENSRERESER 123,030 129,341
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHAMER 305,138 285,707
Lease liabilities HEaRE 716 746
Total current liabilities REEEHALE 428,884 415,794
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 ER R P oE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41. TLFWMHBMBRAK(E)
COMPANY (continued)

2022 2021
2022 5 20215
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTTR AR T
NET CURRENT ASSETS ABEEFE 102,054 63,215
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABERE 250,742 323,341
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE - 783
Total non-current liabilities IRBEELE - 783
Net assets EEFHE 250,742 322,558
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent B XATFIEEAELES
Share capital [N 7,281 7,281
Reserves (note) 2% 48 (Bt &%) 243,461 315,277
Total equity KRR 250,742 322,558
Wang Xinling Li Yaruixin
EHmB FETEE
Director Director
EE EE
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31 December 2022
20225 12H31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41. TLFHMBRRERE)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: By aE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARAMFEEMEOT
Shares held
Exchange for share
Capital fluctuation award Other Retained
reserve reserve scheme reserves profits Total
AR
ERKE ZBHra
N B HENRSG Hib ik REEF @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥Tn AR®TR AR%BTR AR¥Tn AR%Tn
At 1 January 2021 ®W202151A1H 418,947 (24,668) (48,517) 894 55,104 401,760
Loss for the year EFRE#E - - - - (75,435) (75,435)
Exchange differences related SN EXKEEH
to foreign operations ERES - (11,048) - - - (11,048)

Total comprehensive income FRE2EWALE
for the year - (11,048) - - (75,435) (86,483)

As at 31 December 2021 R2021512A8318 418,947 (35,716) (48,517) 894 (20,331) 315,277

Shares held

Exchange for share
Capital fluctuation award Other Retained
reserve reserve scheme reserves profits

140

- HE )
REGEM ERRDEM BRENRG Bt 6 6 RERN 3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTR AEBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

At 1 January 2022 #2022%181R 418,947 (35,716) (48,517) 894 (20,331) 315,277
Loss for the year EREE - - - - (158,913) (158,913)
Exchange differences related to BEENEBEEN

foreign operations ELER - 23,981 - - - 23,981
Total comprehensive income FR2EAWALE

for the year - 23,981 - - (158,913) (134,932)
Shares granted under share RERGERE

award scheme RENR B 14,599 - 48,517 (894) 894 63,116
As at 31 December 2022 R2022E12 B31H 433,546 (11,735) - - (178,350) 243,461
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31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 42, FEMBBRZHME

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and mAan R EDHR023EIFBAEEER
authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 23 March R S RE T B o

2023.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMBGERER

HEBEAMEBERMBRRNAEEBEREY
BEENXE EEREEHERINT -

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements is set out below.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY TFHERE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 2021 % 2020 % 2019 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N ALl \EETT ARBTRT AR®TR ARBTR
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BREBER
REVENUE U &= 1,923,869 2,899,541 3,369,341 2,660,037 1,601,739
Cost of sales & R A (1,809,157) (2,655,907) (2,741,242) (1,977,617) (1,411,815)
Gross profit % F 114,712 243,634 628,099 686,420 189,924
Other income and gains H i A R U&= (97,784) 16,113 26,537 13,786 16,920
Selling and distribution expenses $5& R 2 85 X (1,277) (3,559) (1,172) (3,220) (5,629)
Administrative expenses THR X (65,879) (62,875) (55,678) (78,038) (42,522)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of ERMEEREECH

impairment loss on financial EEE)RES

and contract assets, net BEEFHE (162,681) (46,326) (40,132) (24,274) 10,625
Fair value (loss)/gain on REVMENRFEE

investment properties (F518) & (72,379) - (700) 4,700 19,400
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial &2 F{E AEH

assets through profit or loss WEeRmEEQF

& (18R, (7,378) (36,824) 22,276 (910) -
Other expenses Himx (2,560) (3,378) (1,252) (2,673) (1,998)
Finance costs A& R A (70,866) (57,989) (87,679) (21,788) (5,050)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE SEREXEBMB

TAX FROM CONTINUING BB AT (B548),

OPERATIONS & (366,092) 48,796 540,299 570,003 181,670
Income tax expense Fr 8% B X 18,746 (6,088)  (208,628)  (252,231) (72,036)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR SHEREEKMB

CONTINUING OPERATIONS FR(FE) 5T (347,346) 41,808 331,671 317,772 109,634
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ERLEBERET
Loss for the year from AR IEREEKR

discontinued operations BERNEE - - - (62) (1,427)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £ X (f518) /% 7l (347,346) 41,808 331,671 317,710 108,207
Attributable to: BT AT

Owners of the parent BRAEEA (347,346) 41,808 331,671 317,710 108,207
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMEGRER

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RERAR

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 2021 F 2020 F 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N Al A BT AR¥TT AR¥ TR AR T

TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,273,820 6,937,384 6,460,620 6,122,610 6,358,863

TOTAL LIABILITIES BeE 5,273,765 5,591,594 5,144,735 5,035,824 4,679,942
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DEFINITIONS
=S

“Annual General Meeting”
RRBFARE]

“Annual Report”

[ %5 |

“Articles” or “Articles of

Association”
(4B K4 & ZE=4A8 ]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

=N

“Chairman of the Board”
[EEREE]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

“Company” or “we”

(227815

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ B R R

“Corporate Governance Code”
&% <8

“Director(s)”
==-4

“GFA”
[ 52 [ 7R

“Group” or “our Group”
[ & E ]

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at the Company’s conference room
in Baoxin International Building, No. 33, Guanyun East Road, Zhuozhou, Hebei Province, the
PRC on May 25, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. and any adjournment thereof

RNABERTR2023F5 825 EAORERFETLEFMN DT EERBIBFREAHRAE
ARAREREETRRBEASREEMNES

the 2022 Annual Report of the Company
XD T 2022 F F 3]

the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company (as amended from time to
time)
ARARMEBERAARERMA(RTRKEET)

the board of Directors of the Company
KABEER

the chairman of the Board of the Company
RXABREERER

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this Annual Report and for
geographical reference only (unless otherwise indicated), excluding Hong Kong, Macau
Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

FEARLANE ERAFERREBLEME - REFERIN TEEEE - BRMBITHRE

RaE

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (B X R &E B % R B R 2 ), an
exempted company incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 16,
2018, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1427)

FEXREBZERERLAT —HR2018F11B16HEHERETMRINERREBR A
B HEROMBERAERLS (RO ANR - 1427)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
EREETRUFAETHRE

the corporate governance code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
T AR BB 8+ P R 2B R <P A

director(s) of the Company
KARESE

gross floor area
BEEE

the Company and its subsidiaries
AABREKELDE
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“HK$” or “HK dollars”
[t

“Hong Kong”
(&%)

“Huailai Tianbao Property
Development”

[ME R KRR b 2 5 3

“IFRSs”

[ &% B 7% 3R & 22 Al

“Listing Date”

[ B

“Listing Rules”

[ 55 Bl

“Model Code”

¥

r

T

% 25 A |

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
AR

“Reporting Period” or “Year”

MREBIRIRFE]

“SEQ”

[ % &M E RG]

“Shareholder(s)”
[B% R

DEFINITIONS
s

Hong Kong dollars and Hong Kong cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
ERCEEER DR AEBITRBAL

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HFEEBRETHE

Huailai Tianbao Property Development Company Limited (2R X R E b E B 2% B R 2
Al), a limited liability company established in China on August 23, 2016 and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

ERAGEHWERZERAA ) —BER2016F8AHEFEBA LN EBERAAREARAN
BEZEWB LA

International Financial Reporting Standards, which include standards and interpretations
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board and the International
Accounting Standards and interpretation issued by the International Accounting Standards
Committee

BEREERELED EEER ST A ESERANENRREBURER ST EAIZES
BHWERESHENRZE

November 11, 2019, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and from which
dealings in the Shares were permitted to commence on the Stock Exchange
2019F 1M A11H RORBIFALTHESR IYBHAHE ROEERBEXMBEKRES

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
as amended from time to time
ERBERSMBRLABISFLHHRE BFRBIT

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules
EFTRAMBETAEN ETRTAESETESIZNEESTA

W

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR HEEEE

for the year ended December 31, 2022
B ZEZ2022F 12831 HIEFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EBEANESNEZTSRBERA BFKEFT B UEM T X B K

holder(s) of Shares
BOFEEA
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DEFINITIONS
=S

“Shares”
MR 17 ]

“sq. m.”
[ 75 % |

“Stock Exchange”
[k 3 |

y

“Tianbao Construction Group’

[RREREE]

“Tianbao Real Estate Group”

[(RREHESEE]

“Yuxian Tianbao Property
Development”

[F % KR 5 it &= B 3¢

“Zhuozhou Tianbao
Construction”
HEMRARBREEZA

“gp”
[%]

ordinary shares of nominal value HK$0.01 each of the Company
AAFEREEIOIEBEINZTER

square meters

F 5K

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERZHERLDA

Tianbao Construction Group Company Limited (KR 2R EBEH R 2 7)), a limited liability
company established in China on March 18, 1998 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company
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Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (X% & it &= & B A& R 2 7) (formerly known as Tianbao
Property Development Company Limited (X & & #: = B 8 & R 2 7)), a limited liability
company established in China on May 10, 2001 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
our Company, with its name changed to “Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.” (X% & #ti &
£ B AR 2 7)) on April 21, 2020
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Yuxian Tianbao Property Development Company Limited (B % X R EHEMEER L F), a
limited liability company established in China on June 30, 2017 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company
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Zhuozhou Tianbao Construction Co., Ltd. (KM X {R 2 £ 88 R B R A &), a limited liability
company established in China on November 1, 2005 and owned as to 70% by Mr. Li Baotian
and 30% by Baoxin Industrial Co., Ltd.
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